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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
The year 2012 marked a decade of transition. During that time we worked together to change our 
business from a high-cost legacy airline to a vibrant, energetic, and successful company focused on our 
future. It has been a remarkable journey – one that I am honored to have been a part of.  Last year also 
marked the end of my tenure as the CEO and the beginning of a new chapter under the leadership of 
Brad Tilden. I have invited Brad to share his thoughts on the year and where we’re headed.

Sincerely,

Bill Ayer
Chairman

2012 was a good year for Alaska Air Group. We reported record adjusted profits and 
our ninth consecutive year of adjusted earnings. We carried more passengers than 
we ever have, and we now fly to more destinations than at any time in our history. 
The Company has grown from a small bush airline flying in the state of Alaska to 
a large national carrier serving over 90 destinations in the United States, Mexico 
and Canada. With growth comes responsibility. And we are working hard to ensure 

we continue to provide excellent service for our customers, good careers for our employees, and solid 
returns for our investors.   

In 2012, we received our fifth consecutive J.D. Power and Associates Award for “Highest in Customer 
Satisfaction Among Traditional Network Carriers in North America.”* At Alaska Air Group, we hired over 
1,200 new employees, and we paid out more than $88 million in bonuses. And for our shareholders, we 
repurchased $60 million of our common stock and announced a new $250 million buyback program.   

We are not stopping here. As we close the books on another year, we begin 2013 with engaged employees 
that are working together better than ever. It’s no secret, though, that this is a tough industry. We’re 
looking to the future as we work on a host of initiatives that will sustain our performance and make 
Alaska a great business as well as a great airline.

In order to succeed, we need to execute on a solid plan for the future. We are entering the second year 
of a five-year strategic plan that we simply call our “Five Focus Areas.” This plan focuses on all key 
stakeholders – our employees, our customers and you, our shareholders. The Five Focus Areas are laid 
out in the following pages. I’d like to invite you to take a journey with us as we highlight some of the 
accomplishments of 2012 and share our vision of the future.

Sincerely,

Brad Tilden
Chief Executive Officer

*Alaska Airlines received the highest numerical score among seven traditional network airline carriers (tied in 2008)in the proprietary J.D. Power and 
Associates 2008–2012 North America Airline Satisfaction StudiesSM. 2012 study based on responses from 13,763 passengers who flew on a major North 
American airline between May 2011 and April 2012. Proprietary study results are based on experiences and perceptions of consumers surveyed July 
2011–April 2012. Your experiences may vary. Visit jdpower.com.
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“The Company has grown 

from a small bush airline flying 

in the state of Alaska 

to a large national carrier.”



UNWAVERING  
COMMITMENT TO SAFETY 
AND COMPLIANCE

Safety and compliance are the foundation of everything we do.

We have an unwavering commitment to safety and compliance, 

and we will not compromise this commitment in the pursuit 

of other initiatives.
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“Safety and compliance 

are the foundation 

of everything we do.”



PEOPLE FOCUS

While airplanes and technology enable us to do what  we do, 

we recognize that this is fundamentally a people business, and 

our future depends on how we work together to win in this 

extremely competitive environment. As we grow, we want to 

strengthen our small company feel while also providing people 

of all backgrounds equal access to opportunities based on 

individual abilities and performance.

 
We will succeed where others fail because of our pride and 

passion, and because of the way we treat our customers, our 

suppliers and partners, and each other.
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“We recognize that this is 

fundamentally a people business, 

and our future depends on how 

we work together.”



7

HASSLE-FREE 
CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

We cultivate loyal customer relationships by offering an intuitive 

and trouble-free experience at all touch-points that is enabled 

by industry-leading technology and by reliable and best-in-class 

customer service.
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“We cultivate loyal 

customer relationships by 

offering an intuitive and 

trouble-free experience.”
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ENERGETIC AND 
COMPELLING BRAND

We will create a deeper emotional connection between our brand, 

our people, our customers and our communities. 

We will position our brand as friendly, genuine, and relevant to 

a changing customer profile, and we will use our brand and 

our technology to develop a more direct relationship with our 

customers. We will position Alaska as the industry leader in 

environmental stewardship.
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“We will use our brand and our 

technology to develop a more direct 

relationship with our customers.”
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LOW FARES, LOW COSTS 
AND NETWORK GROWTH

We will become known for our low fares and high value in order 

to broaden our appeal, reduce our vulnerability to low-cost 

carriers, and fuel growth. We will fund low fares by relentlessly 

pursuing simplicity, low overhead and high productivity. 

We will establish ourselves as the preferred airline for all travelers 

living on the West Coast by defending and growing Alaska and 

the Pacific Northwest, and by growing Hawaii and  California. 

We are targeting 4% to 8% annual growth for the Alaska mainline 

operation, assuming acceptable profitability.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

P.O. Box 68947
Seattle, Washington 98168

To our Stockholders:

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of
Alaska Air Group, Inc. (the “Annual
Meeting”) will be held in the Bay Auditorium
on the third floor of the Bell Harbor
International Conference Center at
2211 Alaskan Way, Pier 66, in Seattle,
Washington at 2 p.m. on Tuesday, May 21,
2013, for the following purposes:

1. To elect to the Board of Directors the
eleven nominees named in this Proxy
Statement, each for a one-year term;

2. To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP
as the Company’s independent
registered public accountants (the
“independent accountants”) for fiscal
year 2013;

3. To seek an advisory vote to approve the
compensation of the Company’s Named
Executive Officers;

4. To consider a stockholder proposal
regarding limiting acceleration of
executive equity in connection with a
change of control; and

5. To transact such other business as may
properly come before the meeting or
any postponement or adjournment
thereof.

Alaska Air Group stockholders are invited to
attend the Annual Meeting. Stockholders

owning Company common stock at the close
of business on March 22, 2013, are entitled
to receive this notice and to vote at the
meeting. All stockholders are requested to
be present in person or by proxy. Whether or
not you attend the meeting in person, we
encourage you to vote by Internet or phone
or to complete, sign and return your proxy
prior to the meeting.

Because the majority of our stockholders
may not be able to attend in person, we
invite you to submit any questions you
may have that would be of general
interest to all stockholders via email at
Corporate.Secretary@alaskaair.com. We
will include as many of your questions as
possible during the Q&A session of the
meeting and send you a copy of the
response.

Every stockholder vote is important. To
ensure your vote is counted at the Annual
Meeting, please vote as promptly as
possible.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Keith Loveless
Corporate Secretary and General Counsel

April 4, 2013

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY
MATERIALS FOR THE STOCKHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD ON MAY 21, 2013.

Stockholders may access, view and download the 2013 Proxy Statement and 2012 Annual Report at
www.edocumentview.com/alk.

Š
P

ro
xy





GENERAL INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING INFORMATION

The Board of Directors of Alaska Air Group,
Inc. (“Air Group” or the “Company”) is
soliciting proxies for the 2013 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. This Proxy
Statement contains important information
for you to consider when deciding how to
vote on the matters brought before the
meeting. Please read it carefully.

The Board set March 22, 2013, as the
record date for the meeting. Stockholders
who owned Company common stock on that
date are entitled to vote at the meeting, with
each share entitled to one vote. There were
70,616,103 shares of Company common
stock outstanding on the record date.

Internet Availability of Annual Meeting
Materials

On or about April 4, 2013, stockholders of
record, beneficial owners and a majority of
employee participants in the Company’s
401(k) Plans were mailed a Notice of
Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the

“Notice”) directing them to a website where
they can access our 2013 Proxy Statement
and 2012 Annual Report (the “Annual
Meeting Materials”). Others were mailed
hard copies of the Annual Meeting
Materials, including a voting instruction
form, on the same date. The Company’s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2012, is included in the 2012 Annual
Report. It was filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on
February 14, 2013.

If you received the Notice and would like to
receive a paper copy of the proxy materials,
please follow the instructions printed on the
Notice and the material will be mailed to
you.

All stockholders may access, view and
download the Annual Meeting Materials on
the Internet at www.edocumentview.com/alk.
Other information on the website does not
constitute part of this Proxy Statement.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING

Why am I receiving this Annual Meeting
information and proxy?

You are receiving this annual meeting
information and proxy from us because you
owned shares of common stock in Alaska
Air Group as of the record date for the
Annual Meeting. This Proxy Statement
describes issues on which you may vote and
provides you with other important
information so that you can make informed
decisions.

You may own shares of Alaska Air Group
common stock in several different ways. If
your stock is represented by one or more

stock certificates registered in your name or
if you have a Direct Registration Service
(DRS) advice evidencing shares held in book
entry form, then you have a stockholder
account with our transfer agent,
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
(Computershare), and you are a stockholder
of record. If you hold your shares in a
brokerage, trust, or similar account, then
you are the beneficial owner but not the
stockholder of record of those shares.
Employees of the Company who hold shares
of stock in one or more of the Company’s
401(k) retirement plans are beneficial
owners.

Š
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GENERAL INFORMATION

What am I voting on?

You are being asked to vote on the election
of the eleven director nominees named in
this Proxy Statement, to ratify the
appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company’s
independent accountants, to provide an
advisory vote in regard to the compensation
of the Company’s Named Executive Officers,
and to vote on a stockholder proposal
regarding limiting acceleration of executive
equity in connection with a change of
control. When you sign and mail the proxy
card or submit your proxy by phone or the
Internet, you appoint each of Bradley D.
Tilden and Keith Loveless, or their
respective substitutes or nominees, as your
representatives at the meeting. (When we
refer to the “named proxies,” we are
referring to Messrs. Tilden and Loveless.)
This way, your shares will be voted even if
you cannot attend the meeting.

How does the Board of Directors
recommend I vote on each of the
proposals?

• FOR the election of each of the Board’s
eleven director nominees named in this
Proxy Statement;

• FOR the ratification of the appointment of
KPMG LLP as the Company’s
independent accountants for fiscal 2013;

• FOR the ratification of the compensation
of the Company’s Named Executive
Officers; and

• AGAINST the stockholder proposal
regarding limiting acceleration of
executive equity in connection with a
change of control.

How do I vote my shares?

Stockholders of record can vote by using the
proxy card or by phone or the Internet.

Beneficial owners whose stock is held:

• in a brokerage account can vote by using
the voting instruction form provided by
the broker or by phone or the Internet.

• by a bank, and who have the power to
vote or to direct the voting of the shares,
can vote using the proxy or the voting
information form provided by the bank or,
if made available by the bank, by phone
or the Internet.

• in trust under an arrangement that
provides the beneficial owner with the
power to vote or to direct the voting of
the shares can vote in accordance with
the provisions of such arrangement.

• in trust in one of the Company’s 401(k)
retirement plans can vote using the
voting instruction form provided by the
trustee.

Beneficial owners, other than persons who
beneficially own shares held in trust in one
of the Company’s 401(k) retirement plans,
can vote at the meeting provided that he or
she obtains a “legal proxy” from the person
or entity holding the stock for him or her
(typically a broker, bank, or trustee). A
beneficial owner can obtain a legal proxy by
making a request to the broker, bank, or
trustee. Under a legal proxy, the bank,
broker, or trustee confers all of its rights as
a record holder to grant proxies or to vote at
the meeting.

Listed below are the various means —
Internet, phone and mail — you can use to
vote your shares without attending the
Annual Meeting.

You can vote on the Internet.

Stockholders of record and beneficial
owners of the Company’s common stock
can vote via the Internet regardless of

2



GENERAL INFORMATION

whether they receive their annual meeting
materials through the mail or via the
Internet. Instructions for voting are provided
along with your proxy card or voting
instruction form. If you vote on the Internet,
please do not mail your proxy card (unless
you intend for it to revoke your prior Internet
vote). Your Internet vote will authorize the
named proxies to vote your shares in the
same manner as if you marked, signed and
returned your proxy card.

You can vote by phone.

Stockholders of record and beneficial
owners of the Company’s common stock
can vote by phone. Instructions are provided
along with your proxy card or voting
instruction form. If you vote by phone, do not
mail your proxy card (unless you intend for it
to revoke your prior vote submitted by
phone). Your vote by phone will authorize
the named proxies to vote your shares in the
same manner as if you marked, signed and
returned your proxy card.

You can vote by mail.

Simply sign and date the proxy card or voting
instruction form received with this Proxy
Statement and mail it in the enclosed
prepaid and addressed envelope. If you
mark your choices on the card or voting
instruction form, your shares will be voted
as you instruct.

The availability of phone and Internet voting.

Internet and telephone voting facilities for
stockholders of record and beneficial owners
will be available 24 hours a day and will
close at 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on
Monday, May 20, 2013. To allow sufficient
time for voting by the trustee, voting
instructions for 401(k) plan shares must be
received no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern
Time on Thursday, May 16, 2013.

Voting by the Internet or phone is fast and
convenient and your vote is immediately
confirmed and tabulated. By using the
Internet or phone to vote, you help Alaska
Air Group conserve natural resources and
reduce postage and proxy tabulation costs.

How will my shares be voted if I return a
blank proxy or voting instruction form?

If you sign and return a proxy card without
giving specific voting instructions, your
shares will be voted in accordance with the
recommendations of the Board of Directors
shown above and as the named proxies may
determine in their discretion with respect to
any other matters properly presented for a
vote during the meeting or any
postponement or adjournment of the
meeting.

If my shares are held in a brokerage
account, how will my shares be voted if I
do not return voting instructions to my
broker?

If you hold your shares in street name
through a brokerage account and you do not
submit voting instructions to your broker,
your broker may generally vote your shares
in its discretion on matters designated as
routine under the rules of the New York
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). However, a broker
cannot vote shares held in street name on
matters designated as non-routine by the
NYSE, unless the broker receives voting
instructions from the street name
(beneficial) owner. The proposal to ratify the
appointment of the Company’s independent
accountants for fiscal year 2013 is
considered routine under NYSE rules. Each
of the other items to be submitted for a vote
is considered non-routine under applicable
NYSE rules. Accordingly, if you hold your
shares in street name through a brokerage
account and you do not submit voting

Š
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instructions to your broker, your broker may
exercise its discretion to vote your shares
on the proposal to ratify the appointment of
the Company’s independent accountants but
will not be permitted to vote your shares on
any of the other items. If your broker
exercises this discretion, your shares will be
counted as present for the purpose of
determining a quorum at the Annual Meeting
and will be voted on the proposal to ratify
the Company’s independent accountants in
the manner instructed by your broker, but
your shares will constitute “broker non-
votes” on each of the other items at the
Annual Meeting. For a description of the
effect of broker non-votes on the proposals,
see “How many votes must the nominees
have to be elected?” and “Not including the
election of directors, how many votes must
the proposals receive in order to pass?”

What other business may be properly
brought before the meeting, and what
discretionary authority is granted?

Under the Company’s Bylaws, as amended
April 30, 2010, a stockholder may bring
business before the meeting or for
publication in the Company’s 2013 Proxy
Statement only if the stockholder gave
written notice to the Company on or before
December 6, 2012, and complied with the
other requirements included in Article II of
the Company’s Bylaws.

The Company has not received valid notice
that any business other than that described
or referenced in this Proxy Statement will be
brought before the meeting.

As to any other matters that may properly
come before the meeting and are not on the
proxy card, the proxy grants to Messrs. Tilden
and Loveless the authority to vote in their
discretion the shares for which they hold
proxies.

What does it mean if I receive more than
one proxy card, voting instruction form or
email notification from the Company?

It means that you have more than one
account for your Alaska Air Group shares.
Please complete and submit all proxies to
ensure that all your shares are voted or vote
by Internet or phone using each of the
identification numbers.

What if I change my mind after I submit my
proxy?

Stockholders, except for persons who
beneficially own shares held in trust in one
of the Company’s 401(k) retirement plans,
may revoke a proxy and change a vote by
delivering a later-dated proxy or by voting at
the meeting. The later-dated proxy may be
delivered by phone, Internet or mail and
need not be delivered by the same means
used in delivering the prior proxy
submission.

Except for persons beneficially owning
shares in one of the Company’s 401(k)
retirement plans, stockholders may do this
at a later date or time by:

• voting by phone or the Internet before
11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on Monday,
May 20, 2013 (your latest phone or
Internet proxy will be counted);

• signing and delivering a proxy card with a
later date; or

• voting at the meeting. (If you hold your
shares beneficially through a broker, you
must bring a legal proxy from the broker
in order to vote at the meeting. Please
also note that attendance at the meeting,
in and of itself, without voting in person
at the meeting, will not cause your
previously granted proxy to be revoked.)
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Persons beneficially owning shares in one of
the Company’s 401(k) retirement plans
cannot vote in person at the meeting and
must vote in accordance with instructions
from the trustees. Subject to these
qualifications, such holders have the same
rights as other record and beneficial owners
to change their votes by phone or the
Internet, however, in all cases your vote
must be submitted by 11:59 p.m. Eastern
Time on Thursday, May 16, 2013.

Stockholders of record can obtain a new
proxy card by contacting the Company’s
Corporate Secretary, Alaska Air Group, Inc.,
P.O. Box 68947, Seattle, WA 98168,
telephone (206) 392-5131.

Stockholders with shares held by a broker,
trustee or bank can obtain a new voting
instruction form by contacting your broker,
trustee or bank.

Stockholders whose shares are held in one
of the Company’s 401(k) retirement plans
can obtain a new voting instruction form by
contacting the trustee of such plan. You can
obtain information about how to contact the
trustee from the Company’s Corporate
Secretary. Please refer to the section below
titled “How are shares voted that are held in
a Company 401(k) plan?” for more
information.

If you sign and date the proxy card or voting
instruction form and submit it in accordance
with the accompanying instructions and in a
timely manner, any earlier proxy card or
voting instruction form will be revoked and
your new choices will be voted.

How are shares voted that are held in a
Company 401(k) plan?

On the record date, 2,423,438 shares were
held in trust for Alaska Air Group 401(k) plan

participants. The trustees, Vanguard
Fiduciary Trust Company (Vanguard) and
Fidelity Management Trust Company
(Fidelity), provided instructions to each
participant who held shares through the
Company’s 401(k) plans on the record date.
Vanguard sent a Notice of Proxy and Access
Instructions to participants; Fidelity mailed
full sets of proxy materials. The trustees will
vote only those shares for which instructions
are received from participants. If a
participant does not indicate a preference
as to a matter, including the election of
directors, then the trustees will not vote the
participant’s shares on such matters.

To allow sufficient time for voting by the
trustee, please provide voting instructions
no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on
Thursday, May 16, 2013. Because the
shares must be voted by the trustee,
employees who hold shares through the
401(k) plans may not vote these shares at
the meeting.

Can I attend the Annual Meeting, and what
do I need for admission?

You are entitled to attend the Annual
Meeting if you were a stockholder of record
or a beneficial owner as of the close of
business on March 22, 2013, or you hold a
valid legal proxy for the Annual Meeting. If
you are a stockholder of record, your name
will be verified against the list of
stockholders of record prior to your being
admitted to the Annual Meeting. You should
be prepared to present photo identification
for admission. If you are a beneficial owner,
you will need to provide proof of beneficial
ownership on the record date, such as a
brokerage account statement showing that
you owned the Company’s stock as of the
record date, a copy of the voting instruction
form provided by your broker, bank or other

Š
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nominee, or other similar evidence of
ownership as of the record date, as well as
your photo identification, for admission. If
you do not provide photo identification or
comply with the other procedures outlined
above upon request, you may not be
admitted to the Annual Meeting.

May I vote in person at the meeting?

We will provide a ballot to any record holder
of our stock who requests one at the
meeting. If you hold your shares through a
broker, you must bring a legal proxy from
your broker in order to vote by ballot at the
meeting. You may request a legal proxy from
your broker to attend and vote your shares
at the meeting by marking your voting
instruction form or the Internet voting site to
which your voting materials direct you.
Please allow sufficient time to receive a
legal proxy through the mail after your broker
receives your request. Because shares held
by employees in the 401(k) plans must be
voted by the trustee, these shares may not
be voted at the meeting.

How can I reduce the number of annual
meeting materials I receive?

The Company is required to provide an
annual report and proxy statement to all
stockholders of record. If you have more
than one account in your name or at the
same address as other stockholders, the
Company or your broker may discontinue
mailings of multiple copies. If you have more
than one account and prefer to continue to
receive multiple copies, you may notify us at
the address and phone number at the end
of the following paragraph if you are a
stockholder of record or notify your broker if
you hold your shares in a brokerage
account.

Once you have received notice from your
broker or us that they or we will discontinue
sending multiple copies to the same
address, you will receive only one copy until
you are notified otherwise or until you revoke
your consent. If, at any time, you wish to
resume receiving separate proxy statements
or annual reports, or if you are receiving
multiple statements and reports and wish to
receive only one, please notify your broker if
your shares are held in a brokerage account
or us if you hold registered shares. You can
notify us by sending a written request to the
Company’s Corporate Secretary, Alaska Air
Group, Inc., P.O. Box 68947, Seattle, WA
98168, or by calling (206) 392-5131.

Can I receive future materials via the
Internet?

If you vote on the Internet, simply follow the
prompts for enrolling in electronic proxy
delivery service. This will reduce the
Company’s printing and postage costs, as
well as the number of paper documents you
will receive.

Stockholders of record may enroll in that
service at the time they vote their proxies or
at any time after the Annual Meeting and
can read additional information about this
option and request electronic delivery by
going to www.computershare.com/investor.
If you hold shares beneficially, please
contact your broker to enroll for electronic
proxy delivery.

At this time, employee participants in a
Company 401(k) plan may not elect to
receive notice and proxy materials via
electronic delivery.

If you already receive your proxy materials
via the Internet, you will continue to receive
them that way until you instruct otherwise
through the website referenced above.
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How many shares must be present to hold
the meeting?

A majority of the Company’s outstanding
shares entitled to vote as of the record
date, or 35,308,053 shares, must be
present or represented at the meeting and
entitled to vote in order to hold the meeting
and conduct business (i.e., to constitute a
quorum). Shares are counted as present or
represented at the meeting if the
stockholder of record attends the meeting; if
the beneficial owner attends with a “legal
proxy” from the record holder; or if the
record holder or beneficial owner has
submitted a proxy or voting instructions,
whether by returning a proxy card or voting
instructions or by phone or Internet, without
regard to whether the proxy or voting
instructions actually casts a vote or
withholds or abstains from voting.

How many votes must the nominees have
to be elected?

The Company’s Bylaws (as amended
April 30, 2010) require that each director be
elected annually by a majority of votes cast
with respect to that director. This means
that the number of votes “for” a director
must exceed the number of votes “against”
that director. In the event that a nominee for
director receives more “against” votes for
his or her election than “for” votes, the
Board must consider such director’s
resignation following a recommendation by
the Board’s Governance and Nominating
Committee. The majority voting standard
does not apply, however, in the event that
the number of nominees for director
exceeds the number of directors to be
elected. In such circumstances, directors
will instead be elected by a plurality of the
votes cast, meaning that the persons
receiving the highest number of “for” votes,
up to the total number of directors to be

elected at the Annual Meeting, will be
elected.

With regard to the election of directors, the
Board intends to nominate the eleven
persons identified as its nominees in this
Proxy Statement. Because the Company has
not received notice from any stockholder of
an intent to nominate directors at the
Annual Meeting, each of the directors must
be elected by a majority of votes cast.

“Abstain” votes and broker non-votes are
not treated as votes cast with respect to a
director and therefore will not be counted in
determining the outcome of the election of
directors.

What happens if a director candidate
nominated by the Board of Directors is
unable to stand for election?

The Board of Directors may reduce the
number of seats on the Board or it may
designate a substitute nominee. If the Board
designates a substitute, shares represented
by proxies held by the named proxies will be
voted for the substitute nominee.

Not including the election of directors, how
many votes must the proposals receive in
order to pass?

Ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP
as the Company’s independent accountants

A majority of the shares present in person or
by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote
on the proposal must be voted “for” the
proposal in order for it to pass. “Abstain”
votes are deemed present and entitled to
vote and are included for purposes of
determining the number of shares
constituting a majority of shares present and
entitled to vote. Accordingly, an abstention,
because it is not a vote “for” will have the
effect of a negative vote.

Š
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Advisory vote regarding the compensation of
the Company’s Named Executive Officers

A majority of the shares present in person or
by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote
on the proposal must be voted “for” the
proposal in order for it to pass. “Abstain”
votes are deemed present and entitled to
vote and are included for purposes of
determining the number of shares
constituting a majority of shares present and
entitled to vote. Accordingly, an abstention,
because it is not a vote “for” will have the
effect of a negative vote. In addition, broker
non-votes are not considered entitled to vote
for purposes of determining whether the
proposal has been approved by stockholders
and therefore will not be counted in
determining the outcome of the vote on the
proposal.

Stockholder proposal regarding limiting
acceleration of executive equity in
connection with a change of control

A majority of the shares present in person or
by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote
on the proposals must be voted “for” the
proposal in order for it to pass. “Abstain”
votes are deemed present and entitled to
vote and are included for purposes of
determining the number of shares
constituting a majority of shares present and
entitled to vote. Accordingly, an abstention,
because it is not a vote “for” will have the
effect of a negative vote. In addition, broker
non-votes are not considered entitled to vote
for purposes of determining whether the
proposal has been approved by stockholders
and, therefore, will not be counted in
determining the outcome of the vote on the
proposal.

How are votes counted?

Voting results will be tabulated by
Computershare. Computershare will also
serve as the independent inspector of
election.

Is my vote confidential?

The Company has a confidential voting
policy as a part of its governance guidelines,
which are published on the Company’s
website.

Who pays the costs of proxy solicitation?

The Company pays for distributing and
soliciting proxies and reimburses brokers,
nominees, fiduciaries and other custodians
their reasonable fees and expenses in
forwarding proxy materials to beneficial
owners. The Company has engaged
Georgeson Inc. (“Georgeson”) to assist in
the solicitation of proxies for the meeting. It
is intended that proxies will be solicited by
the following means: additional mailings,
personal interview, mail, phone and
electronic means. Although no precise
estimate can be made at this time, we
anticipate that the aggregate amount we will
spend in connection with the solicitation of
proxies will be approximately $21,500. To
date, $16,500 has been incurred. This
amount includes fees payable to Georgeson,
but excludes salaries and expenses of our
officers, directors and employees.

Is a list of stockholders entitled to vote at
the Annual Meeting available?

A list of stockholders of record entitled to
vote at the 2013 Annual Meeting will be
available at the meeting. It will also be
available Monday through Friday from
April 4, 2013, through May 10, 2013,
between the hours of 9 a.m. and 4 p.m.,
local time, at the offices of the Corporate
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Secretary, 19300 International Blvd.,
Seattle, WA 98188. A stockholder of record
may examine the list for any legally valid
purpose related to the Annual Meeting.

Where can I find the voting results of the
Annual Meeting?

We will publish the voting results on
Form 8-K on or about May 24, 2013. You
can read or print a copy of that report by
going to the Company’s website —
www.alaskaair.com/company, and then
selecting Investor Information, and
SEC Filings. You can read or print a copy by
going directly to the SEC EDGAR files at
www.sec.gov. You can also request a copy
by calling us at (206) 392-5131, or by
calling the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for the
location of a public reference room.

How can I submit a proposal for next year’s
annual meeting?

The Company expects to hold its next
annual meeting on or about May 20, 2014.
If you wish to submit a proposal for inclusion
in the proxy materials for that meeting, you

must send the proposal to the Corporate
Secretary at the address below. The
proposal must be received at the Company’s
executive offices no later than December 5,
2013, to be considered for inclusion. Among
other requirements set forth in the SEC’s
proxy rules and the Company’s Bylaws, you
must have continuously held a minimum of
either $2,000 in market value or 1% of the
Company’s outstanding stock for at least
one year by the date of submitting the
proposal, and you must continue to own
such stock through the date of the meeting.

If you intend to nominate candidates for
election as directors or present a proposal
at the meeting without including it in the
Company’s proxy materials, you must
provide notice of such proposal to the
Company no later than February 20, 2014.
The Company’s Bylaws outline procedures
for giving the required notice. If you would
like a copy of the procedures contained in
our Bylaws, please contact:

Corporate Secretary
Alaska Air Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 68947
Seattle, WA 98168
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PROPOSAL 1:
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS TO ONE-YEAR TERMS

The Company currently has eleven directors.
The Company’s Bylaws provide that directors
shall serve a one-year term. Directors are
elected to hold office until their successors
are elected and qualified, or until resignation
or removal in the manner provided in our
Bylaws. Eleven directors are nominees for
election this year and each has consented
to serve a one-year term ending in 2014.

William S. Ayer
Director since 1999
Age – 58

Mr. Ayer has served as
chairman of the Alaska Air
Group Board and Air
Group’s two subsidiaries,
Alaska Airlines and Horizon
Air, since May 2003. In May
2012, Mr. Ayer stepped

down from the position of president and CEO
of Alaska Air Group, a role he had filled since
2003, and from the position of CEO of Alaska
Airlines and Horizon Air. Prior to 2003,
Mr. Ayer held various marketing, planning and
operational positions at Alaska Airlines and
Horizon Air. He serves as chairman of the
board of Puget Energy, and since 2012 as a
Regent of the University of Washington. He
serves on the boards of the Museum of Flight,
the University of Washington Foundation, the
University of Washington Foster School of
Business Advisory Board, and the Angel Flight
West Foundation. Mr. Ayer also chairs the
NextGen Advisory Committee, working with the
Federal Aviation Administration and the
aviation industry to transform the nation’s
airspace and air traffic system. Mr. Ayer’s
strategic planning skills, broad airline and
business expertise, and his governance
experience qualify him for his position on the
Air Group Board.

Patricia M. Bedient
Director since 2004
Age – 59

Ms. Bedient chairs the
Board’s Audit Committee.
She is executive vice
president and CFO for
Weyerhaeuser Company,
one of the world’s largest
integrated forest products

companies. A certified public accountant
(CPA) since 1978, she served as managing
partner of Arthur Andersen LLP’s Seattle
office prior to joining Weyerhaeuser.
Ms. Bedient also worked at Andersen’s
Portland and Boise offices as a partner and
as a CPA during her 27-year career with the
firm. She serves on the boards of Alaska
Airlines and Horizon Air (subsidiaries of
Alaska Air Group), the Overlake Hospital
Medical Center Board and the University of
Washington Foster School of Business
advisory board. She has also served on the
boards of a variety of civic organizations,
including the Oregon State University
Foundation board of trustees, the World
Forestry Center, City Club of Portland,
St. Mary’s Academy of Portland, and the
Chamber of Commerce in Boise, Idaho. She
is a member of the American Institute of
CPAs and the Washington Society of CPAs.
Ms. Bedient received her bachelor’s degree
in business administration, with
concentrations in finance and accounting,
from Oregon State University in 1975.
Ms. Bedient’s extensive experience in public
accounting and financial expertise qualify
her to serve on the Board and to act as an
audit committee financial expert, as defined
by the SEC.
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Marion C. Blakey
Director since 2010
Age – 64

Ms. Blakey is chair of the
Board’s Safety Committee.
She also served on the
Board’s Audit Committee
during 2012. Ms. Blakey is
president and CEO of The
Aerospace Industries

Association (AIA), the nation’s largest
aerospace and defense trade association.
Prior to her current position, she served as
the Administrator of the Federal Aviation
Administration (the “FAA”) from 2002 to
2007 and chair of the National
Transportation Safety Board (NTSB) from
2001 to 2002. Ms. Blakey also serves on
the boards of Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air
(subsidiaries of Alaska Air Group), Noblis,
the NASA Advisory Council, and the
President’s Export Council Subcommittee on
Export Administration (PECSEA), as well as a
number of philanthropic and community
organizations, including the Washington Area
Airports Task Force Advisory Board,
International Aviation Women’s Association,
and Best Friends Foundation Advisory Board.
Ms. Blakey’s experience with AIA, the FAA
and the NTSB specially qualify her for
service on the Company’s Board and
because of her experience with the FAA and
NTSB, she brings a very relevant and
important perspective to the deliberations of
the Safety Committee.

Phyllis J. Campbell
Director since 2002
Age – 61

Ms. Campbell is lead
director and chair of the
Board’s Governance and
Nominating Committee.
She was named chair of
the Pacific Northwest
Region of JPMorgan

Chase & Co. in April 2009 and, as vice
chair, is the firm’s most senior executive in
the region. From 2003 to 2009,
Ms. Campbell served as president and CEO
of The Seattle Foundation, one of the
nation’s largest community philanthropic
foundations. She was president of U.S.
Bank of Washington from 1993 until 2001
and served as chair of the bank’s
Community Board. Ms. Campbell has
received several awards for her corporate
and community involvement. These awards
include the Women Who Make A Difference
Award and the Director of the Year from the
Northwest Chapter of the National
Association of Corporate Directors. Since
August 2007, Ms. Campbell has served on
Toyota’s Diversity Advisory Board. She also
serves on the boards of Alaska Airlines and
Horizon Air (subsidiaries of Alaska Air
Group), the Joshua Green Corporation, and
Nordstrom, where she is chair of the audit
committee. Until February 2009, she served
on the boards of Puget Energy and its
subsidiary, Puget Sound Energy.
Ms. Campbell’s business and community
leadership background and her governance
experience qualify her for her role as lead
director of the Board.
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Jessie J. Knight, Jr.
Director since 2002
Age – 62

Mr. Knight serves on the
Board’s Safety Committee
and its Governance and
Nominating Committee.
Mr. Knight is chairman and
CEO of San Diego Gas and
Electric Company, a

subsidiary of Sempra Energy. From 2006 to
2010, he was executive vice president of
external affairs at Sempra Energy. From
1999 to 2006, Mr. Knight served as
president and CEO of the San Diego
Regional Chamber of Commerce, and from
1993 to 1998, he was a commissioner of
the California Public Utilities Commission.
Prior to this, Mr. Knight was vice president
of marketing and strategic planning for the
San Francisco Chronicle and San Francisco
Examiner. While there, he won five National
Clio Awards for television, radio and printed
advertising and a Cannes Film Festival
Golden Lion Award for business marketing.
Prior to his media career, Mr. Knight spent
ten years in finance and marketing with the
Dole Foods Company. Mr. Knight serves on
the boards of Alaska Airlines, Horizon Air
(subsidiaries of Alaska Air Group), the San
Diego Padres Baseball Club, and the Timken
Museum of Art in San Diego. He is a life
member of the Council on Foreign Relations
and a corporate member of the Hoover
Institution at Stanford University.
Mr. Knight’s knowledge and expertise on
brand marketing and energy markets as well
as his broad business experience qualify
him for service on the Alaska Air Group
Board.

R. Marc Langland
Director since 1991
Age – 71

Mr. Langland is a member
of the Board’s Governance
and Nominating and its
Compensation and
Leadership Development
Committees. He has been
chairman of Northrim Bank

(Anchorage, Alaska) since 1998, served as
director since 1990, and served as the
bank’s president from 1990 until 2009.
Mr. Langland has also served as chair,
president and CEO of the bank’s parent
company, Northrim BanCorp, Inc. since
1998. He was chair and CEO of Key Bank of
Alaska from 1987 to 1988 and president
from 1985 to 1987. From 1978 to 1985,
Mr. Langland was president of First National
Bank of Fairbanks. In 2001, Mr. Langland
was inducted into the Alaska Business Hall
of Fame. He served on the board of trustees
of the Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation
from 1987 to 1991 and was chair from
1990 to 1991. Mr. Langland is past
chairman of the Alaska State Chamber of
Commerce and the Fairbanks Chamber. In
2008, the Alaska State Chamber awarded
Mr. Langland the William A. Egan
Outstanding Alaskan Award. He is also a
director of Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air
(subsidiaries of Alaska Air Group), Usibelli
Coal Mine, Elliott Cove Capital Management,
and Pacific Wealth Advisors, a member of
the Anchorage Chamber of Commerce, and
a board member and past chairman of
Commonwealth North. Mr. Langland’s
background and skills as a business leader
in the state of Alaska, which represents a
significant portion of the Company’s
business, qualify him for his role on the
Alaska Air Group Board.
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Dennis F. Madsen
Director since 2003
Age – 64

Mr. Madsen serves on the
Board’s Compensation and
Leadership Development
Committee and its Audit
Committee. He is currently
the chair of Evolucion Inc.
(evo.com), an action sports

retailer in Seattle. From 2000 to 2005,
Mr. Madsen was president and CEO of
Recreational Equipment, Inc. (REI), a retailer
and online merchant for outdoor gear and
clothing. He served as REI’s executive vice
president and COO from 1987 to 2000, and
prior to that held numerous positions
throughout REI. In 2010, Mr. Madsen was
appointed a director of West Marine Inc., a
publicly traded retail company in the
recreational boating sector. He also serves
on West Marine’s governance and
compensation committees. Other boards on
which Mr. Madsen is a member include
Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air (subsidiaries
of Alaska Air Group), the Western
Washington University Foundation, Western
Washington University, Islandwood, and the
Youth Outdoors Legacy Fund. Mr. Madsen’s
experience in leading a large people-oriented
and customer-service-driven organization
qualifies him for service on the Alaska Air
Group Board.

Byron I. Mallott
Director since 1982
Age – 69

Mr. Mallott serves on the
Board’s Safety and its
Governance and
Nominating Committees.
Currently he is a senior
fellow of the First Alaskans
Institute, a nonprofit

organization dedicated to the development
of Alaska Native peoples and their
communities, a position he has held since
2000. Mr. Mallott also serves on the Board
of Trustees of the Smithsonian Institution’s
National Museum of the American Indian.
He has served the state of Alaska in various
advisory and executive capacities, and has
served as mayor of Yakutat and of Juneau.
From 1995 to 1999, he was executive
director (chief executive officer) of the
Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation, a trust
managing proceeds from the state of
Alaska’s oil reserves. He was a director of
Sealaska Corporation (Juneau, Alaska) from
1972 to 1988, chair from 1976 to 1983,
and CEO from 1982 to 1992. He owns
Mallott Enterprises (personal investments)
and is a director of Alaska Airlines and
Horizon Air (subsidiaries of Alaska Air
Group), a director and member of the
nominating committee of Sealaska
Corporation, and a director and member of
the audit committee of Yak-Tat Kwaan, Inc.
and Native American Bank, NA. Mr. Mallott’s
leadership and extensive knowledge of the
Native Alaskan people and their culture and
his experience with governmental affairs
qualify him for his role on the Alaska Air
Group Board.
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J. Kenneth Thompson
Director since 1999
Age – 61

Mr. Thompson is chair of
the Board’s Compensation
and Leadership
Development Committee
and serves on the Board’s
Safety Committee. Since
2000, Mr. Thompson has

been president and CEO of Pacific Star
Energy LLC, a private energy investment
company in Alaska, with partial ownership in
the oil exploration firm Alaska Venture
Capital Group (AVCG LLC). Mr. Thompson
served as executive vice president of
ARCO’s Asia Pacific oil and gas operating
companies in Alaska, California, Indonesia,
China and Singapore from 1998 to 2000.
Prior to that, he was president of ARCO
Alaska, Inc., the parent company’s oil and
gas producing division based in Anchorage,
Alaska. He also serves on the boards of
Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air (subsidiaries
of Alaska Air Group), Pioneer Natural
Resources Company, Tetra Tech, Inc., and
Coeur d’Alene Mines Corporation, as well as
on the non-profit board of Provision Ministry
Group. Mr. Thompson also serves on the
environmental, health, safety and social
responsibility, the governance and
nominating, and the audit committees of
Coeur d’Alene Mines Corporation. At Tetra
Tech, Mr. Thompson serves on the audit,
the governance and nominating, and the
strategy planning committees and chairs the
compensation committee. At Pioneer Natural
Resources, he serves on the governance

and nominating, compensation and
hydrocarbon reserves committees.
Mr. Thompson’s business leadership and
his breadth of experience in planning,
operations, engineering, and safety/
regulatory issues qualify him for service on
the Alaska Air Group Board.

Bradley D. Tilden
Director since 2010
Age – 52

Mr. Tilden has served as
president of Alaska Airlines
since December 2008. In
May 2012, Mr. Tilden
succeeded Mr. Ayer as
president and CEO of
Alaska Air Group and was

also named CEO of Alaska Airlines and
Horizon Air (subsidiaries of Alaska Air
Group). He served as executive vice
president of finance and planning from 2002
to 2008 and as chief financial officer from
2000 to 2008 for Alaska Airlines and Alaska
Air Group. Prior to 2000, Mr. Tilden was vice
president of finance at Alaska Airlines and
Alaska Air Group. Mr. Tilden worked for the
accounting firm PricewaterhouseCoopers
prior to joining Alaska Airlines. He also
serves on the boards of Alaska Airlines,
Horizon Air, Flow International, Pacific
Lutheran University, and chairs the board of
the Chief Seattle Council of the Boy Scouts
of America. Mr. Tilden’s role as leader of
Alaska Air Group and its operating
subsidiaries, his strategic planning skills
and financial expertise qualify him to serve
on the Air Group Board.
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Eric K. Yeaman
Director since 2012
Age 45

Mr. Yeaman was appointed
to the Alaska Air Group
Board and the Board’s
Audit Committee in
November 2012. He is
president and CEO of
Hawaiian Telcom. Prior to

joining Hawaiian Telcom in June 2008,
Mr. Yeaman was senior executive vice
president and COO of Hawaiian Electric
Company, Inc. (HECO). Mr. Yeaman joined
Hawaiian Electric Industries, Inc., HECO’s
parent company, in January 2003 as
financial vice president, treasurer and CFO.
Prior to this, Mr. Yeaman held the positions
of chief operating and financial officer for

Kamehameha Schools from July 2000 to
January 2003. He began his career at Arthur
Andersen LLP in September 1989.
Mr. Yeaman serves on the not-for-profit
boards of Queen’s Health Systems, Bishop
Museum, Hawaii Community Foundation,
Hawaii Business Roundtable, The Nature
Conservancy of Hawaii, Kamehameha
Schools Audit Committee, Aloha United Way,
and the Harold K.L. Castle Foundation. He is
also a director of Alaska Airlines and Horizon
Air (subsidiaries of Alaska Air Group),
Alexander & Baldwin, the United States
Telcom Association, and a member of the
Hawaii Asia Pacific Association.
Mr. Yeaman’s extensive business
experience and, in particular, his experience
as CEO of a public company qualify him to
serve as a member of the Air Group Board.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE
ELECTION OF THE ELEVEN DIRECTOR NOMINEES NAMED ABOVE.

UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON YOUR PROXY, THE SHARES WILL BE
VOTED FOR THE ELECTION OF THESE ELEVEN NOMINEES AS DIRECTORS.
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PROPOSAL 2:
RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF THE COMPANY’S

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

The Audit Committee has selected KPMG
LLP (“KPMG”) as the Company’s
independent accountants for fiscal year
2013, and the Board is asking stockholders
to ratify that selection. Although current law,
rules, and regulations, as well as the charter
of the Audit Committee, require the Audit
Committee to engage, retain, and supervise
the independent accountants, the Board
considers the selection of the independent
accountants to be an important matter of

stockholder concern and is submitting the
selection of KPMG for ratification by
stockholders as a matter of good corporate
practice.

The affirmative vote of holders of a majority
of the shares of common stock represented
at the meeting and entitled to vote on the
proposal is required to ratify the selection of
KPMG as the Company’s independent
accountant for the current fiscal year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE
RATIFICATION OF THE COMPANY’S INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS.

PROPOSAL 3:
ADVISORY VOTE REGARDING THE COMPENSATION
OF THE COMPANY’S NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The Company is providing its stockholders
with the opportunity to cast a non-binding,
advisory vote on the compensation of the
Company’s Named Executive Officers as
disclosed pursuant to the SEC’s executive
compensation disclosure rules and set forth
in this Proxy Statement (including in the
compensation tables and the narrative
discussion accompanying those tables as
well as in the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis).

As described more fully in the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis section of this
Proxy Statement, the structure of the
Company’s executive compensation program
is designed to compensate executives
appropriately and competitively and to drive
superior performance. For Named Executive
Officers, a high percentage of total direct
compensation is variable and tied to the

success of the Company because they are
the senior leaders primarily responsible for
the overall execution of the Company’s
strategy. The Company’s strategic goals are
reflected in its incentive-based executive
compensation programs so that the
interests of executives are aligned with
stockholder interests. Executive
compensation is designed to be internally
equitable, to reward executives for
responding successfully to business
challenges facing the Company, and to take
into consideration the Company’s size
relative to the rest of the industry.

The Compensation Discussion and Analysis
section of this Proxy Statement describes in
more detail the Company’s executive
compensation programs and the decisions
made by the Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee during 2012.
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Highlights of these executive compensation
programs include the following:
• Base Salary

In general, for the Named Executive
Officers, the Committee targets base
salary levels at the 25th percentile
relative to the Company’s peer group
with the opportunity to earn market-level
or above compensation through short-
and long-term incentive plans that pay
when performance objectives are met.

• Annual Incentive Pay
The Company’s Named Executive Officers
are eligible to earn annual incentive pay
under the broad-based Performance-
Based Pay Plan, which is intended to
motivate the executives to achieve
specific Company goals. Annual target
performance measures reflect near-term
financial and operational goals that are
consistent with the strategic plan.

• Long-term Incentive Pay
Equity-based incentive awards that link
executive pay to stockholder value are an
important element of the Company’s
executive compensation program. Long-
term equity incentives that vest over
three- or four-year periods are awarded
annually, resulting in overlapping vesting
periods that are designed to discourage
short-term risk taking and align Named
Executive Officers’ long-term interests
with those of stockholders while helping
the Company attract and retain top-
performing executives who fit a team-
oriented and performance-driven culture.

In accordance with the requirements of
Section 14A of the Exchange Act (which was

added by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act) and the
related rules of the SEC, our Board of
Directors will request your advisory vote on
the following resolution at the 2013 Annual
Meeting:

RESOLVED, that the compensation paid
to the Named Executive Officers, as
disclosed in this Proxy Statement
pursuant to the SEC’s executive
compensation disclosure rules (which
disclosure includes the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis, the
compensation tables and the narrative
discussion that accompanies the
compensation tables), is hereby
approved.

This proposal regarding the compensation
paid to our Named Executive Officers is
advisory only and will not be binding on the
Company or our Board and will not be
construed as overruling a decision by the
Company or our Board or creating or
implying any additional fiduciary duty for the
Company or our Board. However, the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee, which is responsible for
designing and administering the Company’s
executive compensation program, values the
opinions expressed by stockholders in their
vote on this proposal and will consider the
outcome of the vote when making future
compensation decisions for our Named
Executive Officers. Stockholders will be
given an opportunity to cast an advisory vote
on this topic annually, with the next
opportunity occurring in connection with the
Company’s annual meeting in 2014.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE APPROVAL
OF THE COMPENSATION OF THE NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AS DISCLOSED IN
THIS PROXY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO THE SEC’S EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

DISCLOSURE RULES.
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PROPOSAL 4:
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL — LIMIT ACCELERATION OF EQUITY

Mr. John Chevedden has given notice of his intention to present a proposal at the 2013
Annual Meeting. Mr. Chevedden’s address is 2215 Nelson Avenue, No. 205, Redondo Beach,
California 90278, and Mr. Chevedden represents that he has continuously owned no less than
100 shares of the Company’s common stock since October 1, 2011. Mr. Chevedden’s
proposal and supporting statement, as submitted to the Company, appear below.

The Board of Directors opposes adoption of Mr. Chevedden’s proposal and asks stockholders
to review the Board’s response, which follows Mr. Chevedden’s proposal and supporting
statement below.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock present, in
person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the proposal is required
to approve this proposal.

Proposal 4 — Limited Accelerated Executive Pay

Resolved: The shareholders ask the board of directors to adopt a policy that in the event of a
change in control (as defined under any applicable employment agreement, equity incentive
plan or other plan), there shall be no acceleration of vesting of any equity award granted to
any senior executive, provided, however, that the board’s Compensation Committee may
provide in an applicable grant or purchase agreement that any unvested award will vest on a
partial, pro rata basis up to the time of the senior executive’s termination, with such
qualifications for an award as the Committee may determine.

For purposes of this Policy, “equity award” means an award granted under an equity incentive
plan as defined in Item 402 of the SEC’s Regulation S-K, which addresses executive
compensation. This resolution shall be implemented so as not affect any contractual rights in
existence on the date this proposal is adopted.

Under current or future executive pay plans, our company’s highest paid executives can
receive “golden parachute” pay after a change in control. It is important to retain the link
between executive pay and company performance, and one way to achieve that goal is to
prevent windfalls that an executive has not earned.

The vesting of equity pay over a period of time is intended to promote long-term improvements
in performance. The link between executive pay and long-term performance can be severed if
such pay is made on an accelerated schedule. Our CEO had a potential $17 million
entitlement for a change in control.

This proposal should also be evaluated in the context of our Company’s overall corporate
governance as reported in 2012:

GMI/The Corporate Library, an independent investment research firm, expressed concern
regarding our executive pay — $9 million for William Ayer.
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Our directors Jessie Knight, Phyllis Campbell, William Ayer, James Thompson, Marc Langland
and Byron Mallott each had 10 to 30 years long-tenure. GMI said long-tenured directors could
form relationships that may compromise their independence and therefore hinder their ability
to provide effective oversight. An independent perspective is a priceless quality in a director.

To make matters worse long-tenured directors controlled all the seats on our nomination
committee and 67% of the seats on our executive pay committee. And Marc Langland, at
age 70 and with 21 years long-tenure, had been our Lead Director continuously since 2006.
James Thompson was first in getting our most negative votes and was potentially over-
extended with board seats at 4 major companies. Our proxy did not disclose the number of
years that Mr. Thompson had managed to maintain board seats at 4 major companies. Our
newest independent director, Marion Blakey, did not have director experience at any major for-
profit company.

Please encourage our directors to respond positively to this proposal to protect shareholder
value: Limit Accelerated Executive Pay — Proposal 4

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE AGAINST
PROPOSAL 4 FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS:

Alaska Air Group maintains an equity-based
compensation program for executive officers
that is designed to provide long-term
incentives that further align the interests of
executives with those of stockholders and to
provide a retention incentive. Adoption of
the proponent’s proposal would undermine
these important objectives.

The proposal states that “the link between
executive pay and long-term performance
can be severed if such pay is made on an
accelerated schedule.” We disagree. Under
our 2008 Performance Incentive Plan and
our agreements with executive officers, a
change in control does not immediately
trigger accelerated vesting of equity awards.
Instead, equity awards to our executive
officers have a double-trigger accelerated
vesting provision, which means that
accelerated vesting does not occur unless
both: (1) the change-in-control transaction is
consummated; and (2) either the executive’s
employment is terminated (or constructively
terminated) in connection with the

transaction or the acquirer does not
continue or assume the awards in the
transaction. To be clear, the first trigger is
tied to consummation of a change in control
transaction (and not merely to the signing of
an agreement or stockholder approval of the
transaction) to ensure that such award is
not accelerated prior to stockholders also
realizing the value of the transaction.

When a change in control occurs, ensuring a
smooth management transition and
preserving the synergies anticipated in such
a transaction serve to maximize stockholder
value. To accomplish this, our executive
officers should concentrate on securing the
best terms for our stockholders and the
Company, while maintaining operational
stability and leadership during the transition
period. These factors are particularly
important in the airline business.

Without the accelerated vesting protections
described above, should a potential change
in control arise, our executive officers could
be preoccupied with the uncertainty
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surrounding their job status and loss of
value tied to the equity awards as a result of
the potential change in control and be less
focused on stability and negotiating the best
price for our stockholders. Accelerated
vesting of equity awards in the limited
(“double-trigger”) circumstances described
above should temper these distractions and
allow our executives to maintain their focus
on maximizing stockholder value.

The proposal oversimplifies and
mischaracterizes the nature and intent of
vesting equity awards over a period of time,
stating that such vesting “is intended to
promote long-term improvements in
performance.” The fact that the value of the
awards is stock-price dependent is the
primary incentive to improve performance,
while the vesting periods are designed to
encourage the sustaining of that
performance over time. In addition, existing
change-in-control arrangements already
provide that awards that vest based on the
degree to which certain performance
measures are met would vest on a pro-rata
basis up to the executive’s termination date
in connection with a change in control.

We believe that our stockholders have been
served well by our compensation structure,
which places a high percentage of executive
compensation opportunities in components
such as equity and other performance-based
awards, where the ultimate value is tied to
performance objectives and long-term
vesting schedules. It seems reasonable and
fair to ensure that executives would not
have to forfeit a substantial portion of
previously granted equity as a result of being
terminated in a change in control through no
fault of their own. We believe limiting the
accelerated vesting of equity awards to the
restricted circumstances the Board has
already put in place allows our executive
officers to realize the full value of their hard
work and the value created for stockholders
under their leadership.

Therefore, the Board believes that it is
appropriate for equity awards to vest in
connection with a change in control on a
double-trigger basis under the limited
circumstances described and as reflected in
our 2008 Performance Incentive Plan and
our agreements with executive officers.

ACCORDINGLY, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE
AGAINST PROPOSAL 4.
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STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Delaware General
Corporation Law and the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, our
business affairs are managed under the
direction of our Board of Directors. Directors
meet their responsibilities by, among other
things, participating in meetings of the
Board and Board committees on which they
serve, discussing matters with the Chairman
and CEO and other executives, reviewing
materials provided to them, and visiting our
facilities.

Pursuant to the Bylaws, the Board of
Directors has established four standing
committees, which are the Audit Committee,
the Compensation and Leadership

Development Committee, the Governance
and Nominating Committee, and the Safety
Committee. Only independent directors
serve on these committees. The Board has
adopted a written charter for each
committee. The charters of the Audit,
Compensation and Leadership
Development, Governance and Nominating,
and Safety Committees are posted on the
Company’s website, can be accessed free
of charge at www.alaskaair.com and are
available in print to any stockholder who
submits a written request to the Company’s
Corporate Secretary.

The table below shows the current members
and chairs of the standing Board
committees.

Board Committee Memberships

Name Audit

Compensation and
Leadership

Development
Governance and

Nominating Safety

Patricia M. Bedient Chair

Marion C. Blakey Š* Chair

Phyllis J. Campbell Chair

Jessie J. Knight, Jr. Š Š

R. Marc Langland Š Š

Dennis F. Madsen Š Š

Byron I. Mallott Š Š

J. Kenneth Thompson Chair Š

Eric K. Yeaman Š

* Ms. Blakey served on the Audit Committee through November 7, 2012, at which time
Mr. Yeaman was appointed a member.

Š
P

ro
xy

21



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal functions of the standing Board
committees are as follows:

Governance and Nominating Committee

Pursuant to its charter, the Governance and
Nominating Committee’s responsibilities
include the following:

1. Develop, monitor and reassess from
time to time the Corporate Governance
Guidelines.

2. Evaluate the size and composition of
the Board.

3. Develop criteria for Board membership.

4. Evaluate the independence of existing
and prospective members of the Board.

5. Seek and evaluate qualified candidates
for election to the Board.

6. Evaluate the nature, structure and
composition of other Board committees.

7. Take steps it deems necessary or
appropriate with respect to annual
assessments of the performance of the
Board and each Board committee,
including itself.

8. Annually review and reassess the
adequacy of the Committee’s charter
and its performance, and recommend
any proposed changes in the charter to
the Board of Directors for approval.

Audit Committee

Pursuant to its charter, the Audit
Committee’s responsibilities include:

1. With regard to matters pertaining to the
independent registered public
accountants:

• Appoint them and oversee their work.

• Review at least annually their statement
regarding their internal quality-control
procedures and their relationship with
the Company.

• Maintain a dialog with respect to their
independence.

• Pre-approve all auditing and non-
auditing services they are to perform.

• Review annual and quarterly financial
statements and filings made with the
SEC.

• Receive and review communications
required from the independent
registered public accountants under
applicable rules and standards.

• Establish clear hiring policies for
employees and former employees of the
independent registered public
accountants.

• Review audited financial statements
with management and the independent
registered public accountants.

• Receive and review required
communications from the independent
registered public accountants.

2. With regard to matters pertaining to the
internal auditors:

• Review planned internal audits and their
results with the internal auditors.

• Review any changes to the internal
audit charter.

3. With regard to matters pertaining to
controls:

• Review major financial reporting risk
exposure and adequacy and
effectiveness of associated internal
controls.

• Review procedures with respect to
significant accounting policies and the
adequacy of financial controls.

• Discuss with management policies with
respect to risk assessment and risk
management, including the process by
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which the Company undertakes risk
assessment and risk management.

• Discuss with management, as
appropriate, earnings releases and any
information provided to analysts and
ratings agencies.

• Develop, monitor and reassess from
time to time a corporate compliance
program, including a code of conduct
and ethics policy, decide on requested
changes to or waivers of such program
and code relating to officers and
directors, and establish procedures for
confidential treatment of complaints
concerning accounting, internal controls
or auditing matters.

• Obtain and review at least quarterly a
statement from the CEO, CFO and
disclosure committee members
disclosing any significant deficiencies in
internal controls and any fraud that
involves management or other
employees with significant roles in
internal controls.

4. Prepare the Audit Committee Report
required for the annual proxy statement.

5. Annually review and reassess the
adequacy of the Committee’s charter
and performance and recommend for
Board approval any proposed changes
to the charter.

Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee

Pursuant to its charter, the Compensation
and Leadership Development Committee’s
responsibilities include the following:

1. With regard to executive and director
compensation:

• Recommend for approval by the Board
changes in compensation and

insurance for the Company’s and its
subsidiaries’ nonemployee directors.

• Set, review and approve compensation
of the CEO and other elected officers of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

• Establish the process for approving
corporate goals relevant to CEO
compensation and for evaluating CEO
performance in light of those goals.

2. Set annual goals under the broad-based
Performance-Based Pay and Operational
Performance Rewards plans and
administer the plans.

3. Grant stock awards and stock options.

4. Administer the supplementary
retirement plans for elected officers and
the equity-based incentive plans.

5. Make recommendations to the Board
regarding other executive compensation
issues, including modification or
adoption of plans.

6. Fulfill ERISA fiduciary and non-fiduciary
functions for tax-qualified retirement
plans by monitoring the Alaska Air
Group Pension/Benefits Administrative
Committee, Defined Contribution
Retirement Benefits Administrative
Committee, and Pension Funds
Investment Committee, and approve the
membership of those committees,
trustees and trust agreements, and the
extension of plan participation to
employees of subsidiaries.

7. Approve the terms of employment and
severance agreements with elected
officers and the form of change-in-
control agreements.

8. Review executive-level leadership
development and succession plans.

9. Administer and make recommendations
to the Board of Directors with respect to
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the Company’s equity and other long-
term incentive equity plans.

10. Administer, review and modify the
Company’s policy regarding recoupment
of certain compensation payments.

11. Produce the report on executive
compensation required for the annual
proxy statement.

12. Annually review and reassess the
adequacy of the Committee’s charter
and its performance, and recommend
any proposed changes in the charter to
the Board of Directors for approval.

Safety Committee

Pursuant to its charter, the Safety
Committee’s responsibilities include the
following:

1. Monitor management’s efforts to
ensure the safety of passengers and
employees of the Air Group companies.

2. Monitor and assist management in
creating a uniform safety culture that
achieves the highest possible industry
performance measures.

3. Review management’s efforts to ensure
aviation security and reduce the risk of
security incidents.

4. Periodically review with management
and outside experts all aspects of
airline safety.

5. Evaluate the Company’s health, safety
and environmental policies and
practices.

6. Annually review and reassess the
adequacy of the Committee’s
performance and its charter, and
recommend any proposed changes in
the charter to the Board of Directors for
approval.

Board and Committee Meetings

In 2012, the Board of Directors held four
regular meetings. The standing Board
committees held the following number of
meetings in 2012:

• Audit Committee — 4

• Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee — 6

• Governance and Nominating
Committee — 3

• Safety Committee — 5

Each director attended at least 92% of all
board and applicable committee meetings
during 2012. Each director is expected to
attend the Company’s Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. Last year, all directors but
one attended the annual meeting.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The Board of Directors of the Company has
determined that all of the directors
excepting Mr. Ayer and Mr. Tilden and
including each member of the Audit
Committee, Governance and Nominating
Committee, and Compensation and
Leadership Development Committee, are
independent under the NYSE listing
standards and the Company’s independent

director standards that are set forth in the
Company’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines. In making its determination, the
Board of Directors considered the amounts
of charitable contributions made by the
Company to charitable organizations on
which Ms. Bedient, Mr. Langland, and
Mr. Yeaman serve as directors. After
consideration of this matter and in
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accordance with the Board’s independent
director criteria, the Board of Directors
affirmatively determined that the matters did
not represent material relationships with the
Company because the amounts of the
contributions were immaterial with respect
to the Company’s and the charitable
organization’s annual revenues.

Each member of the Company’s Audit
Committee meets the additional
independence, financial literacy and
experience requirements contained in the
corporate governance listing standards of
the NYSE relating to audit committees or
required by the SEC. The Board has
determined that Ms. Bedient and
Mr. Yeaman are audit committee financial
experts as defined in SEC rules.

The Corporate Governance Guidelines are
available on the Company’s website at
http://www.alaskaair.com and are available
in print to any stockholder who submits a
written request to the Company’s Corporate
Secretary.

Specifically, the Board has determined that
independent directors must have no
material relationship with the Company,
based on all material facts and
circumstances. At a minimum, an
independent director must meet each of the
standards listed below:

1. The director, within the last three years,
has not been employed by and has no
immediate family member that has
been an executive officer of the
Company.

2. Neither the director nor any immediate
family member has, in any 12-month
period in the last three years, received
more than $120,000 in direct
compensation from the Company other
than compensation for director or

committee service and pension or other
deferred compensation for prior service.

3. With regard to the Company’s
independent accountants firm (i) neither
the director nor any immediate family
member is a current partner of the
Company’s independent accountants
firm; (ii) the director is not a current
employee of the independent
accountants firm; (iii) no immediate
family member is a current employee of
the independent accountants firm
working in its audit, assurance or tax
compliance practice; and (iv) neither the
director nor any immediate family
member was an employee or partner of
the independent accountants firm within
the last three years and worked on the
Company’s audit within that time.

4. Neither the director nor any immediate
family member has, within the last
three years, been part of an interlocking
directorate. This means that no
executive officer of the Company served
on the compensation committee of a
company that employed the director or
an immediate family member.

5. The director is not currently an
employee of and no immediate family
member is an executive officer of
another company (i) that represented at
least 2% or $1 million, whichever is
greater, of the Company’s gross
revenues, or (ii) of which the Company
represented at least 2% or $1 million,
whichever is greater, of such other
company’s gross revenues in any of the
last three fiscal years. Charitable
contributions are excluded from this
calculation.

The Board considers that ordinary-course
business between the Company and an
organization of which the Board member is
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an officer or director, where the amount of
such business is immaterial with respect to
the Company’s or the organization’s annual
revenues, does not create a material
relationship.

For the purposes of these standards,
“Company” includes all Alaska Air Group
subsidiaries and other affiliates. “Immediate
family member” includes the director’s
spouse, domestic partner, parents, children,

siblings, mothers- and fathers-in-law, sons-
and daughters-in-law, and anyone sharing
the director’s home. The independence
standards for the members of the Audit
Committee provide that, in addition to the
foregoing standards, they may not
(a) receive any compensation other than
director’s fees for board and audit
committee service and permitted retirement
pay, or (b) be an “affiliate” of the Company
apart from their capacity as a member of the
board as defined by applicable SEC rules.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

Identification and Evaluation of Candidates

1. Internal Process for Identifying
Candidates

The Governance and Nominating Committee
(the “Committee”) has two primary methods
for identifying candidates (other than those
proposed by the Company’s stockholders,
as discussed below). First, on a periodic
basis, the Committee solicits ideas for
possible candidates from a number of
sources including, but not limited to,
members of the Board, senior-level Company
executives, individuals personally known to
the members of the Board, and research.

Additionally, the Committee may, from time
to time, use its authority under its charter to
retain at the Company’s expense one or
more search firms to identify candidates
(and to approve any such firms’ fees and
other retention terms). If the Committee
retains one or more search firms, those
firms may be asked to identify possible
candidates who meet the minimum and
desired qualifications established by the
Committee and to undertake such other
duties as the Committee may direct.

2. Candidates Proposed by Stockholders

a. General Nomination Right of All
Stockholders

Any stockholder of the Company may
nominate one or more persons for election
as a director of the Company at an annual
meeting of stockholders if the stockholder
complies with the notice, information and
consent provisions contained in Article II,
Section 9 of the Company’s Bylaws. The
provisions generally require that written
notice of a stockholder’s intent to make a
nomination for the election of directors be
received by the Corporate Secretary of the
Company no later than the close of business
on the 90th day, and no earlier than the
close of business on the 120th day, prior to
the first anniversary of the prior year’s
annual meeting. The written notice
submitted by a stockholder must also
satisfy the additional informational
requirements set forth in Article II, Section 9
of the Bylaws. See “How can I submit a
proposal for next year’s annual meeting?”
under Questions and Answers About the
Annual Meeting for further information about
the deadlines applicable to the submission
of director nominations for next year’s
annual meeting of stockholders.
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The Corporate Secretary and General
Counsel will send a copy of the Company’s
Bylaws to any interested stockholder upon
request. The Company’s Bylaws are
also available on the Company’s website at
www.alaskaair.com.

b. Consideration of Director Candidates
Recommended by Stockholders

The Committee will evaluate candidates
recommended by a single stockholder, or
group of stockholders, that has beneficially
owned more than 5% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock for at least one
year and that satisfies the notice,
information and consent provisions set forth
below (such individual or group is referred to
as the “Qualified Stockholder”). The
Committee’s policy on the evaluation of
candidates recommended by stockholders
who are not Qualified Stockholders is to
evaluate such recommendations, and
establish procedures for such evaluations,
on a case-by-case basis. This policy allows
the Committee to devote an appropriate
amount of its own and the Company’s
resources to each such recommendation,
depending on the nature of the
recommendation itself and any supporting
materials provided. In addition, as
discussed above, non-Qualified Stockholders
have the ability to nominate one or more
director candidates directly at the annual
meeting. All candidates (whether identified
internally or by a stockholder) who, after
evaluation, are then recommended by the
Committee and approved by the Board, will
be included in the Company’s recommended
slate of director nominees in its proxy
statement.

c. Initial Consideration of Candidates
Recommended by Qualified
Stockholders

The Committee will evaluate candidates
recommended by Qualified Stockholders in
accordance with the following procedures.

Qualified Stockholders may propose a
candidate for evaluation by the Committee
by delivering a written notice to the
Committee satisfying each of the
requirements described below (the
“Notice”). The Notice must be received by
the Committee not less than 120 calendar
days before the anniversary of the date that
the Company’s proxy statement was
released to stockholders in connection with
the previous year’s annual meeting. No such
notice was received in connection with the
2013 Annual Meeting.

Any candidate recommended by a Qualified
Stockholder must be independent of the
Qualified Stockholder in all respects (i.e.,
free of any material personal, professional,
financial or business relationships from the
nominating stockholder), as determined by
the Committee or by applicable law. Any
candidate submitted by a Qualified
Stockholder must also meet the definition of
an “independent director” under applicable
NYSE rules. The Notice shall also contain or
be accompanied by the following information
or documentation:

• Proof of the required stock ownership
(including the required holding period) of
the stockholder or group of stockholders.
The Committee may determine whether
the required stock ownership condition
has been satisfied for any stockholder
that is the stockholder of record. Any
stockholder that is not the stockholder of
record must submit such evidence as the
Committee deems reasonable to
evidence the required ownership
percentage and holding period.

• A written statement that the stockholder
intends to continue to own the required
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percentage of shares through the date of
the annual meeting with respect to which
the candidate is nominated.

• The name or names of each stockholder
submitting the proposal, the name of the
candidate, and the written consent of
each such stockholder and the candidate
to be publicly identified.

• Regarding the candidate, such person’s
name, age, business and residence
address, principal occupation or
employment, number of shares of the
Company’s stock beneficially owned, if
any, a written résumé or curriculum vitae
of personal and professional
experiences, and all other information
relating to the candidate that would be
required to be disclosed in a proxy
statement or other filings required in
connection with the solicitation of
proxies for election of directors pursuant
to Section 14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
the regulations promulgated thereunder
(the “Exchange Act”).

• Regarding the candidate, information,
documents or affidavits demonstrating to
what extent the candidate meets the
required minimum criteria, and the
desirable qualities or skills established
by the Committee. The Notice must also
include a written statement that the
stockholder submitting the proposal and
the candidate will make available to the
Committee all information reasonably
requested in furtherance of the
Committee’s evaluation of the candidate.

• Regarding the stockholder submitting the
proposal, the person’s business address
and contact information and any other
information that would be required to be
disclosed in a proxy statement or other
filings required in connection with the

solicitation of proxies for election of
directors pursuant to Section 14(a) of
the Exchange Act.

• The signature of each candidate and of
each stockholder submitting the
proposal.

The Notice shall be delivered in writing by
registered or certified first-class mail,
postage prepaid, to the following address:

Board of Directors
Alaska Air Group, Inc.
PO Box 68947
Seattle, WA 98168

The Corporate Secretary and General
Counsel will promptly forward the Notice to
the Lead Director and Chair of the
Governance and Nominating Committee.

If, based on the Committee’s initial
screening of a candidate recommended by a
Qualified Stockholder, a candidate continues
to be of interest to the Committee, the Chair
of the Committee will request that the CEO
interview the candidate, and the candidate
will be interviewed by one or more of the
other Committee members. If the results of
these interviews are favorable, the
candidate recommended by a Qualified
Stockholder will be evaluated as set forth
below. Except as may be required by
applicable law, rule or regulation, the
Committee will have no obligation to discuss
the outcome of the evaluation process or
the reasons for the Committee’s
recommendations with any Qualified
Stockholder who made a proposal.

3. Evaluation of Candidates

As to each recommended candidate that the
Committee believes merits consideration,
the Committee will cause to be assembled
information concerning the background,
qualifications and appropriate references of
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the candidate, including information
concerning the candidate required to be
disclosed in the Company’s proxy statement
under the rules of the SEC and any
relationship between the candidate and the
person or persons recommending the
candidate. The Committee will then
(i) determine if the candidate satisfies the
qualifications set forth below under the
caption “Policy on Minimum Qualifications
for All Directors”; (ii) conduct interviews with
the candidate as it deems necessary and
appropriate; and (iii) consider the
contribution that the candidate can be
expected to make to the overall functioning
of the Board. The Committee will then meet
to consider and finalize its list of
recommended candidates for the Board’s
consideration.

The Governance and Nominating Committee
will consider incumbent candidates based
on the same criteria used for candidates
recommended by Qualified Stockholders,
provided that incumbents will also be
considered on the basis of the Committee’s
annual evaluations of the effectiveness of
the Board, its committees and their
members.

Policy on Minimum Qualifications for All
Directors

While there is no formal list of qualifications,
the Governance and Nominating Committee
considers, among other things, the
prospective nominee’s relevant experience,
intelligence, independence, commitment,
ability to work with the CEO and within the
Board culture, prominence, diversity, age,

might include, among other things, CEO
experience, senior-level international
experience, senior-level regulatory or legal
experience, and relevant senior-level
expertise in one or more of the following
areas: finance, accounting, sales and
marketing, safety, organizational
development, information technology, and
government and public relations. Different
substantive areas may assume greater or
lesser significance at particular times, in
light of the Board’s present composition and
the Committee’s (or the Board’s)
perceptions about future issues and needs.

For a candidate to serve as an independent
director, an independent and questioning
mindset is critical. The Committee also
considers a prospective candidate’s
workload and whether he or she would be
able to attend the vast majority of Board
meetings, be willing and available to serve
on Board committees, and be able to devote
the additional time and effort necessary to
keep up with Board matters and the rapidly
changing environment in which the Company
operates.

Board diversity is considered broadly, not
merely with regard to race, gender, or
national origin, but also with regard to
general background, geographical location,
and other factors. The consideration of
diversity is implemented through
discussions at the Governance and
Nominating Committee. In addition, on an
annual basis, as part of the Board’s self-
evaluation, the Board assesses whether the
mix and diversity of board members is
appropriate for the Company.
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BOARD LEADERSHIP

The Company’s board leadership generally
includes a combined chairman and CEO role
with a strong, independent lead director;
however, in 2012 the Board temporarily
separated the roles of chairman and CEO in
connection with the recent transition to a
new CEO.

In choosing generally to combine the roles
of chairman and CEO, the Board takes into
consideration the highly technical nature of
the airline business and the importance of
deep, industry-specific knowledge and a
thorough understanding of the Company’s
business environment in setting agendas
and leading the Board’s discussions.
Combining the roles also provides a clear
leadership structure for the management
team. Because the CEO has a depth of
understanding of the many complexities of
the airline business, the regulatory
environment, and the Company’s strategy —
all of which are of critical importance to the
Company’s performance — the Board
believes that he or she generally is best
suited to serve as chairman and to preside
over the majority of the Board’s discussions,
with the exception of the regular sessions of
the independent directors, which are led by
the independent lead director.

By creating an independent lead director role
with specific authority, the Board is able to
ensure objective evaluation of management
decisions and performance and to provide
independent leadership for director and

management succession planning and other
governance issues. The lead director’s
responsibilities are (a) to preside over
periodic meetings of non-management
directors as described in Section 2.1.3 of
the Company’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines; (b) to lead the non-management
directors’ annual evaluation of the CEO;
(c) to conduct interviews with incumbent
directors annually, including a discussion of
each individual director’s self-assessment of
his or her contribution prior to nomination
for election; (d) to discuss any proposed
changes to committee assignments with
each affected director in advance of making
committee membership recommendations to
the Board; (e) to review and provide input to
board meeting agendas; and (f) such other
duties as may be described in the
Company’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines.

Notwithstanding the Board’s preference for
combining the roles of chairman and CEO,
the Board may separate the CEO and chair
roles from time to time at its discretion. In
deciding whether to separate the roles, the
Board considers, among other things, the
experience and capacity of the sitting CEO,
the rigor of independent director oversight of
financial, operational and safety regulatory
issues, the current climate of openness
between management and the Board, and
the existence of other checks and balances
that help ensure independent thinking and
decision-making by directors.

EXECUTIVE SESSIONS AND LEAD DIRECTOR

The Air Group Board holds regular executive
sessions of non-management directors
quarterly. As provided in the charter of the
Governance and Nominating Committee, the

lead director, who is the chair of the
Governance and Nominating Committee,
presides over these executive sessions.
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RISK OVERSIGHT

Alaska Air Group has adopted an enterprise-
wide risk analysis and oversight program.
This program is designed to: a) identify the
various risks faced by the organization; b)
assign responsibility for managing those
risks to individual executives within the
management ranks; and c) align these
management assignments with appropriate
board-level oversight.

Responsibility for the oversight of the
program itself has been delegated to the
Board’s Audit Committee. In turn, the Audit
Committee has tasked the Company’s chief
risk, compliance and ethics officer with the
day-to-day design and implementation of the
program. Under the program, an Alaska Air
Group risk matrix has been developed and
the organization’s most prominent risks
have been identified, responsibility has been
assigned to appropriate executives, and
assignments have been aligned for
appropriate Board oversight, including
oversight of safety-related risks by the
Board’s Safety Committee. Responsibility for
managing these risks includes strategies
related to both mitigation (acceptance and
management) and transfer (insurance). The
risk matrix is updated regularly. At a
minimum, the Audit Committee receives
quarterly updates regarding the program and
an annual in-person review of the program’s
status by the chief risk, compliance and
ethics officer.

The program also provides that the Audit
Committee work with the chief risk,
compliance and ethics officer and Air
Group’s management executive committee

to annually identify the most pressing risk
issues for the next year. This subset of the
risk matrix is then designated for heightened
oversight, including periodic presentations
by the designated management executive to
the appropriate Board entity. Furthermore,
these areas of emphasis regarding risk are
specifically reviewed and discussed with
executive management during an annual
executive officer planning session, held
during the third quarter of each year, and
are incorporated into the development of the
Company’s strategic plan for the coming
year.

As part of its oversight of the Company’s
executive compensation program, the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee, along with its independent
consultant and the Company’s management
team, has reviewed the risk impact of the
Company’s executive compensation. Based
on this review, the Company has concluded
that its executive compensation programs
do not encourage risk taking to a degree
that is reasonably likely to have a materially
adverse impact on the Company.

The Company believes that its leadership
structure, discussed in detail in “Board
Leadership” above, supports the risk
oversight function of the Board for the same
reasons that it believes the leadership
structure is most effective for the Company,
namely that, while facilitating open
discussion and communication from
independent members of the Board, it
ensures that strategic discussions are led
by an individual with a deep understanding
of the highly technical and complex nature of
the airline business.
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CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS

The Company has adopted a Code of
Conduct and Ethics that applies to all
employees of the Company, including its
CEO, CFO, principal accounting officer and
persons performing similar functions. The
Code of Conduct and Ethics may be found
on the Company’s website at
www.alaskaair.com and is available in print
to any stockholder who requests it.

Information on the Company’s website,
however, does not form a part of this Proxy
Statement. The Company intends to
disclose any amendments (other than
technical, administrative or non-substantive
amendments) to, and any waivers from, a
provision of the Code of Conduct and Ethics
for directors or executive officers on the
Company’s website.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Policies and Procedures for Approval of Related
Person Transactions

The Board of Directors has adopted a
written policy for review, approval or
ratification of any transaction, arrangement
or relationship in which (i) the Company was,
is or will be a participant, (ii) the aggregate
amount involved exceeds $120,000 in any
calendar year, and (iii) a related person has
or will have a direct or indirect material
interest (other than solely as a result of
being a director or the beneficial owner of
less than 10% of another entity). For
purposes of the policy, a related person is
(i) any person who is, or at any time since
the beginning of the last fiscal year was, one
of the directors or executive officers or a
nominee to become a director, (ii) any
beneficial owner of more than 5% of the
Company’s common stock, or (iii) any
immediate family member of any the these
persons.

Under the policy, once such a transaction by
a related person has been identified, the
Audit Committee (or, for transactions that
involve less than $1 million in the
aggregate, the Chair of the Audit Committee)
must review the transaction for approval or
ratification. Members of the Audit
Committee or the Chair of the Audit

Committee, as applicable, will review all
relevant facts regarding the transaction in
determining whether to approve or ratify it,
including the extent of the related person’s
interest in the transaction, whether the
terms are comparable to those generally
available in arm’s-length transactions, and
whether the transaction is consistent with
the best interests of the Company. The
related person involved in the transaction
will not participate in the approval or
ratification process except to provide
additional information as requested for the
review. Once initially approved or ratified, all
transactions with related persons will be
reviewed at least annually.

The policy does not require review or
approval of the following transactions:
(i) employment by the Company of an
executive officer unless he or she is an
immediate family member of another related
person; (ii) any compensation paid by the
Company to a director; and (iii) a transaction
in which a related person’s interest arises
solely from the ownership of equity
securities and all holders of the securities
receive the same benefit on a pro-rata
basis.
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Certain Transactions with Related Persons

The Company and its subsidiaries have
transactions in the ordinary course of
business with other corporations of which
the Company’s executive officers or
directors or members of their immediate
families are directors, executive officers, or

stockholders. The amounts involved in these
transactions are below the disclosure
thresholds set by the SEC, or the executive
officer or director or his or her family
member does not have a direct or indirect
material interest, as that term is used in
SEC rules, in the transaction.

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

Any stockholder or interested party who
wishes to communicate with the Alaska Air
Group Board of Directors or any specific
directors, including the lead director (who
presides over executive sessions of the non-
employee directors) or with the non-
employee directors as a group, may write to:

Board of Directors
Alaska Air Group, Inc.
PO Box 68947
Seattle, WA 98168

Depending on the subject matter,
management will:

• forward the communication to the director
or directors to whom it is addressed (for
example, if the communication received
deals with questions, concerns or
complaints regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls and auditing matters,

it will be forwarded by management to the
chair of the Audit Committee for review);

• attempt to handle the inquiry directly (for
example, where it is a request for
information about the Company’s
operations or it is a stock-related matter
that does not appear to require direct
attention by the Board or any individual
director); or

• not forward the communication if it is
primarily commercial in nature or if it
relates to an improper or irrelevant topic.

At each meeting of the Governance and
Nominating Committee, the Corporate
Secretary presents a summary of all
communications received since the last
meeting of the Governance and Nominating
Committee and will make those
communications available to any director on
request.
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INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Selection of Independent Accountants for the
Current Fiscal Year

The Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors has selected, and is
recommending that stockholders ratify,
KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) as the Company’s
independent accountants for the 2013 fiscal

year. KPMG also served as the Company’s
independent accountants for fiscal 2012.
Representatives of KPMG are expected to
attend the meeting to respond to questions
from stockholders and will have the
opportunity to make a statement, if they
wish to do so.

Fees Paid to Independent Accountants

During fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company retained KPMG as its principal
auditors. The independent accountants provided services in the following categories and
amounts:

2012 KPMG LLP

Audit Fees for the Company’s Annual Financial Statements and Quarterly Reviews(1) 1,072,500

Audit-Related Fees(2) 151,800

Tax Fees(3) —

All Other Fees(4) 20,000

Total Fees for 2012 1,244,300

2011 KPMG LLP

Audit Fees for the Company’s Annual Financial Statements and Quarterly Reviews(1) 1,084,650

Audit-Related Fees(2) 152,414

Tax Fees(3) 3,722

All Other Fees(4) 20,000

Total Fees for 2011 1,260,786

2010 KPMG LLP

Audit Fees for the Company’s Annual Financial Statements and Quarterly Reviews(1) 1,011,950

Audit-Related Fees(2) 142,216

Tax Fees(3) 17,366

All Other Fees(4) 25,000

Total Fees for 2010 1,196,532
(1) Audit fees represent the arranged fees for the years presented, including the annual audit of internal controls

as mandated under Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404, and out-of-pocket expenses reimbursed during the respective
year.

(2) Consists of fees paid in connection with the audit of Air Group’s employee benefit plans in all years.

(3) Consists of fees paid for professional services in connection with tax consulting related to specific aircraft
leasing and acquisition matters. These services were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

(4) Consists of fees paid for professional services in connection with (i) the audit of passenger facility charges and
examination of related controls, and (ii) the examination of agreed-upon procedures for the U.S. Citizenship
and Immigration Services.
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The Audit Committee has considered
whether the provision of the non-audit
services referenced above is compatible
with maintaining the independence of the
Company’s independent accountants, and
has determined that it does not impact the
independence of the accountants.

Independent Auditor Engagement Policy

The Audit Committee has established and
annually reviews an Independent Accountant
Engagement Policy designed to ensure that
the Company’s independent accountant
performs its services independently and with
the highest integrity and professionalism. In
addition to certain specific prohibited
services, the Audit Committee considers
whether any service provided by the
independent accountants may impair the
firm’s independence in fact or appearance.

The policy provides that any engagement of
the Company’s outside accountant must be
consistent with principles determined by the
SEC, namely, whether the independent
accountant is capable of exercising impartial
judgment on all issues encompassed within
the accountant’s engagement.

Permitted services under the policy include
audit services, audit-related services, certain
tax services and certain other services
not prohibited by SEC rules or other federal

regulations. Before retaining its independent
accountant for non-audit services, the Audit
Committee will consider factors such as
whether the services might compromise the
accountant’s independence, whether the
accountant is the best provider for the
services, and the appropriate proportion of
audit to non-audit services.

All services must be pre-approved by the
Audit Committee except for certain services
other than audit, review, or attest services
that meet the “de minimis exception” under
17 CFR Section 210.2-01, namely:

• the aggregate amount of fees paid for all
such services is not more than 5% of the
total fees paid by the Company to its
accountant during the fiscal year in which
the services are provided;

• such services were not recognized by the
Company at the time of the engagement
to be non-audit services; and

• such services are promptly brought to the
attention of the Audit Committee and
approved prior to the completion of the
audit.

During fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010,
there were no such services that were
performed pursuant to the “de minimis
exception.”

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The following report of the Audit Committee
shall not be deemed to be soliciting material
or to be filed with the SEC under the
Exchange Act, as amended, or incorporated
by reference in any document so filed.

Review of Our Company’s Audited Financial
Statements

The Audit Committee has reviewed and
discussed with management and KPMG, the

Company’s independent accountants, the
Company’s audited financial statements
included in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2012. The Committee
believes that management maintains an
effective system of internal controls that
results in fairly presented financial
statements.
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The Audit Committee has discussed with
KPMG the matters required under the
statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as
amended (AICPA Professional Standards,
Vol. 1, AU section 380), as adopted by the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.

The Committee has also received and
reviewed the written disclosures and the
KPMG letter required by PCAOB Rule 3526,
Communicating with Audit Committees
Concerning Independence, and has
discussed with KPMG their independence.

Based on the review and discussions
described above, the Audit Committee
recommended to the Board of Directors that
the audited financial statements be included
in Alaska Air Group’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2012.

Audit Committee Charter

The Audit Committee has adopted a written
charter, which is posted on the Company’s
website at www.alaskaair.com. It describes
the roles of the Audit Committee and the
independent accountants (for which the
Audit Committee approves the appointment
and compensation and whom the Committee
oversees). In addition, it describes the Audit
Committee’s relationship to internal audit

and the Committee’s responsibilities with
regard to assessing the Company’s internal
controls and enterprise risk.

Audit Committee Independence and Financial
Expertise

All members of the Audit Committee meet
the independence, financial literacy and
experience requirements of the New York
Stock Exchange and of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The SEC requires
that at least one member qualify as a
“financial expert” as defined pursuant to the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Ms. Bedient’s
experience as a public company chief
financial officer and former partner of a
global accounting firm and Mr. Yeaman’s
experience as a chief financial officer of a
public company qualify each of them as
financial experts.

Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Patricia M. Bedient, Chair
Marion C. Blakey, Member(1)

Dennis F. Madsen, Member
Eric K. Yeaman, Member(1)

(1) Ms. Blakey served on the Audit
Committee through November 7, 2012,
at which time Mr. Yeaman became a
member of the Committee.
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2012 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table presents information regarding the compensation paid for 2012 to
members of our Board of Directors who are not also our employees (non-employee directors).
The compensation paid to Mr. Ayer and Mr. Tilden, who are also our employees, is presented
in the Summary Compensation Table and the related explanatory tables. Neither Mr. Ayer nor
Mr. Tilden receives additional compensation for his service as a director.

Name
(a)

Fees
Earned
or Paid
in Cash
($) (1)

(b)

Stock
Awards
($) (2)

(c)

Option
Awards
($) (2)

(d)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($) (2)
(e)

Change in
Pension Value

and
Non-qualified

Deferred
Compensation

Earnings
($) (2)

(f)

All Other
Compensation

($) (3)
(g)

Total
($)
(h)

Patricia M. Bedient 53,008 46,000 — — — 5,082 104,090
Marion C. Blakey 50,008 46,000 — — — 1,512 97,520
Phyllis J. Campbell 60,008 46,000 — — — 26,392 132,400
Jessie J. Knight, Jr. 45,008 46,000 — — — 5,191 96,199
R. Marc Langland 45,008 46,000 — — — 16,755 107,763
Dennis F. Madsen 45,008 46,000 — — — 11,133 102,141
Byron I. Mallott 45,008 46,000 — — — 27,964 118,972
J. Kenneth Thompson 50,008 46,000 — — — 17,463 113,471
Eric K. Yeaman 22,031 23,000 — — — — 45,031

(1) Directors received an annual cash retainer of $43,000. In addition, the compensation for non-employee
directors included the following:

• an annual retainer of $10,000 to the Lead Director, who is also the Governance and Nominating
Committee chair;

• an annual retainer of $8,000 to the Audit Committee chair and $5,000 to the Compensation and
Leadership Development, Governance and Nominating, and Safety Committee chairs;

• an annual retainer of $1,000 to non-employee directors for service on the boards of Alaska Airlines or
Horizon Air;

• reimbursement of expenses in connection with attending board and committee meetings as well as
expenses in connection with director education.

(2) In addition to the annual cash retainer, non-employee directors were granted deferred stock units under the
2008 Performance Incentive Plan, with the number of fully vested stock units determined by dividing $46,000
by the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of the annual stockholders meeting. The
stock units will be paid in shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis following the termination of the
director’s service as a member of the Board.

As of December 31, 2012, non-employee directors each held 4,652 fully vested deferred stock units with the
exception of Ms. Blakey and Mr. Yeaman, who held 3,270 and 554 fully vested deferred stock units,
respectively. See discussion of these awards in Note 11 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
included as part of the Company’s 2012 Annual Report filed on Form 10-K with the SEC and incorporated
herein by reference. The non-employee directors do not hold any outstanding stock options.

Alaska Air Group directors do not participate in any non-equity incentive compensation plans, nor do they
participate in a nonqualified deferred compensation plan. Directors do not receive pension benefits for their
service.
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(3) As part of each director’s compensation, the non-employee director and the non-employee director’s spouse
were provided transportation on Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air. Included in the All Other Compensation column
for each non-employee director is the incremental cost to the Company of providing these benefits. Positive-
space travel is a benefit unique to the airline industry. By providing this travel without tax consequences to
non-employee directors, the Company is able to deliver a highly valued benefit at a low cost, and believes this
benefit encourages non-employee directors to travel, thus enhancing their connection to the Alaska Airlines
and Horizon Air products and services. The All Other Compensation column (g) includes the value of
reimbursements for taxes on the transportation benefits provided to each director.

DIRECTOR STOCK OWNERSHIP POLICY

The Company expects directors to act in the
Company’s best interests regardless of the
number of shares they own. However, in
2012, the Board of Directors revised its
share ownership policy for its members.
Each non-employee director is expected to
hold shares of Company stock having a
value equal to at least three times the

director’s annual cash retainer, such
ownership to be achieved within five years of
joining the Board. Deferred stock units held
by directors, which are 100% vested at
grant, will count toward the holding
requirement even though they will not be
issued until directors resign from the Board.
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Compensation Discussion and Analysis
(CD&A) section of the proxy statement
explains how our executive compensation
programs are structured and the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee’s rationale for decisions
regarding pay level and mix.

Executive Summary

This CD&A contains a discussion of the
material elements of compensation earned
during 2012 by the Company’s Named
Executive Officers listed in the Summary
Compensation Table: Bradley D. Tilden,
president and chief executive officer of
Alaska Air Group beginning May 2012;
Brandon S. Pedersen, chief financial officer
of Alaska Air Group; Keith Loveless, general
counsel and corporate secretary of Alaska
Air Group; Glenn S. Johnson, president of
operating subsidiary Horizon Air Industries
and executive vice president of Alaska Air
Group; Benito Minicucci, chief operating
officer of Alaska Airlines; and William S.
Ayer, chief executive officer until May 2012.
The CD&A includes a discussion of the
following:

• Objectives of our Executive
Compensation Program

• Our Compensation Philosophy

• How Executive Compensation is
Determined

• Current Executive Pay Elements
– Base Pay, Including Peer Group

CEO Pay Comparisons
– Performance-Based Annual Pay
– Long-Term Equity Pay
– Perquisites, Retirement Benefits

and Deferred Compensation

• Changes in Compensation in Connection
with Leadership Transition

• Policies on Executive Stock Ownership
and Prohibition of Speculative
Transactions

• Recoupment of Certain Compensation
Payments

• Agreements Regarding Change in
Control and Termination

The structure of the Company’s executive
compensation program is designed to
compensate executives appropriately and
competitively and to drive superior
performance. Because the Named Executive
Officers are primarily responsible for the
overall execution of the Company’s strategy,
a high percentage of their total direct
compensation is variable and tied to
Company performance, thereby providing
incentives to achieve goals that help create
value for stockholders. Highlights of the
program include:

• For 2012, the Committee approved
target-level compensation for Mr. Tilden
that is 89% variable and tied to
stockholder value creation. Included in
Mr. Tilden’s 2012 compensation is a
one-time grant of performance stock
units in connection with his election to
CEO. With respect to the other Named
Executive Officers (with the exception of
Mr. Ayer, who served only a partial year
as CEO), the Committee approved target
compensation that is, on average, 70%
variable and tied to stockholder value
creation.

• Executives’ bonuses under the
Company’s annual incentive program are
based on the achievement of specific
performance objectives (broadly
applicable to all employees) that are
established at the beginning of the fiscal
year by the Committee and are capped at
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a specified maximum amount. As
illustrated in the “2012 Performance-
Based Pay Calculation” table, the annual
incentive plan paid out above target this
year primarily as a result of record
profitability and excellent safety and
customer satisfaction scores.

• Executives’ equity incentive awards
generally consist of a combination of
stock options, time-based restricted
stock unit awards, and restricted stock
unit awards that vest only if specified
performance levels are achieved. For
2010 and 2011, annual performance-
based awards vest based on the
Company’s total shareholder return
relative to that of a peer group of
companies. For 2012, the vesting of
these awards is based 50% on
shareholder return relative to a peer
group and 50% relative to the Standard
and Poors 500 Index. Tying these
rewards to total stockholder return
ensures that an executive’s opportunity
to benefit under the award is directly
linked to the creation of value for
stockholders. To further enhance the link
between the interests of executives and
stockholders, all of the Company’s
elected officers are expected to hold, at
a minimum, a specified level of Company
stock as set forth in the Company’s
stock ownership policy. As of the record
date, Mr. Tilden held Company stock
valued at more than ten times his annual
salary, exceeding the holding
requirement set in the stock ownership
policy.

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee has reviewed its
compensation programs for executives and
for non-executives and believes that

compensation is structured in a way that
does not create risks that would be
reasonably likely to have a material, adverse
effect on the Company.

Objectives of our Executive Compensation
Program

The objectives of the executive
compensation programs, as determined by
the Alaska Air Group Board Compensation
and Leadership Development Committee,
are as follows:

• to attract and retain highly qualified
executives who share the Company’s
values and commitment to its strategic
plan by designing the total compensation
package to be competitive with an
appropriate peer group;

• to motivate executives to provide
excellent leadership and achieve
Company goals by linking incentive pay
to the achievement of specific targets
that are reflected in the short-term
incentive Performance-Based Pay Plan
and the Company’s strategic plan;

• to align the interests of executives,
employees, and stockholders by tying a
large portion of our executives’ total
direct compensation (defined as base
salary, short-term incentive pay and
equity awards) to the achievement of
objective goals related to the Company’s
financial performance, safety record,
cost structure, and customer
satisfaction; and

• to provide executives with reasonable
security to motivate them to continue
employment with the Company and
achieve goals that will help the Company
remain competitive and thrive for the
long term.
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Compensation Philosophy

For the Named Executive Officers, the
Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee will generally set base salary at
approximately the 25th percentile and
provide executives an opportunity to achieve
total direct compensation at the 50th

percentile if annual and long-term incentive
targets are reached, and to surpass the 50th

percentile if those targets are exceeded.
Base salary for other elected officers will be
targeted between the 25th and the 50th

percentiles with an opportunity to earn total
direct compensation at the 50th percentile if
annual and long-term incentives are
reached, and to surpass the 50th percentile
if those targets are exceeded.

How Executive Compensation is
Determined

The Role of the Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee and Consultants

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee determines and
approves the Named Executive Officers’
compensation. For 2012, the Committee
retained Mercer Consulting, LLP (Mercer), a
wholly owned subsidiary of Marsh &
McLennan Companies, Inc., to assist the
Committee with its responsibilities related to
the Company’s executive and board of
director compensation programs. In addition
to serving as consultant to the Committee,
Mercer also provided other services to the
Company relating to the Company’s
employee benefit plans, including broad-
based plans maintained for the benefit of
employees generally as well as certain
supplemental retirement plans maintained
for the Company’s executive officers and
other highly compensated employees. In
2012, Mercer received approximately
$95,000 from the Company in connection
with its consulting services for the

Committee and approximately $760,600 for
other services related to Company benefit
plans, of which approximately $388,000
was for services related to broad-based
plans maintained for employees generally.
The decision to engage Mercer to provide
these other services was made by
management. Although the Committee did
not specifically approve all of these
engagements, the Committee believes that
the additional services provided by Mercer
with respect to the Company’s benefit plans
do not prevent Mercer from being objective
in its work for the Committee for the
following reasons:

• the consultant receives no incentive or
other compensation based on the fees
charged to the Company for other
services provided by Mercer or its
affiliates;

• the consultant is not responsible for
selling other Mercer or affiliate services
to the Company;

• Mercer’s professional standards prohibit
the individual consultant from considering
any other relationships Mercer or any of
its affiliates may have with the Company
in rendering advice or recommendations;

• the consultant has direct access to the
Committee without management
intervention; and

• the Committee has sole authority to
retain and terminate the consultant.

In addition to considering the value of other
services Mercer provides the Company and
the safeguards maintained by Mercer to
prevent a conflict of interest, the Committee
also took into consideration the fact that the
total fees paid by the Company represent
less than 0.1% of 2012 total annual
revenues for Mercer’s parent company,
Marsh & McLennan; that the Mercer
consultants retained by the Committee have
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no material business or personal
relationship with any member of the
Committee or with any executive officer of
Alaska Air Group; and that the Mercer
consultants do not own shares of Alaska Air
Group common stock.

Notwithstanding the Committee’s opinion
that 1) Mercer is organized to prevent a
conflict of interest, and 2) using the value of
other services provided as a one-
dimensional measure does not in itself
constitute a good test of independence,
beginning in 2013, the Committee has
retained Meridian Compensation Partners,
LLC as its independent compensation
consultant. Meridian provides no other
services to the Company.

When determining executive compensation,
the Committee considers input from a
variety of sources as well as several other
factors described below.

How the Elements of Our Executive
Compensation Program Were Selected

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee conducts periodic
reviews of the Company’s executive
compensation to ensure that it is structured
to satisfy the Committee’s objectives. The
Committee considers how each component
of compensation motivates executives to
help the Company achieve its performance
goals and how it promotes retention of
executives who share the Company’s
values. The compensation structure is
designed to promote initiative,
resourcefulness and teamwork by key
employees whose performance and
responsibilities directly affect the
performance of the business.

The Committee uses both fixed
compensation and variable performance-

based compensation to achieve a balanced
program that is competitive and provides
appropriate incentives. Base salaries,
benefits, perquisites, retirement benefits,
and change-in-control benefits are intended
to attract and retain highly qualified
executives and are paid out on a short-term
or current basis. Annual incentives and long-
term equity-based incentives are intended to
motivate executives to achieve specific
performance objectives.

The Committee believes that this mix of
short-term and long-term compensation
allows it to achieve dual goals of attracting
and retaining highly qualified executives and
providing meaningful performance incentives
for those executives.

Deterrents to Excessive Risk Taking

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee believes it has
designed the overall compensation program
in such a way as to deter excessive risk
taking, to encourage executives to focus on
the long-term success of the Company and
to align the interests of executives with
those of stockholders by:

• encompassing several different financial
and operational goals;

• overlapping the performance periods of
awards;

• incorporating short-term and long-term
performance periods of varying lengths;

• capping short-term cash incentives;

• allowing Committee discretion to reduce
amounts otherwise payable under certain
awards;

• scaling compensation to our industry;

• considering internal equity among
Company executives; and

• reflecting the current business challenges
facing the Company.
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Executive Pay Mix and the Emphasis on
Variable Pay

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee believes that
emphasis on variable compensation at the
senior executive levels of the Company is a
key element in achieving a pay-for-
performance culture and in aligning
management’s interests with those of the
Company’s stockholders. At the same time,
the Committee believes that the executive
compensation program provides meaningful
incentives for executives while balancing risk
and reward. When determining target
executive pay, the Committee attempts to
ensure that compensation is closely aligned
with the overall strategy of the Company and
that it motivates executives to achieve
superior performance and stockholder returns.

Total direct compensation for our Named
Executive Officers is tailored to place a
substantial emphasis on pay that is variable
and tied to performance objectives. For
2012, the Committee approved target-level
compensation for Mr. Tilden that is 89%
variable and tied to stockholder value
creation. With respect to the other Named
Executive Officers (with the exception of
Mr. Ayer), the Committee approved target
compensation that is on average 70%
variable and tied to stockholder value
creation. Mr. Ayer was CEO through May 15,

2012, after which he served as executive
chairman of the Board. His compensation
was reduced in light of the mid-year change
in his responsibilities, and his target
compensation for 2012 was 58% variable.

The Use of Benchmarking Against a Peer Group

Periodically, the Committee reviews and
analyzes total direct compensation at the
executive level. In analyzing the Named
Executive Officers’ compensation for 2012,
the Committee reviewed the total direct
compensation for executives of a peer group
of air carriers excluding the companies that
ceased reporting compensation data
because they were no longer public.

The following companies represent the peer
group selected by the Committee as a
comparator for determining appropriate
compensation levels for 2012:

• Air Canada
• Allegiant
• AMR Corporation
• Delta Air Lines
• Hawaiian Holdings
• JetBlue Airways
• Republic Airways Holdings
• SkyWest
• Southwest Airlines
• United Airlines/Continental
• US Airways Group
• WestJet

Total Direct Compensation of CEO

11%

89%

Base Pay Variable Pay Base Pay Variable Pay

Total Direct Compensation of Other NEOs

30%

70%
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In general, the Company’s executive
compensation program is designed to
achieve total direct compensation at the
50th percentile of the peer group data for
named executive officers.

The Committee chose to include the
companies named above in its peer group
for the following reasons:

• They represent a group of sufficient size
to present a reasonable indicator of
executive compensation levels.

• They are in the airline industry and their
businesses are similar to the Company’s
business.

• The median annual revenue of this group
approximates the Company’s annual
revenue.

• The Company competes with these peer
companies for talent to fill certain key,
industry-related executive positions.

The Application of Internal Equity
Considerations

In addition to benchmarking against an
industry peer group, the Committee believes
it is appropriate to consider other principles
of compensation, and not accept
“benchmarking” data as the sole basis for
setting compensation levels. Thus, while the
Committee has considered peer group data
as described above, it has also applied other
compensation principles, most notably
internal equity, when determining executive
compensation. At current levels and
excluding the one-time performance award in
connection with his election, Mr. Tilden’s
total direct compensation represents
approximately two times the average total
direct compensation at the executive vice
president level, and approximately five times
that of the vice president level. Including his
one-time performance award, the CEO’s total

direct compensation for 2012 represents
approximately five times that of the executive
vice president level and eight times that of
the vice president level. By considering
internal equity, the Committee remains
mindful of the ratio of CEO-to-employee pay
and, as a result, is able to structure
executive compensation in a way that is less
susceptible to sudden, temporary changes in
market compensation levels.

The Use of Tally Sheets

Annually, the Committee reviews tally sheets
that show each element of compensation for
Named Executive Officers. Base salaries,
incentive plan payments, equity awards,
equity exercises, perquisites, and health
and retirement benefits are included on tally
sheets, which are prepared by the
Company’s corporate affairs and human
resources departments. The Committee has
used the tally sheets to verify that executive
compensation is internally equitable and
proportioned according to the Committee’s
expectations.

The Use of Performance Measures

The Committee uses objective performance
goals in the Performance-Based Pay Plan
(annual cash incentive plan). The Committee
also applies performance measures as a
basis for determining a significant percentage
of long-term equity awards. Annual incentives
and long-term incentives are intended to
motivate executives to achieve superior
performance levels by setting goals that are
tied to the Company’s strategic plan and by
linking executives’ compensation to long-term
stockholder gain. All employee groups at the
Company participated in the Performance-
Based Pay Plan during 2012. The Committee
believes that tying incentive pay to shared
performance targets motivates all employees
across the Company to achieve the same
goals.

44



EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Consideration of Say-on-Pay Advisory Vote

At the May 2012 annual meeting, 97% of
votes cast indicated approval of the advisory
say-on-pay proposal in connection with the
discussion of 2011 compensation. The
Committee believes that the vote outcome
is an indication that stockholders generally
approve of the structure of executive
compensation at Alaska Air Group and,
therefore, the Committee structured
executive compensation for 2012 in a way
that is generally consistent with 2011.
Stockholders will have an opportunity
annually to cast an advisory vote in
connection with executive compensation.

Current Executive Pay Elements

Base Pay

In general, for Named Executive Officers, the
Committee targets base salary levels at the
25th percentile based on peer group data
identified in the review described in this
discussion. For other vice president-level
executives, the Committee targets base
salary levels between the 25th and 50th

percentiles.

The Committee assesses each executive’s
duties and scope of responsibilities, past
performance and expected future
contributions to the Company, the market
demand for the individual’s skills, the
individual’s influence on long-term Company
strategies and success, the individual’s
leadership performance, and internal equity
considerations.

In February 2012, the Committee approved
base salary of $425,000 for Mr. Tilden,
which was below the 25th percentile of
salaries for CEOs in the peer group. The
chart below depicts CEO base salaries at
airline peer group companies.

CEO Base Pay Comparisons (Airlines)

2012 Base Salary

Alaska Air Group $425,000

Base Salary (Air Group peers)*

Air Canada $809,000

Allegiant ** $ 0

AMR Corporation $620,000

Delta Air Lines $600,000

Hawaiian Holdings $600,000

JetBlue Airways $600,000

Republic Airways Holdings $401,000

SkyWest $400,000

Southwest Airlines $649,000

United Airlines/Continental $975,000

US Airways Group $550,000

WestJet $557,000

Average Base Salary **
(Air Group peers) $632,000

* Amounts are derived from the most recent
compensation data available as of the date of
this Proxy Statement. In most cases, this is the
2011 base salary as reported in the respective
company’s 2012 proxy statement.

** Allegiant’s CEO was granted substantial equity in
lieu of base salary; therefore, Allegiant is not
included in the average for base salary.

The Committee believes it is appropriate to
target the 25th percentile for base salary
levels of the other Named Executive
Officers, with the opportunity to earn market-
level compensation through short- and long-
term incentive plans that pay when
performance objectives are met or to exceed
market levels when performance objectives
are exceeded. In 2012, the Named
Executive Officers received adjustments to
base salary based on market considerations
and changes in their roles.

Performance-Based Annual Pay

The Company’s Named Executive Officers
are eligible to earn annual incentive pay
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under the Performance-Based Pay Plan,
which is intended to motivate executives
and other employees to achieve specific
Company goals. All of the Company’s
employee groups participated in the
Performance-Based Pay Plan during 2012.
The Committee aligns executive
compensation with the Company’s strategic
plan by choosing a target performance level
for each operational or financial goal
(outlined in the “2012 Performance-Based
Pay Metrics” table below) that is consistent
with the Company’s strategic plan goals.

Each participant in the Performance-Based
Pay Plan is assigned a target participation
level that is at about the median level of
target participation levels for similarly
situated executives within the Company’s
peer group and is expressed as a
percentage of the participant’s base salary.
For the Named Executive Officers, the 2012
target participation levels are as follows:

2012 Performance-Based Pay Plan Participation
Rates

Name
Target Participation
as % of Base Salary

Bradley D. Tilden 100%

Brandon S. Pedersen 75%

Keith Loveless 75%

Glenn S. Johnson 75%

Benito Minicucci 75%

William S. Ayer N/A

Incentive award payments may range from
zero to 200% of the Named Executive
Officers’ target based on the achievement of
objective performance standards set by the
Committee at the beginning of each year.
For each performance metric, performance
at the target level will generally result in a
100% payout of the target amount for that
metric, while the payout is generally 200%
for performance at or above the maximum
level and 25% for performance at the
threshold level. The payout percentages are
interpolated for performance between the
levels identified below, but if performance
for a particular metric is below the threshold
level, no payment will be made as to that
metric. The Committee retains discretion to
reduce bonus amounts below the level that
would otherwise be paid. For 2012, the
Performance-Based Pay Plan metrics were
set as follows:
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2012 Performance-Based Pay Metrics

Goal Weight

Threshold Target Maximum

Alaska Horizon Alaska Horizon Alaska Horizon

Operational Performance

Safety 10%

• Risk Level 3+ Events* ≤ 7.0 ≤ 7.0 ≤ 5.5 ≤ 5.5 ≤ 3.0 ≤ 3.0

Employee Engagement/Customer
Satisfaction 10%

• Measured by the number of months
we exceed our monthly customer
satisfaction goal

5 mos. 5 mos. 8 mos. 8 mos. 11 mos. 11 mos.

CASM 10%

• Cost per available seat mile excluding
fuel and special items

7.55¢ 12.2¢ 7.45¢ 12.0¢ 7.35¢ 11.8¢

Alaska Air Group Profitability

Adjusted Pretax Profit** 70% $250 million $475 million $700 million

* Safety Risk Level 3+ events are measured per 10,000 departures. These are events that elevate risk to the
operation and include such things as significant damage to aircraft or other assets, injuries to employees or
customers, or a significant reduction in safety.

** Adjusted pre-tax profit means the net income of Alaska Air Group as computed by Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and adjusted for “Excluded Items” and “Alternative Accounting Treatments.”
“Excluded Items” means (a) income taxes, (b) pretax expense under any Alaska Air Group (or subsidiary) profit
sharing, performance-based pay, operational performance rewards, variable pay, or similar programs as
determined in the discretion of the Compensation and Leadership Development Committee, and (c) special
income or expense items that, in the discretion of the Committee, should be excluded because recognizing
them would not appropriately serve the goals of the Plan. These may include, without limitation, gain or loss on
disposition of capital assets, impairments or other fleet exit costs, expenses from voluntary or involuntary
severance programs, government refunds or assistance, and the cumulative effect of accounting changes.
“Alternative Accounting Treatments” means expense or income items that, for purposes of calculating
adjusted pre-tax profit, the Company (or any subsidiary) will account for based on non-GAAP methods because,
in the discretion of the Committee, using GAAP accounting methods would not appropriately serve the goals of
the Plan. These may include, without limitation, fuel hedge accounting on an as-settled basis.
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Annual target performance measures reflect
financial and operational goals that are
consistent with the strategic plan. Maximum
goals reflect superior performance, while
threshold goals generally reflect an
acceptable but minimal level of improvement
over the prior year’s performance. The 2012
Alaska Air Group profitability target of
$475 million corresponded to a forecasted
2012 return on invested capital (ROIC) of
10.4%. The Company’s goal is to achieve an
average 10% ROIC over the business cycle,
which the Company believes will allow it to
grow profitably. The safety and employee
engagement measures were set at levels
the Committee believes will drive continuous
improvement and maintain the Company’s
reputation as a leader in the industry in
these areas. The cost per available seat
mile excluding fuel and special items
(CASM) metric was similarly chosen to
support the Company’s achievement of its
strategic plan. The non-ticket passenger
revenue modifier (shown below) is aligned
with Alaska Air Group’s overall operational
performance goals and helps balance the
incentives in the Performance-Based Pay
Plan.

The Committee believes that using adjusted
measures, such as CASM (excluding fuel

and special items) and adjusted pre-tax
profit, rather than GAAP measures more
closely ties results to elements of
performance that can be controlled by the
decisions and actions of employees, thereby
providing a more direct link between
performance and reward. In addition, by
removing the short-term impact of certain
business decisions (such as the gain or loss
on disposition of capital assets), the use of
adjusted measures encourages executives
to make decisions that are in the best
interest of the Company over the long term.

A modifier feature of the Performance-Based
Pay Plan provides the opportunity to add or
subtract up to ten percentage points based
on Alaska Air Group’s non-ticket passenger
revenue per passenger. Non-ticket
passenger revenue includes fees for such
things as first-class upgrades, baggage,
ticketing changes, onboard food and
beverage, and other services not included in
the base fare. This measure was intended
to reinforce the Company’s 2012 strategic
goal of increasing revenues. The non-ticket
passenger revenue modifier is aligned with
each subsidiary’s operational performance
goals and helps balance the incentives in
the Performance-Based Pay Plan. The
performance measures are detailed below:

2012 Modifier to Performance-Based Pay

Alaska Air Group Non-Ticket Passenger Revenue Per Passenger Performance Goal
-10 pts -8 pts -6 pts -4 pts -2 pts No Adj. +2 pts + 4 pts +6 pts +8 pts +10 pts

11.20 11.30 11.40 11.50 11.60 11.70 11.80 11.90 12.00 12.10 12.20
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Following is an example of the calculation of the 2012 Performance-Based Pay Plan payout for
an Alaska Airlines executive:

2012 Performance-Based Pay Calculation*

Metrics Actual
% of Target
Achieved Weight Payout %

Safety Risk Level 3+ Events 1.0 200.0% 10.0% 20.0%
Employee Engagement/Customer Satisfaction 12 months 200.0% 10.0% 20.0%

CASM 7.56¢ — 10.0% —
Alaska Air Group Profitability $645 million 175.6% 70.0% 122.9%

Non-Ticket Passenger Revenue Modifier $ 11.70 — —

Total Payout % 162.9%

Participation Rate** x 75.0%
Payout as a % of Base Salary = 122.2%

* Based on Alaska Airlines’ performance.

** Participation rates vary by position. The participation rate used in this example is for one of the Named
Executive Officers.

The Performance-Based Pay Plan has paid out as follows since its inception:

20%

46%

61%

106%

149.7%

108%

149.6%

21.2%

182.7%
188.2%184.7%

134.7% 132.1%

162.9% 162.9%

0%

20%

40%

80%

200%

180%

160%

140%

120%

100%

60%

History of Performance-Based Pay

20
04

 A
la

sk
a

20
04

 H
oriz

on

20
05

 A
la

sk
a

20
05

 H
oriz

on

20
06

 A
la

sk
a

20
06

 H
oriz

on

20
07

 H
oriz

on

20
09

 H
oriz

on

20
10

 H
oriz

on

20
11

 H
oriz

on

20
09

 A
la

sk
a

20
10

 A
la

sk
a

20
11

 A
la

sk
a

20
12

 H
oriz

on

20
12

 A
la

sk
a

20
08

 H
oriz

on

20
08

 A
la

sk
a

20
07

 A
la

sk
a

% of Target

166.0%
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51.9%

Alaska average – 114%  

Horizon average – 116%  

In addition, all of the Company’s employees,
including the executive officers, participate

in a separate incentive plan called
Operational Performance Rewards, which
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pays a monthly incentive of $100 to all
employees when certain operational
performance targets are met. Awards are
based on the achievement of on-time
performance and customer satisfaction
goals, and the maximum annual payout for
each employee is $1,200.

Long-Term Equity-Based Pay

Long-term equity incentive awards that link
executive pay to stockholder value are an
important element of the Company’s
executive compensation program. Long-term
equity incentives that vest over three- or
four-year periods are awarded annually,
resulting in overlapping vesting periods. The
awards are designed to discourage short-
term risk taking and are primarily intended
to align Named Executive Officers’ interests
with those of stockholders. In addition,
equity awards help attract and retain top-
performing executives who fit a team-
oriented and performance-driven culture.

Stock Options

The Company grants a portion of its long-
term incentive awards to Named Executive
Officers in the form of stock options with an
exercise price that is equal to the fair
market value of the Company’s common
stock on the grant date. Thus, the Named
Executive Officers will realize value from
their stock options only to the degree that
Air Group stockholders would realize value if
they purchased shares and held them for
the same period the executive holds his or
her stock options. The stock options also
function as a retention incentive for
executives, as they generally vest ratably
over a four-year period on each anniversary
of the grant date.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company also grants long-term incentive
awards to Named Executive Officers in the

form of restricted stock units. Subject to the
executive’s continued employment with the
Company, the restricted stock units
generally vest on the third anniversary of the
date they are granted and, upon vesting, are
paid in shares of Air Group common stock.
The units provide a long-term retention
incentive through the vesting period that is
not dependent solely on stock price
appreciation. The units are designed to
further link executives’ interests with those
of Air Group’s stockholders, as the value of
the units is based on the value of Air Group
common stock.

Performance Stock Units

The Company also grants the Named
Executive Officers performance stock units
annually as part of the long-term equity-
based incentive program. The performance
stock units vest only if the Company
achieves performance goals established by
the Committee for the performance period
covered by the award. Performance stock
units also provide a retention incentive as
the executive generally must be employed
through the performance period for the units
to vest.

Grants were made for the three-year
performance periods beginning in January
2010, 2011 and 2012. In 2010 and 2011,
performance stock units were tied to total
shareholder return (TSR) as compared to an
industry peer group. These performance
stock units help to further link the interests
of executives with those of our stockholders
as the vesting of the units depends on the
Company’s TSR, and the ultimate value of
any portion of the award that vests depends
on the value of the Company’s common
stock. Beginning in 2012, performance
stock unit awards were based 50% on the
Company’s TSR performance relative to
S&P 500 companies and 50% relative to the
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following industry peer group: Air Canada,
Allegiant, AMR Corporation, Delta Air Lines,
Hawaiian Holdings, JetBlue Airways,
Republic Airways Holdings, SkyWest,
Southwest Airlines, United Airlines/
Continental, US Airways Group, and WestJet.
(The Committee may adjust the peer group
as it deems appropriate or if one or more of
the peer airlines cease to be publicly traded
companies.)

The Committee chose TSR as the
performance measure for these awards to
provide additional incentive for executives to
help create stockholder value. Given the
nature of the airline business, the Committee
believes that measuring TSR on a relative
basis rather than on an absolute basis
provides a more relevant reflection of the
Company’s performance by mitigating the
impact of various macro-economic factors
that tend to affect the entire industry and
that are largely beyond the control of
executives. The Committee believes that also
measuring the Company’s performance
relative to the broad market encourages
executives to manage the Company in such a
way as to attract a broader range of
investors. The percentage of the performance
stock units that vest may range from 0% to
200% of the target number of units subject to
the award, depending on the Company’s
goals for the performance period.

Equity Award Guidelines

The Committee considers and generally
follows equity grant guidelines that are

based on the target total direct
compensation levels and pay mix described
above. Target equity grants, when combined
with the base salary and annual target
incentive opportunity described above, are
designed to achieve total direct
compensation at the 50th percentile of the
peer group data for Named Executive
Officers. The Committee may adjust equity
grants to the Named Executive Officers
above or below these target levels based on
the Committee’s general assessment of:

• the individual’s contribution to the
success of the Company’s financial
performance;

• internal pay equity;

• the individual’s performance of job
responsibilities; and

• the accounting impact to the Company
and potential dilution effects of the
grant.

The Committee believes that stock options,
time-based restricted stock units and
performance stock units each provide
incentives that are important to the
Company’s executive compensation program
as a whole. Therefore, the Committee
generally allocates approximately the same
amount of grant-date value (based on the
principles used in the Company’s financial
reporting) of each executive’s total equity
incentive award to each of these three types
of awards.
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2012 Equity Awards

For 2012, the guidelines applied to the Named Executive Officers are noted in the table
below:

Equity Award Guidelines

Equity
Target

as a % of
Base Pay

Equity Mix

Name
Stock

Options

Restricted
Stock
Units

Performance
Stock
Units

Bradley D. Tilden 300% 34% 33% 33%

Brandon S. Pedersen 150% 34% 33% 33%

Keith Loveless 200% 34% 33% 33%

Glenn S. Johnson 200% 34% 33% 33%

Benito Minicucci 200% 34% 33% 33%

William S. Ayer N/A* 100%
* Mr. Ayer received a grant of restricted stock units valued at $46,000, which is the same value of the stock units

awarded to other board members as part of their annual director compensation.

Special Equity Awards

The Committee retains discretion to make
other equity awards at such times and on
such terms as it considers appropriate to
help achieve the goals of the Company’s
executive compensation program.

In 2012, the Committee awarded Mr. Tilden
an additional 45,460 performance stock
units in connection with his election as
CEO of the Company. The award, which was
included with Mr. Tilden’s annual grant and
has a three-year performance period,
represents four times Mr. Tilden’s 2012
base salary if target goals are met, and can
range from 0% if threshold performance is
not reached to 200% of target if maximum
performance is achieved. The performance
goals are based 50% on TSR relative to the
Company’s peer group and 50% on
TSR relative to the Standard and Poors
500 Index, and are designed to pay out in
proportion to the degree to which similarly
invested stockholders would be rewarded.

In 2013, the Committee made a one-time
special performance award to certain key

executives of the Company, including
Mr. Pedersen. The award represents
approximately two times base salary at
target and is designed to motivate
executives to achieve specific financial and
operational results that will drive superior
financial results over the three-year period
ending December 2015. Payouts under the
terms of the award are tied to ROIC, unit
cost and on-time performance goals and are
aligned with the Company’s long-term
strategic plan.

Perquisites and Personal Benefits

An annual amount equal to 12% of base
salary is paid to each Named Executive
Officer in lieu of all perquisites except for
travel, life insurance, health exams, and
accidental death and dismemberment
insurance.

Retirement Benefits/Deferred Compensation

The Company provides retirement benefits
to the Named Executive Officers under the
terms of qualified and non-qualified defined-

52



EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

benefit and defined-contribution retirement
plans. The Retirement Plan for Salaried
Employees (the “Salaried Retirement Plan”)
and the Company’s 401(k) plans are tax-
qualified retirement plans that Mr. Tilden,
Mr. Loveless, Mr. Johnson and Mr. Ayer
participate in on substantially the same
terms as other participating employees. Due
to maximum limitations imposed by the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974 and the Internal Revenue Code on the
annual amount of a pension which may be
paid under a qualified defined-benefit plan,
the benefits that would otherwise be
provided to these executives under the
Salaried Retirement Plan are required to be
limited. An unfunded defined-benefit plan,
the 1995 Elected Officers Supplementary
Retirement Plan (the “Supplementary
Retirement Plan”), provides make-up
benefits plus supplemental retirement
benefits. In lieu of the supplementary
retirement defined-benefit plan,
Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci participate
in a defined-contribution plan under the
Company’s Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Plan and the Company’s
Supplementary Retirement Defined
Contribution Plan.

The Named Executive Officers are also
permitted to elect to defer up to 100% of
their annual Performance-Based Pay
payments under the Company’s Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Plan. The Company
believes that providing deferred
compensation opportunities is a cost-
effective way to permit executives to receive
the tax benefits associated with delaying the
income tax event on the compensation
deferred. The interest earned on this
deferred compensation is similar to what an
ordinary investor could earn in the market.

Please see the tables under “Pension and
Other Retirement Plans” and “2012

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation” and
the information following the tables for a
description of these plans.

Changes in 2012 Compensation in
Connection with Leadership Transition

Mr. Tilden was elected CEO effective
May 15, 2012, replacing Mr. Ayer, who
continues to serve as executive chairman of
the Board. In connection with Mr. Tilden’s
election, the Committee approved an award
of performance stock units with a grant date
fair value equal to 400% of his base salary.
The Committee set Mr. Ayer’s 2012 annual
salary at $103,000, commensurate with the
reduction in his responsibilities during the
leadership transition. Mr. Ayer continues to
be eligible to receive annual equity awards,
but at a level consistent with the value of
equity received by the Company’s non-
employee board members.

Stock Ownership Policy

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee believes that
requiring significant stock ownership by
executives further aligns their interests with
those of long-term stockholders. In 2012,
the Committee revised the Company’s stock
ownership policy for elected officers. Under
the revised policy, within five years of
election, each executive officer must
beneficially own a number of shares of the
Company’s common stock with a fair market
value equal to or in excess of a specified
multiple of the individual’s base salary as
follows:

• the CEO is required to acquire and hold
Company stock with a value of five times
base salary; and

• the other Named Executive Officers are
required to acquire and hold Company
stock with a value of two to three times
base salary, depending on their
respective levels of responsibility.
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Executives are required to retain 50% of any
shares of common stock acquired in
connection with the vesting of restricted
stock units and performance stock units
until the holding target is reached.
Unexercised stock options, unvested
restricted stock units and unvested
performance stock units do not count toward
satisfaction of the ownership requirements.
The Committee reviews compliance with this
requirement annually.

Prohibition of Speculative Transactions in
Company Securities

Our insider trading policy prohibits our
executive officers, including the Named
Executive Officers, from engaging in certain
speculative transactions in the Company’s
securities, including engaging in short-term
trading, short sales, publicly traded options
(such as puts, calls or other derivative
securities), margin accounts, pledges or
hedging transactions.

Recoupment of Certain Compensation
Payments

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee has adopted a
policy whereby, in such circumstances as it,
in its sole discretion, determines to be
appropriate, it will obtain reimbursement or
effect cancellation of all or a portion of any
short- or long-term cash or equity incentive
payments or awards to an individual who
qualifies as an executive officer of the
Company for purposes of Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 where:
(1) such payment or award of cash or shares
was made on or after the effective date of
this policy; (2) the amount of or number of
shares included in any such payment or
award was determined based on the
achievement of financial results that were
subsequently the subject of an accounting

restatement due to the individual’s
fraudulent or grossly negligent act or
omission; (3) a lesser payment or award of
cash or shares would have been made to
the individual based upon the restated
financial results; and (4) the payment or
award of cash or shares was received by the
individual prior to or during the 12-month
period following the first public issuance or
filing of the financial results that were
subsequently restated.

Agreements Regarding Change in Control
and Termination

The Company has change-in-control
agreements with the Named Executive
Officers that provide for severance benefits
if the executive’s employment terminates
under certain circumstances in connection
with a change in control.

The Company has entered into change-in-
control agreements with these executives
because it believes that the occurrence, or
potential occurrence, of a change-in-control
transaction would create uncertainty and
disruption during a critical time for the
Company. The payment of cash severance
benefits under the agreements is triggered if
two conditions are met: (1) actual or
constructive termination of employment and
(2) the consummation of a change-in-control
transaction. The Committee believes that
Named Executive Officers should be entitled
to receive cash severance benefits only if
both conditions are met. Once the change-in-
control event occurs, the Named Executive
Officer’s severance and benefits payable
under the contract begin to diminish with
time so long as the executive’s employment
continues, until ultimate expiration of the
agreement 36 months later. In November
2007, the Committee amended its policy
regarding the provision of payments to
executive officers for excise taxes imposed
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under Section 280G such that any new
agreements between the Company and its
executives will not include reimbursement
for Section 280G excise taxes. In
February 2013, the Committee further
revised existing agreements to eliminate any
grandfathered provisions that could have
resulted in a reimbursement for
Section 280G excise taxes. Therefore, none
of the Company’s change-in-control
agreements provide for reimbursement for
excise taxes.

Policy with Respect to Section 162(m)

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue
Code generally prohibits the Company from
deducting certain compensation over
$1 million paid to its CEO and certain other
executive officers unless such
compensation is based on performance

objectives meeting certain criteria or is
otherwise excluded from the limitation. The
Committee strives whenever possible to
structure its compensation plans such that
they are tax-deductible, and it believes that
a substantial portion of compensation paid
under its current program (including the
annual incentives, performance stock units
and stock option grants described above)
satisfies the requirements under
Section 162(m). However, the Committee
reserves the right to design programs that
recognize a full range of performance criteria
important to its success, even where the
compensation paid under such programs
may not be deductible. For 2012, the
Company believes that no portion of its tax
deduction for compensation paid to its
Named Executive Officers will be disallowed
under Section 162(m).

COMPENSATION AND LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE REPORT(1)

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee has certain duties
and powers as described in its charter. The
Committee is currently composed of three
non-employee directors who are named at
the end of this report, each of whom is
independent as defined by the NYSE listing
standards.

The Committee has reviewed and discussed
with management the disclosures contained
in the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis section of this Proxy Statement.

Based upon this review and discussion, the
Committee recommended to our Board of
Directors that the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis section be included in the
Company’s 2012 Annual Report on
Form 10-K on file with the SEC and the
Company’s 2013 Proxy Statement.

Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee of the Board of Directors

J. Kenneth Thompson, Chair
R. Marc Langland, Member
Dennis F. Madsen, Member

(1) SEC filings sometimes incorporate information by reference. This means the Company is referring you to
information that has previously been filed with the SEC and that this information should be considered as part
of the filing you are reading. Unless the Company specifically states otherwise, this report shall not be deemed
to be incorporated by reference and shall not constitute soliciting material or otherwise be considered filed
under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
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COMPENSATION AND LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS
AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

The Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee members whose
names appear on the Compensation and
Leadership Development Committee Report
above were members during all of 2012. No
member of the Committee during 2012 is or
has been an executive officer or employee of
the Company or has had any relationships
requiring disclosure by the Company under
the SEC’s rules requiring disclosure of

certain relationships and related-party
transactions. During 2012, none of the
Company’s executive officers served as a
director or a member of a compensation
committee (or other committee serving an
equivalent function) of any other entity
where the entity’s executive officers also
served as a director or member of the
Company’s Compensation and Leadership
Development Committee.

2012 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table presents information regarding compensation of the CEO, the former CEO,
the CFO and the three other most highly compensated executive officers for services rendered
during 2012. These individuals are referred to as the Named Executive Officers in this Proxy
Statement. As noted above, Mr. Ayer stepped down as CEO of the Company and its subsidiary
carriers, effective at the 2012 annual meeting, and was succeeded in those positions by
Mr. Tilden.

Name and Principal
Position

(a)
Year
(b)

Salary
($)
(c)

Bonus
($)
(d)

Stock
Awards
($)(1)

(e)

Option
Awards
($)(1)

(f)

Non-Equity
Compensation

($)(2)
(g)

Change in
Pension

Value and
Nonqualified

Deferred
Compensation

Earnings
($)(3)

(h)

All Other
Compensation

($)(4)
(i)

Total
($)
(j)

Bradley D. Tilden 2012 419,614 — 3,160,012 442,002 684,528 883,208 102,008 5,691,372
President and CEO, 2011 388,269 — 649,780 336,498 445,649 543,728 87,040 2,450,964
Alaska 2010 370,961 — 578,724 274,345 594,627 319,527 80,522 2,218,706

Brandon S. Pedersen 2012 277,692 — 319,162 145,343 340,308 — 116,999 1,199,504
VP/Finance 2011 260,961 — 176,544 91,052 229,585 — 113,149 871,291
and CFO, Alaska 2010 219,389 — 198,010 46,205 269,578 — 89,003 822,185

Keith Loveless(5) 2012 333,462 — 508,063 144,945 360,836 791,793 73,293 2,212,392
Exec VP and General
Counsel, Alaska

Glenn S. Johnson(6) 2012 320,308 — 517,034 222,992 392,414 564,533 77,203 2,094,484
President, Horizon Air 2011 308,846 — 416,840 214,435 306,889 513,009 74,207 1,834,226
Exec VP, Air Group 2010 299,999 — 1,450,732 176,880 421,269 351,001 68,889 2,768,770

Benito Minicucci 2012 314,038 — 603,820 274,758 384,706 — 120,402 1,697,724
Exec VP/Operations 2011 293,846 — 490,400 257,322 297,958 — 126,567 1,466,093
and COO, Alaska 2010 280,961 — 352,556 167,856 397,776 — 118,663 1,317,812

William S. Ayer 2012 150,538 — 47,120 — 250 422,600 54,941 675,449
Executive Chair and 2011 410,154 — 821,420 425,571 553,577 611,999 93,209 2,915,930
Former CEO, Alaska 2010 395,385 — 1,120,197 697,052 745,314 305,617 93,785 3,357,350

(1) The amounts reported in Columns (e) and (f) of the Summary Compensation Table above reflect the fair value
of these awards on the grant date as determined under the principles used to calculate the value of equity
awards for purposes of the Company’s financial statements (disregarding any estimate of forfeitures related to
service-based vesting conditions). For a discussion of the assumptions and methodologies used to value the
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awards reported in Column (e) and Column (f), please see the discussion of stock awards and option awards
contained in Note 11 (Stock-Based Compensation Plans) to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, included as part of the Company’s 2012 Annual Report filed on Form 10-K with the SEC and
incorporated herein by reference. For information about the stock awards and option awards granted in 2012
to the Named Executive Officers, please see the discussion under “2012 Grants of Plan-Based Awards” below.

The amounts reported in Column (e) of the table above also include the grant date fair value of performance-
based stock unit awards granted in 2010, 2011 and 2012 to the Named Executive Officers based on the
probable outcome (determined as of the grant date) of the performance-based conditions applicable to the
awards. The following table presents the aggregate grant date fair value of these performance-based awards
included in Column (e) for 2010, 2011 and 2012, and the aggregate grant date value of these awards
assuming that the highest level of performance conditions will be achieved.

2010 Performance Awards 2011 Performance Awards 2012 Performance Awards

Name

Aggregate
GrantDate
Fair Value
(Based on
Probable
Outcome)

($)

Aggregate
Grant Date
Fair Value
(Based on
Maximum

Performance)
($)

Aggregate
GrantDate
Fair Value
(Based on
Probable
Outcome)

($)

Aggregate
Grant Date
Fair Value
(Based on
Maximum

Performance)
($)

Aggregate
GrantDate
Fair Value
(Based on
Probable
Outcome)

($)

Aggregate
Grant Date
Fair Value
(Based on
Maximum

Performance)
($)

Bradley D. Tilden 289,362 578,724 324,890 649,780 2,153,080 4,306,160

Brandon S. Pedersen 48,892 97,784 88,272 176,544 140,600 281,200

Keith Loveless(5) 140,600 281,200

Glenn S. Johnson(6) 1,264,476 1,450,732 208,420 416,840 212,800 425,600

Benito Minicucci 176,278 352,557 245,200 490,400 266,000 532,000

William S. Ayer 372,512 745,024 410,710 821,420 — —

(2) Non-Equity Compensation includes Performance-Based Pay compensation and Operational Performance
Rewards, further described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section.

(3) The amount reported in Column (h) of the Summary Compensation Table above reflects the year-over-year
change in present value of accumulated benefits determined as of December 31 of each year for the
Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees and the Officers Supplementary Retirement Plan (defined-benefit plan)
as well as any above-market earnings on each Named Executive Officer’s account under the Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Plan. The increase in pension value during 2012 was significantly higher than usual
because interest rates used to calculate the net present value of future payments fell significantly from the
prior year. The number included in Column (h) is an estimate of the value of future payments and does not
represent value received during 2012. If interest rates rise in future years, the change in the net present value
of future payments would decrease and may even be negative. For Mr. Minicucci and Mr. Pedersen, Company
contributions to the Defined-Contribution Officers Supplementary Retirement Plan (DC-OSRP) in lieu of the
defined-benefit plan are reported in Column (i) and detailed in the table in Footnote (4) below.

(4) The following table presents detailed information on the types and amounts of compensation reported for the
Named Executive Officers in Column (i) of the Summary Compensation Table. For Column (i), each perquisite
and other personal benefit is included in the total and identified and, if it exceeds the greater of $25,000 or
10% of the total amount of perquisites and other benefits for that officer, is quantified in the table below. All
reimbursements of taxes with respect to perquisites and other benefits are identified and quantified. Tax
reimbursements are provided for travel privileges unique to the airline industry. Also included in the total for
Column (i) are the Company’s incremental cost of providing flight benefits, annual physical, and accidental
death and dismemberment insurance premiums. By providing positive-space travel without tax consequences
to Named Executive Officers, we are able to deliver a highly valued benefit at a low cost to the Company. In
addition, we believe that this benefit provides the opportunity for Named Executive Officers to connect with the
Company’s front-line employees. As noted in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section, we pay each
of the Name Executive Officers a perquisite allowance equal to 12% of the executive’s base salary in lieu of
providing perquisites other than those noted above.
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Itemization of All Other Compensation (Column i)

Term Life
Insurance

Name

Company
Contribution
to 401(k)
Account

Company
Contribution
to DC-OSRP

Account
Executive
Allowance Premium

Tax on
Premium

Medical
Insurance
Premium

Tax on
Personal
Travel Other*

Total “All
Other

Compensation”

Bradley D. Tilden $ 7,500 $ 0 $50,354 $1,187 $ 681 $12,800 $27,701 $1,786 $102,008

Brandon S. Pedersen $15,000 $35,619 $33,323 $ 520 $ 298 $12,800 $16,619 $2,820 $116,999

Keith Loveless $ 7,500 $ 0 $40,015 $1,520 $ 872 $12,800 $ 9,456 $1,130 $ 73,293

Glenn S. Johnson $13,662 $ 0 $38,430 $2,346 $1,346 $ 7,929 $10,381 $3,109 $ 77,203

Benito Minicucci $15,000 $46,092 $37,685 $ 612 $ 351 $12,959 $ 6,948 $ 755 $120,402

William S. Ayer $ 4,516 $ 0 $18,065 $ 705 $ 404 $13,292 $16,823 $1,136 $ 54,941

* Includes the Company’s incremental cost of providing a flight benefit, annual physical, and accidental death
and dismemberment insurance premiums.

(5) Mr. Loveless was not a Named Executive Officer prior to 2012. As such, only Mr. Loveless’s 2012
compensation information is included.

(6) Mr. Johnson was elected President of Horizon Air Industries, Inc. in June 2010. Previously he was Executive
Vice President/Finance and CFO of Alaska Air Group, Inc. The Compensation and Leadership Development
Committee granted a special performance stock unit award to Mr. Johnson upon his election to president of
Horizon Air on June 10, 2010.
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2012 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table presents information regarding the incentive awards granted to the Named
Executive Officers for 2012. Please see in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis the
“Performance-Based Annual Pay” section for a description of the material terms of the non-
equity incentive plan awards reported in this table and the “Long-Term Equity-Based Pay”
section for a description of the material terms of the equity-based awards reported in this
table. Each of the equity-based awards reported in the table below was granted under our
2008 Performance Incentive Plan (2008 Plan).

Name
(a)

Grant Date
(b)

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-Equity Incentive

Plan
Awards

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Equity Incentive Plan

Awards

All Other
Stock

Awards:
Number of
Shares of
Stock or

Units
(#)
(i)

All Other
Option

Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying

Options
(#)
(j)

Exercise
or Base
Price of
Option
Awards
($/Sh)

(k)

Grant
Date Fair
Value of

Stock and
Option

Awards(1)
($)
(l)

Threshold
($)
(c)

Target
($)
(d)

Maximum
($)
(e)

Threshold
(#)
(f)

Target
(#)
(g)

Maximum
(#)
(h)

Bradley D. Tilden
• Stock Options 2/14/12 22,200 38.000 442,002
• RSUs 2/14/12 11,200 425,600
• PSUs* 2/14/12 — 56,660 113,320 2,153,080
• PBP Plan N/A 106,250 425,000 850,000

Brandon S. Pedersen
• Stock Options 2/14/12 7,300 38.000 145,343
• RSUs 2/14/12 3,700 140,600
• PSUs 2/14/12 — 3,700 7,400 140,600
• PBP Plan N/A 55,313 221,250 442,500

Keith Loveless
• Stock Options 2/14/12 7,280 38.000 144,945
• Stock Options 11/7/12 7,730 40.450 160,266
• RSUs 2/14/12 3,700 140,600
• RSUs 11/7/12 4,670 188,902
• PSUs 2/14/12 — 3,700 7,400 140,600
• PBP Plan N/A 62,813 251,250 502,500

Glenn S. Johnson
• Stock Options 2/14/12 11,200 38.000 222,992
• RSUs 2/14/12 5,600 212,800
• RSUs 11/7/12 840 33,978
• PSUs 2/14/12 — 5,600 11,200 212,800
• PBP Plan N/A 62,813 251,250 502,500

Benito Minicucci
• Stock Options 2/14/12 13,800 38.000 274,758
• RSUs 2/14/12 7,000 266,000
• PSUs 2/14/12 — 7,000 14,000 266,000
• PBP Plan N/A 61,992 247,969 495,938

William S. Ayer
• RSUs 2/14/12 1,240 47,120

Key:RSUs – Restricted Stock Units; PSUs – Performance Stock Units; PBP Plan – Performance-Based Pay Plan

* Includes a special one-time award of 45,460 performance stock units granted in connection with Mr. Tilden’s
election to CEO.

(1) The amounts reported in Column (l) reflect the fair value of these awards on the grant date as determined
under the principles used to calculate the value of equity awards for purposes of the Company’s financial
statements and may or may not be representative of the value eventually realized by the executive. For a
discussion of the assumptions and methodologies used to value the awards reported in Column (l), please see
the discussion of stock awards and option awards contained in Note 11 (Stock-Based Compensation Plans) to
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, included as part of the Company’s 2012 Annual Report
filed on Form 10-K with the SEC and incorporated herein by reference.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2012 FISCAL YEAR END

The following table presents information regarding the outstanding equity awards held by each
of the Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2012, including the vesting dates for the
portions of these awards that had not vested as of that date.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name
(a)

Award
Date
(b)

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexer-
cised

Options
Exercisable

(#)
(c)

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Options

Unexercisable
(#)
(d)

Option
Exercise

Price
($)
(e)

Option
Expiration

Date
(f)

Number
of Shares
or Units of

Stock
That Have
Not Vested

(#)
(g)

Market
Value of

Shares or
Units

of Stock
That Have

Not
Vested(1)

($)
(h)

Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:
Number

of
Unearned
Shares,
Units, or

Other
Rights
That

Have Not
Vested

(#)
(i)

Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:

Market or
Payout
Value of

Unearned
Shares,
Units, or

Other
Rights

That Have
Not

Vested(1)

($)
(j)

Bradley D. Tilden 9/13/06 23,100 — 18.980 9/12/16
1/31/07 24,600 — 21.425 1/31/17
2/8/08 13,700 — 13.745 2/8/18

1/29/09 21,068 21,070 (2) 13.780 1/29/19
2/3/10 15,200 15,200 (3) 16.630 2/3/20 17,400 (3) 749,766
2/7/11 5,100 15,300 (6) 30.650 2/7/21 10,600 (6) 456,754 10,600 (5) 456,754

2/14/12 — 22,000 (7) 38.000 2/14/22 11,200 (7) 482,608 56,660 (8) 2,441,479
Brandon S. Pedersen 12/1/06 2,000 — 19.990 12/1/16

2/8/08 5,354 — 13.745 2/8/18
1/29/09 6,500 3,500 (2) 13.780 1/29/19
2/3/10 2,560 2,560 (3) 16.630 2/3/20 2,940 (3) 126,685

6/10/10 4,090 (4) 176,238
2/7/11 1,380 4,140 (6) 30.650 2/7/21 2,880 (6) 124,099 2,880 (5) 124,099

2/14/12 — 7,300 (7) 38.000 2/14/22 3,700 (7) 159,433 3,700 (5) 159,433
Keith Loveless 1/29/09 — 9,576 (2) 13.780 1/29/19

2/3/10 — 4,880 (3) 16.630 2/3/20 5,580 (3) 240,442
2/7/11 1,694 5,086 (6) 30.650 2/7/21 3,540 (6) 152,539 3,540 (5) 152,539

2/14/12 — 7,280 (7) 38.000 2/14/22 3,700 (7) 159,433 3,700 (5) 159,433
11/7/12 — 7,730 (9) 40.450 11/7/22 4,670 (9) 201,230

Glenn S. Johnson 1/29/09 — 14,996 (2) 13.780 1/29/19
2/3/10 — 9,800 (3) 16.630 2/3/20 11,200 (3) 482,608
2/7/11 — 9,750 (6) 30.650 2/7/21 6,800 (6) 293,012 6,800 (5) 293,012

2/14/12 — 11,200 (7) 38.000 2/14/22 5,600 (7) 241,304 5,600 (5) 241,304
11/7/12 840 (9) 36,196

Benito Minicucci 1/29/09 — 11,900 (2) 13.780 1/29/19
2/3/10 — 9,300 (3) 16.630 2/3/20 10,600 (3) 456,754
2/7/11 3,900 11,700 (6) 30.650 2/7/21 8,000 (6) 344,720 8,000 (5) 344,720

2/14/12 — 13,800 (7) 38.000 2/14/22 7,000 (7) 301,630 7,000 (5) 301,630
William S. Ayer 9/13/06 74,600 — 18.980 9/13/16

1/31/07 47,600 — 21.425 1/31/17
1/29/09 — 25,650 (2) 13.780 1/29/19
2/3/10 38,620 38,620 (3) 16.630 2/3/20 44,960 (3) 1,937,326
2/7/11 6,450 19,350 (6) 30.650 2/7/21 13,400 (6) 577,406 13,400 (5) 577,406

2/14/12 1,240 (7) 53,432

(1) The dollar amounts shown in Column (h) and Column (j) are determined by multiplying the number of shares or
units reported in Column (g) and Column (i), respectively, by $43.09 (the closing price of Air Group stock on
12/31/12).

(2) The unvested options under the 1/29/09 grant will become vested on 1/29/13.

(3) The RSUs awarded on 2/3/10 will become fully vested on 2/3/13. The unvested options under the 2/3/10
grant will become vested as follows: Mr. Tilden —7,600 on 2/3/13 and 7,600 on 2/3/14; Mr. Pedersen —
1,280 on 2/3/13 and 1,280 on 2/3/14; Mr. Loveless — 2,440 on 2/3/13 and 2,440 on 2/3/14;
Mr. Johnson — 4,900 on 2/3/13 and 4,900 on 2/3/14; Mr. Minicucci — 4,650 on 2/3/13 and 4,650 on
2/3/14; and Mr. Ayer —19,310 on 2/3/13 and 19,310 on 2/3/14.

(4) The RSUs awarded on 6/10/10 will become fully vested on 6/10/13.
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(5) The performance stock units reported in Column (i) are eligible to vest based on the Company’s performance
over a three-year period as described in the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” section above and in
footnote (1) to the Summary Compensation Table above. The performance stock units granted on 2/7/11 will
vest based on the goals set for a three-year performance period ending 12/31/13; and the performance stock
units granted on 2/7/12 will vest based on the goals set for a three-year performance period ending
12/31/14.

(6) The RSUs awarded on 2/7/11 will become fully vested on 2/7/14. The unvested options under the 2/7/11
grant will become vested as follows: Mr. Tilden — 5,100 on 2/7/13, 5,100 on 2/7/14 and 5,100 on
2/7/15; Mr. Pedersen — 1,380 on 2/7/13, 1,380 on 2/7/14 and 1,380 on 2/7/15; Mr. Loveless — 1,696
on 2/7/13, 1,694 on 2/7/14 and 1,696 on 2/7/15; Mr. Johnson — 3,250 on 2/7/13, 3,250 on 2/7/14
and 3,250 on 2/7/15; Mr. Minicucci — 3,900 on 2/7/13, 3,900 on 2/7/14 and 3,900 on 2/7/15; and
Mr. Ayer — 6,450 on 2/7/13, 6,450 on 2/7/14 and 6,450 on 2/7/15.

(7) The RSUs awarded on 2/14/12 will become fully vested on 2/14/15. The unvested options under the
2/14/12 grant will become vested as follows: Mr. Tilden — 5,550 on 2/14/13, 5,550 on 2/14/14, 5,550 on
2/14/15, and 5,550 on 2/14/16; Mr. Pedersen — 1,824 on 2/14/13, 1,826 on 2/14/14, 1,824 on
2/14/15, and 1,826 on 2/14/16; Mr. Loveless — 1,820 on 2/14/13, 1,820 on 2/14/14, 1,820 on
2/14/15, and 1,820 on 2/14/16; Mr. Johnson — 2,800 on 2/14/13, 2,800 on 2/14/14, 2,800 on
2/14/15, and 2,800 on 2/14/16; and Mr. Minicucci — 3,450 on 2/14/13, 3,450 on 2/14/14, 3,450 on
2/14/15, and 3,450 on 2/14/16.

(8) Mr. Tilden’s 2/14/12 performance stock unit award includes an award of 45,460 additional performance
stock units in connection with his election to CEO. The units will vest based on the goals set for the three-year
performance period ending 12/31/14.

(9) The RSUs awarded on 11/7/12 will become fully vested on 11/7/15. Mr. Loveless’s unvested options under
the 11/7/12 grant will become vested as follows 1,932 on 11/7/13, 1,933 on 11/7/14, 1,932 on 11/7/15,
and 1,933 on 11/7/16.

2012 OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table presents information regarding the exercise of stock options by Named Executive
Officers during 2012 and the vesting during 2012 of other stock awards previously granted to the
Named Executive Officers.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name
(a)

Number of Shares
Acquired on

Exercise
(#)
(b)

Value Realized
on Exercise

($)
(c)

Number of Shares
Acquired

on Vesting
(#)
(d)

Value Realized
on Vesting

($) (1)
(e)

Bradley D. Tilden — — 74,288 2,959,117

Brandon S. Pedersen 9,540 212,293 12,460 496,555

Keith Loveless 31,600 682,626 29,160 1,147,907

Glenn S. Johnson 34,096 757,701 94,604 3,541,997

Benito Minicucci 21,134 496,781 43,400 1,733,492

William S. Ayer 188,726 4,636,094 157,266 6,107,036

(1) The amounts shown in Column (c) above for option awards are determined by multiplying the number of shares
by the difference between the per-share closing price of our common stock on the date of exercise and the
exercise price of the options. The amounts shown in Column (e) above for stock awards are determined by
multiplying the number of vested units by the per-share closing price of our common stock on the vesting date.
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PENSION AND OTHER RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company maintains two primary defined-
benefit pension plans covering Named Executive
Officers other than Mr. Pedersen and
Mr. Minicucci. The Alaska Air Group, Inc.
Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees (the
“Salaried Retirement Plan”) is the qualified
defined-benefit employee retirement plan, and
the Named Executive Officers other than
Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci participate in
this plan on the same general terms as other
eligible employees. The Named Executive

Officers other than Mr. Pedersen and
Mr. Minicucci also participate in the Alaska Air
Group, Inc. 1995 Elected Officers Supplementary
Retirement Plan (the “Supplementary Retirement
Plan”).

The following table presents information
regarding the present value of accumulated
benefits that may become payable to the Named
Executive Officers under the qualified and
nonqualified defined-benefit pension plans.

Name
(a)

Plan Name
(b)

Number of Years
Credited Service

(#)(1)
(c)

Present Value of
Accumulated Benefit

($)(1)
(d)

Payments During
Last Fiscal Year

($)
(e)

Bradley D. Tilden Salaried Retirement Plan 21.84 1,063,717 N/A
Supplementary Retirement Plan 13.92 1,923,148 N/A

Brandon S. Pedersen(2) Salaried Retirement Plan N/A N/A N/A
Supplementary Retirement Plan N/A N/A N/A

Keith Loveless Salaried Retirement Plan 26.42 1,501,906 N/A
Supplementary Retirement Plan 16.57 1,748,316 N/A

Glenn S. Johnson Salaried Retirement Plan 15.74 754,438 N/A
Supplemental Retirement Plan 9.45 1,989,352 N/A

Benito Minicucci(2) Salaried Retirement Plan N/A N/A N/A
Supplemental Retirement Plan N/A N/A N/A

William S. Ayer Salaried Retirement Plan 17.36 1,044,748 N/A
Supplemental Retirement Plan 17.40 2,662,493 N/A

(1) The years of credited service and present value of accumulated benefits shown in the table above are
presented as of December 31, 2012 assuming that each Named Executive Officer retires at normal retirement
age and that benefits are paid out in accordance with the terms of each plan described below. For a
description of the material assumptions used to calculate the present value of accumulated benefits shown
above, please see Note 8 (Employee Benefits Plans) to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements,
included as part of the Company’s 2012 Annual Report filed on Form 10-K with the SEC and incorporated
herein by reference.

(2) In lieu of participation in the defined-benefit plans, Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci receive a contribution to
the Company’s defined-contribution plans. Specifically, in lieu of participation in the Salaried Retirement Plan,
Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci each receive a Company match contribution to the Alaskasaver 401(k) Plan up
to 6% of their eligible wages. In lieu of the Supplementary Retirement Plan, Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci
participate in the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, which is further described below.
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Salaried Retirement Plan

The Salaried Retirement Plan is a tax-
qualified, defined-benefit retirement plan for
salaried Alaska Airlines employees hired
prior to April 1, 2003. Each of the Named
Executive Officers that participates in the
Plan is fully vested in his accrued benefits
under the Salaried Retirement Plan. Benefits
payable under the Salaried Retirement Plan
are generally based on years of credited
service with the Company and its affiliates
and final average base salary for the five
highest complete and consecutive calendar
years of an employee’s last ten complete
calendar years of service. The annual
retirement benefit at age 62 (normal
retirement age under the Salaried
Retirement Plan) is equal to 2% of the
employee’s final average base salary times
years of credited service (limited to 40
years). Annual benefits are computed on a
straight-life annuity basis beginning at
normal retirement age. Benefits under the
Salaried Retirement Plan are not subject to
offset for Social Security benefits.

The tax law limits the compensation on
which annual retirement benefits are based.
For 2012, this limit was $250,000. The tax
law also limits the annual benefits that may
be paid from a tax-qualified retirement plan.
For 2012, this limit on annual benefits was
$200,000.

Supplementary Retirement Plans

In addition to the benefits described above,
the Named Executive Officers other than
Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci are eligible
to receive retirement benefits under the
Supplementary Retirement Plan. This plan is
a non-qualified, unfunded, defined-benefit
plan. Normal retirement benefits are payable
once the officer reaches age 60. Benefits
are calculated as a monthly amount on a

straight-life annuity basis. In general, the
monthly benefit is determined as a
percentage (50% to 75% of a participant’s
final average monthly base salary) with the
percentage determined based on both the
officer’s length of service with the Company
and length of service as an elected officer.

This benefit amount is subject to offset by
the amount of the officer’s Social Security
benefits and the amount of benefits paid
under the Salaried Retirement Plan to the
extent such benefits were accrued after the
officer became a participant in the
Supplementary Retirement Plan. (There is no
offset for any Salaried Retirement Plan
benefits accrued for service before the
officer became a participant in the
Supplementary Retirement Plan.)

Participants in the Supplementary
Retirement Plan become fully vested in their
benefits under the plan upon attaining age
50 and completing 10 years of service as an
elected officer. Plan benefits will also
become fully vested upon a change in
control of the Company or upon termination
of the participant’s employment due to
death or disability.

In lieu of the Supplementary Retirement
plan, Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci
participate in the Company’s Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Plan. Under this
plan, the Company contributes 10% of the
officer’s eligible wages, as defined in plan
documents, minus the maximum legal
Company contribution that the Company
made, or could have made, under the
Company’s qualified defined-contribution
plan (the Alaskasaver 401(k) Plan).

On June 20, 2011, the Board of Directors
amended the Salaried Retirement Plan and
the Supplementary Retirement Plan to
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provide that, effective January 1, 2014, both
plans will be frozen so that participants in
the plans will not accrue any benefits with
respect to services performed or
compensation earned on or after that date.
The Board also amended the Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Plan so that,

effective January 1, 2014, officers who
previously participated in the Supplementary
Retirement Plan, including Mr. Tilden,
Mr. Loveless, Mr. Johnson, and Mr. Ayer,
and are then employed by the Company, will
be eligible to participate in the Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Plan.

2012 NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Under the Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Plan, the Named Executive
Officers and other key employees may elect
to receive a portion of some or all of their
Performance-Based Pay awards on a
deferred basis. The crediting interest rate for
amounts deferred in prior years is based on
the mean between the high and the low
rates during the first 11 months of the
preceding year of yields of Ba2-rated
industrial bonds as determined by the plan
administrator (rounded to the nearest one-
quarter of one percent). Participants under
the plan have the opportunity to elect among
the investment funds offered under our
401(k) plan for purposes of determining the
return on their plan accounts. Alternatively,
participants may allocate some or all of their
plan account to an interest-bearing option
with a rate equal to the yield on a Moody’s

index of Ba2-rated industrial bonds as of
November of the preceding year, rounded to
the nearest one-quarter of one percent.
Subject to applicable tax laws, amounts
deferred under the plan are generally
distributed on termination of the
participant’s employment, although
participants may elect an earlier distribution
date and may elect payment in a lump sum
or installments.

The following table presents information
regarding the contributions to and earnings
on the Named Executive Officers’ balances
under the Company’s nonqualified deferred
compensation plans during 2012, and also
shows the total deferred amounts for the
Named Executive Officers as of
December 31, 2012.

Name
(a)

Executive
Contributions

in Last FY
($)
(b)

Registrant
Contributions

in Last FY
($)
(c)

Aggregate
Earnings
in Last FY

($)(1)
(d)

Aggregate
Withdrawals/
Distributions

($)
(e)

Aggregate
Balance

at Last FYE
($)(1)

(f)

Bradley D. Tilden — — — — —

Brandon S. Pedersen — — — — —

Keith Loveless 282,049 — 3,524 — 301,260

Glenn S. Johnson — — 1,730 (104,265) 272,408

Benito Minicucci — — — — —

William S. Ayer — — 687 (43,906) 194,311

(1) Only the portion of earnings on deferred compensation that is considered to be at above-market rates under
SEC rules is required to be included as compensation for each Named Executive Officer in Column (h) of the
Summary Compensation Table. Because the earnings were at market rates available to other investors, these
amounts were not included on the Summary Compensation Table.
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POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON CHANGE IN CONTROL AND TERMINATION

The Company has entered into change-in-
control agreements with each of the Named
Executive Officers. Under these agreements,
if a change of control occurs, a three-year
employment period would go into effect.
During the employment period, the executive
would be entitled to:

• receive the highest monthly salary the
executive received at any time during the
12-month period preceding the change in
control;

• receive an annual incentive payment
equal to the higher of the executive’s
target Performance-Based Pay incentive
or the average of the executive’s annual
incentive payments for the three years
preceding the year in which the change in
control occurs;

• continue to accrue age and service credit
under our qualified and non-qualified
defined benefit retirement plans; and

• participate in fringe benefit programs that
are at least as favorable as those in
which the executive was participating
prior to the change in control.

If the executive’s employment is terminated
by the Company without cause or by the
executive for “good reason” during the
employment period (or, in certain
circumstances, if such a termination occurs
prior to and in connection with a change in
control), the executive would be entitled to
receive a lump-sum payment equal to the
value of the payments and benefits
identified above that the executive would
have received had he continued to be
employed for the entire employment period.
The amount an executive would be entitled
to receive would be reduced on a pro-rata
basis for any time the executive worked
during the employment period. (The terms

“cause,” “good reason” and “change in
control” are each defined in the change-in-
control agreements.)

In November 2007, the Compensation and
Leadership Development Committee
amended its policy regarding the provision of
payments to executive officers for excise
taxes imposed under Section 280G such
that any new agreements between the
Company and its executives will not include
reimbursement for Section 280G excise
taxes. In February 2013, the Committee
further revised existing agreements to
eliminate any grandfathered provisions that
could have resulted in a reimbursement for
Section 280G excise taxes. Therefore, none
of the Company’s change-in-control
agreements provide for reimbursement for
excise taxes.

In addition, outstanding and unvested stock
options, restricted stock units and a pro-
rated number of the target number of
performance stock units would become
vested under the terms of our equity plans.
Under the 2008 Performance Incentive Plan,
awards will not vest unless a termination of
employment without cause or for good
reason also occurs or an acquirer does not
assume outstanding awards. Finally, the
executive’s unvested benefits under the
Supplementary Retirement Plan would vest
on a change in control whether or not the
executive’s employment was terminated.
The outstanding equity awards held by the
executives as of December 31, 2012 are
described above under “Outstanding Equity
Awards at Fiscal Year End” and each
executive’s accrued benefits under our
retirement plans are described above under
“Pension and Other Retirement Plans.”

In the event the executive’s employment
terminates by reason of death, disability or
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retirement, (i) restricted stock units would
become vested under the terms of our
equity plans; (ii) a prorated portion of the
performance stock units would vest at the
conclusion of the performance period based
on actual performance and the portion of the
performance period in which the executive
was employed; and (iii) stock options would
become fully vested upon death or disability
and vested to the extent they would have
vested in the next three years upon
retirement. Stock options would remain
exercisable for three years following
termination of employment or until their
expiration date, whichever comes first.

In the tables below, we have estimated the
potential cost to the Company of providing
the benefits shown to each of our Named
Executive Officers as if the executive’s

employment had terminated due to
retirement, death or disability, or change in
control on December 31, 2012. The value of
accelerated vesting shown in the “Equity
Acceleration” column below assumes the
performance share units pay at target. As
described above, except for the equity
acceleration value, the amount an executive
would be entitled to receive would be
reduced on a pro-rata basis for any time the
executive worked during the employment
period.

These calculations are estimates for proxy
disclosure purposes only. Actual payments
may differ based on factors such as
transaction price, timing of employment
termination and payments, methodology for
valuing stock options, changes in
compensation, and other factors.

Retirement

Cash
Severance(1)

Enhanced
Retirement
Benefit(2)

Benefit
Continuation(3)

Lifetime
Airfare

Benefit(4)
Equity

Acceleration(5)
Excise Tax
Gross-Up(6) Total

Bradley D. Tilden $0 $0 $0 $24,191 $4,291,968 $0 $4,316,159

Brandon S. Pedersen $0 $0 $0 $ 0 $1,030,637 $0 $1,030,637

Keith Loveless $0 $0 $0 $13,789 $1,587,413 $0 $1,601,202

Glenn S. Johnson $0 $0 $0 $11,292 $2,536,078 $0 $2,547,370

Benito Minicucci $0 $0 $0 $ 0 $2,517,707 $0 $2,517,707

William S. Ayer $0 $0 $0 $16,467 $6,740,950 $0 $6,757,417

Death or Disability

Cash
Severance(1)

Enhanced
Retirement
Benefit(2)

Benefit
Continuation(3)

Lifetime
Airfare

Benefit(4)
Equity

Acceleration(5)
Excise Tax
Gross-Up(6) Total

Bradley D. Tilden $0 $0 $0 $24,191 $4,320,217 $0 $4,344,408

Brandon S. Pedersen $0 $0 $0 $ 0 $1,039,926 $0 $1,039,926

Keith Loveless $0 $0 $0 $13,789 $1,601,775 $0 $1,615,564

Glenn S. Johnson $0 $0 $0 $11,292 $2,550,330 $0 $2,561,622

Benito Minicucci $0 $0 $0 $ 0 $2,535,268 $0 $2,535,268

William S. Ayer $0 $0 $0 $16,467 $6,740,950 $0 $6,757,417
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Change in Control

Cash
Severance(1)

Enhanced
Retirement
Benefit(2)

Benefit
Continuation(3)

Lifetime
Airfare

Benefit(4)
Equity

Acceleration(5)
Excise Tax
Gross-Up(6) Total

Bradley D. Tilden $2,926,589 $442,020 $262,512 $24,191 $5,211,065 $ 0 $8,866,377

Brandon S. Pedersen $1,676,071 $151,858 $179,922 $ 0 $1,113,887 $827,727 $3,949,465

Keith Loveless $2,009,414 $321,425 $175,712 $13,789 $1,680,560 $ 0 $4,200,900

Glenn S. Johnson $2,120,978 $431,125 $174,205 $11,292 $2,680,024 $ 0 $5,417,624

Benito Minicucci $2,035,490 $183,276 $158,179 $ 0 $2,693,690 $ 0 $5,070,635

William S. Ayer $2,532,591 $181,554 $130,832 $16,467 $6,837,977 $ 0 $9,699,421

(1) Represents the amount obtained by multiplying three by the sum of the executive’s highest rate of base salary
during the preceding 12 months and the higher of the executive’s target incentive or his average incentive for
the three preceding years.

(2) Represents the sum of (a) except in the case of Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci, the actuarial equivalent of an
additional three years of age and service credit under our qualified and non-qualified retirement plan using the
executive’s highest rate of salary during the preceding 12 months prior to a change in control, (b) except in the
case of Mr. Pedersen and Mr. Minicucci, the present value of the accrued but unvested portion of the non-
qualified retirement benefits that would vest upon a change of control, (c) the matching contribution the
executive would have received under our qualified defined-contribution plan had the executive continued to
contribute the maximum allowable amount during the employment period, and (d) in the case of Mr. Pedersen
and Mr. Minicucci, the contribution the executive would have received under our nonqualified defined-
contribution plan had the executive continued to participate in the plan during the employment period.

(3) Represents the estimated cost of (a) 18 months of premiums under our medical, dental and vision programs,
and (b) three years of continued participation in life, disability, accidental death insurance and other fringe
benefit programs.

(4) All employees who retire with more than ten years of service are entitled to flight benefits on Alaska Airlines
and Horizon Air. Flight benefits for the Named Executive Officers are for positive-space travel, for which the
Company also provides a tax reimbursement. Messrs. Tilden, Loveless, Johnson, and Ayer qualify for these
benefits under all termination scenarios. In this column, we show the present value of this benefit, calculated
using a discount rate and mortality table that are the same as those used for our pension plan accounting
under ASC 715-20 as of December 31, 2012, described above in the section titled “Pension and Other
Retirement Benefits.” Other assumptions include that the lifetime average annual usage is equal to actual
average annual usage amounts in 2010 through 2012, and that the annual value of the benefit is equal to the
annual incremental cost to the Company, which will be the same as the average of the incremental cost
incurred to provide air travel benefits to the executive in those years as disclosed under “All Other
Compensation” in the Summary Compensation Table.

(5) Represents the “in-the-money” value of unvested stock options and the face value of unvested restricted stock
and performance stock unit awards that would vest upon termination of employment in the circumstances
described above based on a stock price of $43.09. The value of the extended term of the options is not
reflected in the table because we have assumed that the executive’s outstanding stock options would be
assumed by the acquiring company pursuant to a change in control.

(6) In February 2013, the Committee amended its change-in-control agreements to eliminate provisions that could
have resulted in a reimbursement for Section 280G excise taxes.
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SECURITIES OWNERSHIP
OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

This table shows how much Company common stock is owned as of March 22, 2013, by (a) each
director and nominee, (b) each of the Company’s executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table, and (c) all executive officers as a group. Except as otherwise indicated and
subject to applicable community property laws, the persons named in the table below have sole voting
and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock beneficially owned.

Securities Ownership of Management

Name

Number of Shares
of Common

Stock Owned(1)

Options
Exercisable

within
60 Days

Total
Shares

Beneficially
Owned(2)

Percent of
Outstanding

Shares(3)

William S. Ayer 113,780 136,380 250,160 *

Patricia M. Bedient 16,836 — 16,836 *

Marion C. Blakey 3,270 — 3,270 *

Phyllis J. Campbell 17,120 — 17,120 *

Jessie J. Knight, Jr. 19,176 — 19,176 *

R. Marc Langland 20,360 — 20,360 *

Dennis F. Madsen 11,529 — 11,529 *

Byron I. Mallott 16,524 — 16,524 *

J. Kenneth Thompson 21,936 — 21,936 *

Bradley D. Tilden 118,978 142,088 261,066 *

Eric K. Yeaman 554 — 554 *

Glenn S. Johnson 18,787 25,946 44,733 *

Keith Loveless 24,546 19,158 43,704 *

Benito Minicucci 38,158 27,800 65,958 *

Brandon S. Pedersen 14,000 25,778 39,778 *

All Company directors and executive officers as a
group (20 persons) 489,566 364,210 853,776 1.2%

*Less than 1%

(1) Consists of the aggregate total of shares of common stock held by the reporting person either directly or
indirectly, including 401(k) Plan holdings.

(2) Total beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and represents the sum of the
columns “Number of Shares of Common Stock Owned” and “Options Exercisable within 60 Days.” Beneficial
ownership does not include shares of common stock payable upon the vesting of restricted stock units, none of
which will vest within 60 days, as follows: Mr. Tilden, 30,990; Mr. Pedersen, 13,920; Mr. Loveless, 16,740;
Mr. Johnson, 18,070; Mr. Minicucci, 19,830; and Mr. Ayer, 15,645. This table also excludes shares of common
stock payable upon vesting of performance stock units, none of which will vest within the next 60 days of the
record date, and which are described in the “2012 Grants of Plan Based Awards” table.

Total shares beneficially owned reported for non-employee directors also include common shares to be issued
upon the director’s resignation from the Board. The aggregate number of deferred stock units granted to date:
Ms. Bedient, 10,672; Ms. Blakey, 3,270; Ms. Campbell, 10,672; Mr. Knight, 10,672; Mr. Langland, 10,672;
Mr. Madsen, 10,672; Mr. Mallott, 10,672; Mr. Thompson, 10,672, and Mr. Yeaman, 554.

(3) We determined applicable percentage ownership based on 70,616,103 shares of our common stock
outstanding as of March 22, 2013.
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5% or More Beneficial Owners
The table below identifies those persons known by us to have beneficial ownership of more
than 5% of the Company’s outstanding common stock, as of March 22, 2013.

Beneficial Owner
Name and Address

Number of
Shares
Owned

Percent of
Outstanding
Shares (1)

BlackRock, Inc. (2) 5,815,957 8.23%
40 East 52nd Street
New York, NY 10022

The Vanguard Group (3) 4,439,644 6.28%
100 Vanguard Blvd.
Malvern, PA 19355

Renaissance Technologies LLC (4) 4,216,100 5.97%
800 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022

PAR Capital Management, Inc. (5) 4,143,000 5.86%
One International Place, Suite 2041
Boston, MA 02110

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. (6) 3,993,510 5.65%
100 E. Pratt Street
Baltimore, MD 21202

PRIMECAP Management Company (7) 3,620,500 5.12%
225 South Lake Ave. #400
Pasadena, CA 91101

(1) We determine applicable percentage ownership based on more than 70,616,103 shares of our common stock
outstanding as of March 22, 2012.

(2) A Schedule 13G/A filed on February 4, 2013 by BlackRock, Inc. reported sole voting power and sole
dispositive power over all 5,815,957 shares.

(3) A Schedule 13G/A filed on February 20, 2013 by the Vanguard Group, Inc. reported sole voting power over
98,238 shares and sole dispositive power over 4,342,606 shares.

(4) A Schedule 13G/A filed on February 12, 2013 by Renaissance Technologies Holding Corporation (“RTHC”)
reported sole voting power over 4,196,000 shares and sole dispositive power over 4,213,600 shares.

(5) A Schedule 13G/A filed jointly on February 14, 2013 by PAR Investment Partners, L.P., PAR Group, L.P., and
PAR Capital Management, Inc. reported sole voting power and sole dispositive power over all 4,143,000
shares.

(6) A Schedule 13G/A filed on February 14, 2013 by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. reported sole voting power
over 1,307,210 shares and sole dispositive power over all 3,993,510 shares.

(7) A Schedule 13G/A filed on February 9, 2013 by PRIMECAP Management Company reported solve voting power
over 437,600 shares and sole dispositive power over all 3,620,500 shares.
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SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires
the Company’s directors and certain of its
officers to send reports of their ownership of
Company common stock and changes in
such ownership to the SEC and the NYSE.
The Company assists its directors and
officers by preparing forms for filing. SEC
regulations also require the Company to
identify in this Proxy Statement any person
subject to this requirement who failed to file
a report on a timely basis. A Form 4 due
September 18, 2012 for Mr. Mark Eliasen
relating to the vesting of restricted stock
units, forfeiture of shares to cover payroll

taxes, and issuance of net shares, was
instead filed on September 19, 2012. In
addition, the Form 4s due November 9,
2012 for Mr. Keith Loveless and Mr. Glenn
Johnson relating to equity awards granted on
November 7, 2012, were instead filed on
March 22, 2013. Except for this report on
Form 4, based on a review of copies of
reports furnished to the Company and
written representations that no other reports
were required, the Company believes that
everyone subject to Section 16(a) filed the
required reports on a timely basis during
2012.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
È ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012

OR

‘ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 1-8957

ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.
Delaware 91-1292054

(State of Incorporation) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

19300 International Boulevard, Seattle, Washington 98188
Telephone: (206) 392-5040

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Common Stock, $1.00 Par Value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of

the Securities Act. Yes È No ‘

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or
Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ‘ No È

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for
such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to
such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes È No ‘

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its
corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes È No ‘

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is
not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy
or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to
this Form 10-K. ‘

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a
non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer”,
“accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:

Large accelerated filer È Accelerated filer ‘ Non-accelerated filer ‘ Smaller reporting company ‘

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act.): Yes ‘ No È

As of January 31, 2013, shares of common stock outstanding totaled 70,341,799. The aggregate
market value of the shares of common stock of Alaska Air Group, Inc. held by nonaffiliates on June 30,
2012, was approximately $2.5 billion (based on the closing price of $35.90 per share on the New York
Stock Exchange on that date).

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of Definitive Proxy Statement relating to 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders are

incorporated by reference in Part III.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to historical information, this
Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements are those that predict or describe
future events or trends and that do not relate
solely to historical matters. You can generally
identify forward-looking statements as
statements containing the words “believe,”
“expect,” “will,” “anticipate,” “intend,”
“estimate,” “project,” “assume” or other similar
expressions, although not all forward-looking
statements contain these identifying words.
Forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to
differ materially from historical experience or the
Company’s present expectations.

You should not place undue reliance on our
forward-looking statements because the matters

they describe are subject to known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other unpredictable
factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Our forward-looking statements are based on the
information currently available to us and speak
only as of the date on which this report was filed
with the SEC. We expressly disclaim any
obligation to issue any updates or revisions to
our forward-looking statements, even if
subsequent events cause our expectations to
change regarding the matters discussed in those
statements. Over time, our actual results,
performance or achievements will likely differ
from the anticipated results, performance or
achievements that are expressed or implied by
our forward-looking statements, and such
differences might be significant and materially
adverse to our shareholders. For a discussion of
these and other risk factors in this Form 10-K,
see “Item 1A: Risk Factors.” Please consider our
forward-looking statements in light of those risks
as you read this report.
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PART I

ITEM 1. OUR BUSINESS

Alaska Air Group operates Alaska Airlines and
Horizon Air, which together with its partner
regional airlines, serve 95 cities through an
expansive network in Alaska, the Lower 48,
Hawaii, Canada and Mexico. During 2012, we
carried 26 million passengers while earning
record full-year adjusted earnings of
$339 million.

Our objective is to be one of the most respected
domestic airlines by our customers, employees,
and shareholders. We believe our success
depends on our ability to provide safe air
transportation, develop relationships with
customers by providing exceptional customer
service, and maintain a competitive cost
structure to increase our profitability, provide low
fares and grow our network. Over the past
decade, we have worked to transform our
company to achieve these objectives. In 2012,
Alaska Airlines ranked “Highest in Customer
Satisfaction among Traditional Network Carriers”
by J.D. Power and Associates for the fifth year in
a row. For the ninth consecutive year, we have
reported an adjusted annual profit, allowing us to
strengthen our balance sheet and achieve an
after-tax return on invested capital of 13% in
2012, surpassing our 10% goal for the third year
in a row. In addition, over the past decade, we
have diversified our network to better respond to
the seasonality in our business and provide more
destinations for our customers. As we look to
the future, we will build on the success of the
past few years by executing our strategic plan—
the Five Focus Areas:

Safety and Compliance

We have an unwavering commitment to run a
safe and compliant operation, and we will not
compromise this commitment in the pursuit of
other initiatives. Alaska and Horizon, in
coordination with the FAA, began implementing a
Safety Management System to better identify
and manage risk. Both airlines achieved Level
One certification in 2012 and plan to achieve
Level Two certification in 2013.

People Focus

While aircraft and technology enable us to
provide air transportation, we recognize this is
fundamentally a people business and our
success depends on our employees.
Strengthening our “small company feel” will
allow our employees to execute as a united team
on the frontlines and behind the scenes. All Air
Group employees have attended or will soon
attend our Flight Path program, a one-day
workshop to share the future vision for our
company. In addition, all employees participate
in the Performance-Based Pay (PBP) and
Operational Performance Rewards (OPR)
programs, which encourage employees to work
together to achieve metrics related to safety,
profitability, low costs and customer satisfaction.
Over the last four years, our incentive programs
have paid out over $325 million.

Hassle-Free Customer Experience

We want to be the easiest airline to fly, which we
will do by improving each step of the customer’s
journey from booking a ticket to our in-flight
experience. During 2012, we launched a new
mobile website, m.alaskaair.com, which provides
customers quick and easy access to important
travel information from any handheld mobile
device or tablet, including the ability to purchase
tickets, track flight details, check-in, get mobile
boarding passes, and view optional upgrades.
After the successful launch of booking on our
mobile website, we upgraded our Android app in
December 2012 and iPhone app in January
2013 to allow our customers to book tickets
using our apps. We introduced self-bag tagging
to four locations in 2012, which allows
customers to print and attach their own luggage
tags from a self-service kiosk in the airport lobby
or, as part of a pilot program, at home during
web check-in. The Transportation Security
Administration (TSA) launched their Pre-Check
Program in 17 of our locations, which allows
eligible customers to opt-in for reduced
screening requirements. As passengers take
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more control of their travel experience, we are
able to reduce the time it takes a customer to
move from the airport curb to the aircraft.

We have also made improvements to our airport
gate areas. At Los Angeles International Airport
(LAX), Alaska moved to a newly renovated
Terminal 6, which includes our Airport of the
Future design, new common use systems,
additional gates, and convenient connections
with international flights. At Seattle-Tacoma
International Airport (Sea-Tac), the Port of Seattle
Commission gave final design authorization to
renovate the North Satellite to better serve
passengers and consolidate our operations. The
project will include modernizing facilities,
enhanced traveler amenities, adding three gates,
and building a new roof-top Boardroom. We also
enhanced the customer experience by adding
more power outlets to gate areas at six airport
locations. We expect construction on this project
to commence in late 2013.

We continued to improve our in-flight experience
by taking delivery of our first B737 aircraft with
the Boeing Sky Interior. The interior includes
variable ambient cabin lighting, larger window
recesses, and overhead bins which provide more
headroom, all designed to offer a greater sense
of space. All future B737 aircraft deliveries will
include the Boeing Sky Interior.

Energetic and Compelling Brand

We are fortunate to have high brand awareness
and customer loyalty in the Pacific Northwest and
Alaska. For us to keep growing in new markets
like California, Hawaii and cities in the mid-
continental and eastern U.S., we believe we
must better understand what is important to our
new customers, and position our brand
appropriately to help differentiate us from the
competition. We use our brand and technology to
develop more direct relationships with our
customers through more personalized marketing.
Our website, alaskaair.com, is tailored to each
customer based on their location and viewing
history. In 2012, approximately 54% of our ticket
sales were made through alaskaair.com and our
goal is 60% in 2013. Similarly, our email

marketing is highly targeted and personalized by
allowing customers to choose which types of
messages they want to receive, such as fare
sale, new markets, offers from partner airlines
and monthly Mileage Plan activity. As a result,
we increase ticket sales and reduce our ticket
distribution costs by providing the right marketing
messages to the right people at the right time.

We use social platforms, such as Facebook and
Twitter, to give customers a new way to connect
with our brand and provide exceptional customer
service throughout their journey. In 2012, our
Facebook fans grew by 47% and our Twitter
followers increased 38%. And as we expand our
network, we are dedicated to becoming part of
the communities we serve. In 2012, employees
participated in over 235 community events,
including the “Spirit of the Islands” paint-the-
plane contest with the winning artwork adorning
one of our B737-800 aircraft. We also sponsor a
number of local teams in the cities we serve,
such as the Seattle Mariners and Portland
Timbers.

Low Fares, Low Costs and Network Growth

In order to profitably provide low fares to our
customers while returning value to our
shareholders, we believe we must maintain a
competitive cost structure. In 2012, we lowered
our unit costs, excluding fuel, by 0.8% on a
consolidated basis, representing the 10th such
annual reduction out of the past 11 years. We
achieved this through a continued focus on
productivity. In 2012, we increased employee
productivity by 3.5% and will continue to focus on
that metric through several tools as we leverage
growth. We also continue to reduce fuel costs by
flying fuel-efficient aircraft, which have reduced
our fuel burn as measured by available seat miles
flown per gallon by 13.4% over the last five years,
and by decreasing our exposure to the volatility of
jet fuel prices through our fuel hedge program.
Looking forward, we have committed to
purchasing 34 737-900ER and 37 737 MAX
aircraft, with deliveries in 2013 to 2022, to
position us for growth and ensure we will continue
to operate the quietest and most fuel-efficient
aircraft available for the foreseeable future.
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In 2012, we added 21 new markets to our
network and exited six as we continued to better
match supply with demand. We diversified our
network further to offer more utility to our
customers by adding flights to Hawaii and
expanding to cities in the mid-continental and
eastern U.S., such as Kansas City, San Antonio,
and Philadelphia. We will also add new routes
from Seattle to Salt Lake City and San Diego to
Boston and Lihue in 2013.

AIR GROUP

Alaska Air Group is a Delaware corporation
incorporated in 1985 and the holding company
of Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air. Although
Alaska and Horizon both operate as airlines,
their business plans, competition, and economic
risks differ substantially. Alaska Airlines is an
Alaska corporation that was organized in 1932
and incorporated in 1937. Horizon Air Industries
is a Washington corporation that first began
service and was incorporated in 1981. Horizon
was acquired by Air Group in 1986. Alaska
operates a fleet of passenger jets (mainline) and
contracts with Horizon, SkyWest Airlines, Inc.
(SkyWest) and Peninsula Airways, Inc. (PenAir)
for regional capacity under which Alaska receives
all passenger revenue from those flights. Horizon
operates a fleet of turboprop aircraft and sells all
of its capacity to Alaska pursuant to a capacity
purchase arrangement.

We attempt to deploy aircraft into the network in
a way that best optimizes our revenues and
profitability, reduces our seasonality, and takes
advantage of demand in areas where other
carriers have either exited or don’t have the
ability to serve.

The percentage of our capacity by market is as
follows:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

West Coast . . . . . . . 35% 37% 41% 45% 48%
Alaska . . . . . . . . . . . 17% 18% 19% 20% 20%
Transcon/midcon . . 19% 19% 19% 17% 18%
Hawaii . . . . . . . . . . . 20% 16% 11% 7% 4%
Mexico . . . . . . . . . . . 7% 9% 8% 8% 7%
Canada . . . . . . . . . . 2% 1% 2% 3% 3%

Total . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

MAINLINE

We offer extensive north/south service within the
western U.S., Canada and Mexico, and passenger
and dedicated cargo services to and within the
state of Alaska. We also provide long-haul east/
west service to Hawaii and 17 cities in the mid-
continental and eastern U.S., primarily from
Seattle, where we have our largest concentration
of departures; although we do offer long-haul
departures from other cities as well.

In 2012, we carried 19 million revenue
passengers in our mainline operations, and we
carry more passengers between Alaska and the
U.S. mainland than any other airline. Based on
the number of passengers carried in 2012,
Alaska’s leading airports are Seattle, Los
Angeles, Anchorage and Portland. Based on 2012
revenues, the leading nonstop routes are Seattle-
Anchorage, Seattle-Los Angeles, Seattle-Las
Vegas, and Seattle-San Diego. At December 31,
2012, Alaska’s operating fleet consisted of 124
Boeing 737 jet aircraft, compared to 117 aircraft
as of December 31, 2011.

The percentage of mainline passenger traffic by
market and average stage length is presented
below:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

West Coast . . . . . . . 29% 31% 33% 36% 40%
Within Alaska and

between Alaska
and the U.S.
mainland . . . . . . . 16% 17% 19% 21% 21%

Transcon/midcon . . 22% 22% 24% 23% 22%
Hawaii . . . . . . . . . . . 23% 19% 14% 9% 5%
Mexico . . . . . . . . . . 8% 9% 8% 9% 9%
Canada . . . . . . . . . . 2% 2% 2% 2% 3%

Total . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Average Stage
Length . . . . . . . . . 1,161 1,114 1,085 1,034 979

REGIONAL

Our regional operations consists of flights operated
by Horizon, SkyWest and Penair. In 2012, our
regional operations carried approximately 7 million
revenue passengers, primarily in the states of
Washington, Oregon, Idaho and California. Horizon
is the largest regional airline in the Pacific
Northwest and represented over 90% of Air Group’s
regional revenue passengers during 2012, 2011,
and 2010, respectively.
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Based on 2012 passenger enplanements on
regional aircraft, our leading airports are Seattle
and Portland. Based on revenues in 2012, our
leading nonstop routes are Seattle-Portland,
Seattle-Spokane, and Seattle-Boise. At
December 31, 2012, Horizon’s operating fleet
consisted of 48 Bombardier Q400 turboprop
aircraft. Horizon flights are listed under Alaska’s
designator code in airline reservation systems,
and in all customer-facing locations.

The percentage of regional passenger traffic by
market and average stage length is presented
below:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

West Coast . . . . . . . . . 69% 67% 70% 70% 72%
Pacific Northwest . . . . 20% 21% 19% 20% 18%
Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . 8% 8% 8% 7% 8%
Within Alaska . . . . . . . 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Mexico . . . . . . . . . . . . 1% 2% 1% 1% —

Total . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Average Stage
Length . . . . . . . . . . . 294 309 333 327 322

INDUSTRY CONDITIONS,
COMPETITION, AND ALLIANCES
GENERAL

The airline industry is highly competitive, subject
to various uncertainties, and has historically been
characterized by low profit margins. Uncertainties
include general economic conditions, volatile fuel
prices, industry instability, new competition, a
largely unionized work force, the need to finance
large capital expenditures and the related
availability of capital, government regulation, and
potential aircraft incidents. Airlines have high fixed
costs, primarily for wages, aircraft fuel, aircraft
ownership, and facilities rents. Because expenses
of a flight do not vary significantly based on the
number of passengers carried, a relatively small
change in the number of passengers or in pricing
has a disproportionate effect on an airline’s
operating and financial results. In other words, a
minor shortfall in expected revenue levels could
cause a disproportionately negative impact on our
operating and financial results. Passenger
demand and ticket prices are, to a large measure,
influenced by the general state of the economy,
current global economic and political events, and
total available airline seat capacity.

In 2012, the industry continued to exercise
capacity discipline due to economic uncertainty
and volatile fuel prices. This allowed the industry
to report stronger adjusted pretax profit margins
compared to 2011.

FUEL

Our business and financial results are highly
affected by the price and, potentially, the
availability of aircraft fuel. The cost of aircraft fuel
is volatile and outside of our control, and it can
have a significant and immediate impact on our
operating results. Over the past five years, aircraft
fuel expense ranged from 21% to 36% of
operating expenses. Fuel prices are impacted by
changes in both the price of crude oil and refining
margins, and can vary by region in the U.S.

The price of crude oil spiked in 2008 with a high
of nearly $150 per barrel in July 2008 and
dropped significantly to an average of $62 per
barrel in 2009. We saw upward pressure on fuel
prices again with an average crude oil price of
just over $80 per barrel in 2010, $95 per barrel
in 2011 and $94 per barrel in 2012. For us, a
$1 per barrel increase in the price of oil equates
to approximately $10 million of additional fuel
cost annually. Said another way, a one-cent
change in our fuel price per gallon will impact our
expected annual fuel cost by approximately $4
million per year.

Refining margins, which represent the price of
refining crude oil into aircraft fuel, are a smaller
portion of the overall price of jet fuel, but also
contributed to the overall price volatility in recent
years. Refining margin prices reached a high of
$45 per barrel in May 2008, before they dropped
to an average price of $10 per barrel in 2009
and $14 a barrel in 2010. Refining margin prices
more than doubled to $33 a barrel in 2011 and
increased again to $36 a barrel in 2012.

Generally, West Coast aircraft fuel prices are
somewhat higher and more volatile than prices in
the Gulf Coast or on the East Coast, putting our
mainline operation at a slight competitive
disadvantage. Our average raw fuel cost per
gallon increased 2% in 2012, 36% in 2011, and
27% in 2010.
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The percentage of our aircraft fuel expense by
crude and refining margins, as well as the
percentage of our aircraft fuel expense of
operating expenses:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Crude oil . . . . . . . . . 65% 70% 79% 82% 68%
Refining margins . . 25% 24% 14% 13% 16%
Other (a) . . . . . . . . . 10% 6% 7% 5% 16%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Aircraft fuel
expense . . . . . . . 35% 34% 27% 21% 36%

(a) Other includes gains and losses on settled fuel hedges,
unrealized mark-to-market fuel hedge gains or losses,
taxes and other into-plane costs.

We use crude oil call options and jet fuel refining
margin swap contracts as hedges to decrease
our exposure to the volatility of jet fuel prices.
Both call options and swaps effectively cap our
pricing for the crude oil and refining margin
components, limiting our exposure to increasing
fuel prices for about half of our planned fuel
consumption. With the call option contracts, we
still benefit from the decline in crude oil prices,
as there is no future cash exposure above the
premiums we pay to enter into the contracts. The
swap contracts do not require an upfront
premium, but do expose us to future cash
outlays in the event actual prices are below the
swap price during the hedge period.

We believe that operating fuel-efficient aircraft is
the best hedge against high fuel prices. Alaska
operates an all-Boeing 737 fleet and Horizon
operates an all-Q400 turboprop fleet. Alaska’s
fuel burn expressed in available seat miles flown
per gallon (ASMs/g) improved from 72.6 ASMs/g
in 2008 to 76.6 ASMs/g in 2012. These
reductions have not only reduced our fuel cost,
but also the amount of greenhouse gases and
other pollutants that our operations emit.

COMPETITION

Competition in the airline industry is intense. We
believe the principal competitive factors in the
industry that are important to customers are:

• safety record and reputation,

• fares,

• non-ticket fees,

• flight schedules,

• customer service,

• routes served,

• frequent flier programs,

• on-time arrivals,

• baggage handling,

• on-board amenities,

• type of aircraft, and

• codesharing relationships.

We compete with one or more domestic or
foreign airlines on most of our routes, including
both major legacy carriers and low-cost carriers.
Due to its short-haul markets, our regional
operations occasionally compete with ground
transportation in many markets. Both carriers, to
some extent, also compete with technology such
as video conferencing and internet-based
meeting tools that have changed the need for, or
frequency of face-to-face business meetings.

ALLIANCES WITH OTHER AIRLINES

We have marketing alliances with a number of
airlines that provide reciprocal frequent flyer
mileage credit and redemption privileges as well
as codesharing on certain flights as shown in the
table below. Alliances are an important part of
our strategy and enhance our revenues by:

• offering our customers more travel
destinations and better mileage credit/
redemption opportunities;

• giving our Mileage Plan program a
competitive advantage because of our
partnership with carriers from two of the
three major global alliances (Oneworld and
Skyteam);

• giving us access to more connecting traffic
from other airlines; and

• providing members of our alliance partners’
frequent flyer programs an opportunity to
travel on Alaska and its regional affiliates
while earning mileage credit in our partners’
programs.
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Most of our codeshare relationships are free-sell
codeshares, where the marketing carrier sells
seats on the operating carrier’s flights from the
operating carrier’s inventory, but takes no
inventory risk. Our marketing agreements have
various termination dates, and at any time, one
or more may be in the process of renegotiation.
American Airlines and Delta Air Lines are our
primary codeshare partners. They participate in
two of the three major global alliances.

Our marketing alliances with other airlines are as
follows:

Frequent
Flyer

Agreement

Codeshare—
Alaska

Flight # on
Flights

Operated by
Other Airline

Codeshare—
Other Airline
Flight # on

Flights
Operated by

Alaska /
Horizon /
SkyWest

Major U.S. or
International Airlines

Aeromexico (a) . . . . . . Yes No Yes
American Airlines/

American Eagle . . . Yes Yes Yes
Air France . . . . . . . . . . Yes No Yes
British Airways . . . . . . Yes No No
Cathay Pacific

Airways . . . . . . . . . . Yes No Yes
Delta Air Lines (b) . . . Yes Yes Yes
Emirates . . . . . . . . . . Yes No No
Icelandair . . . . . . . . . . Yes No Yes
KLM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Yes No Yes
Korean Air . . . . . . . . . Yes No Yes
Lan S.A. . . . . . . . . . . . Yes No Yes
Air Pacific (c) . . . . . . . Yes No Yes
Qantas . . . . . . . . . . . . Yes No Yes

Regional Airlines

SkyWest (c) . . . . . . . . Yes Yes No
Era Alaska . . . . . . . . . Yes Yes No
PenAir (c) . . . . . . . . . . Yes Yes No
Kenmore Air (c) . . . . . Yes No No

(a) Alaska and Aeromexico launched a new codeshare
partnership in December 2012, and plan to commence a
reciprocal frequent flyer partnership by March 31, 2013.

(b) Alaska has codeshare agreements with the Delta
Connection carriers SkyWest, ExpressJet, Pinnacle, and
Compass as part of its agreement with Delta.

(c) These airlines do not have their own frequent flyer
program. However, Alaska’s Mileage Plan members can
earn and redeem miles on these airlines’ route systems.

TICKET DISTRIBUTION

Airline tickets are distributed through three
primary channels:

• Alaskaair.com: It is less expensive for us to
sell through this direct channel and, as a
result, we continue to take steps to drive
more business to our website. In addition,
we believe this channel is preferable from a
branding and customer-relationship
standpoint in that we can establish ongoing
communication with the customer and tailor
offers accordingly.

• Traditional and online travel agencies: Both
traditional and online travel agencies
typically use Global Distribution Systems
(GDS), such as Sabre, to obtain their fare
and inventory data from airlines. Bookings
made through these agencies result in a fee
that is charged to the airline. Many of our
large corporate customers require us to use
these agencies. Some of our competitors do
not use this distribution channel and, as a
result, have lower ticket distribution costs.

• Reservation call centers: These call centers
are located in Phoenix, AZ, Kent, WA, and
Boise, ID. We generally charge a $15 fee for
booking reservations through these call
centers.

Our sales by channel are as follows:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Alaskaair.com . . . . . . . 54% 51% 48% 45% 48%
Traditional agencies . . 27% 28% 28% 32% 28%
Online travel

agencies . . . . . . . . . 13% 13% 15% 11% 14%
Reservation call

centers . . . . . . . . . . 6% 8% 9% 12% 10%

Total . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

SEASONALITY AND OTHER FACTORS

Our results of operations for any interim period
are not necessarily indicative of those for the
entire year because our business is subject to
seasonal fluctuations. Our profitability is
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generally lowest during the first and fourth
quarters due principally to lower traffic.
Profitability typically increases in the second
quarter and then reaches its highest level during
the third quarter as a result of vacation travel,
including increased activity in the state of
Alaska. However, we have taken steps over the
past few years to better respond to the
seasonality of our operations by adding flights to
leisure destinations, like Hawaii, and expanding
to cities in the mid-continental and eastern U.S.

In addition to passenger loads, factors that could
cause our quarterly operating results to vary
include:

• general economic conditions and resulting
changes in passenger demand,

• pricing initiatives by us or our competitors,

• changes in fuel costs,

• the timing and amount of maintenance
expenditures (both planned and unplanned),

• increases or decreases in passenger and
volume-driven variable costs, and

• labor actions.

Many of the markets we serve experience
inclement weather conditions in the winter,
causing increased costs associated with deicing
aircraft, canceling flights, and reaccommodate
displaced passengers. Due to our geographic
area of operations, we can be more susceptible
to adverse weather conditions, particularly in the
state of Alaska and the Pacific Northwest, than
some of our competitors, who may be better able
to spread weather-related risks over larger route
systems.

No material part of our business or that of our
subsidiaries is dependent upon a single
customer, or upon a few high-volume customers.

EMPLOYEES
Our business is labor intensive. As of
December 31, 2012, we employed 12,932
(9,954 at Alaska and 2,978 at Horizon) active
full-time and part-time employees. Wages and
benefits, including variable incentive pay,
represented approximately 42% and 41% of our
total non-fuel operating expenses in 2012 and
2011, respectively.

Most major airlines, including ours, have
employee groups that are covered by collective
bargaining agreements. Airlines with unionized
work forces have higher labor costs than carriers
without unionized work forces, and they may not
have the ability to adjust labor costs downward
quickly enough to respond to new competition.
New entrants into the U.S. airline industry
generally do not have unionized work forces, and
often have lower costs and more liberal work
rules. At December 31, 2012, labor unions
represented 83% of Alaska’s and 49% of
Horizon’s employees. Our relations with our U.S.
labor organizations are governed by the Railway
Labor Act (RLA). Under this act, collective
bargaining agreements do not expire but instead
become amendable as of a stated date. If either
party wishes to modify the terms of any such
agreement, it must notify the other party in the
manner prescribed by the RLA and/or described
in the agreement. After receipt of such notice,
the parties must meet for direct negotiations,
and if no agreement is reached, either party may
request the National Mediation Board (NMB) to
initiate a process including mediation,
arbitration, and a potential “cooling off” period
that must be followed before either party may
engage in self-help.
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Alaska’s union contracts at December 31, 2012 were as follows:

Union Employee Group

Number of
Active

Employees Contract Status

Air Line Pilots Association
International (ALPA)

Pilots 1,452 Amendable 4/1/2013

Association of Flight Attendants
(AFA)

Flight attendants 2,987 In Negotiations

International Association of
Machinists and Aerospace
Workers (IAM)

Ramp service and stock
clerks

573 Amendable 7/19/2018

IAM Clerical, office and
passenger service

2,496 Amendable 1/1/2014

Aircraft Mechanics
Fraternal Association (AMFA)

Mechanics, inspectors
and cleaners

624 Amendable 10/17/2016

Mexico Workers Association of
Air Transport

Mexico airport personnel 83 Amendable 9/1/2013

Transport Workers Union of
America (TWU)

Dispatchers 39 Amendable 3/24/2015

Horizon’s union contracts at December 31, 2012 were as follows:

Union Employee Group

Number of
Active

Employees Contract Status

International Brotherhood of
Teamsters (IBT)

Pilots 550 Amendable
12/11/2018

AFA Flight attendants 505 In Negotiations

IBT Mechanics and related
classifications

298 Amendable
12/16/2014

TWU Dispatchers 18 Amendable
8/26/2014

National Automobile, Aerospace,
Transportation and General Workers

Station personnel in Vancouver
and Victoria, BC, Canada

46 Amendable
2/14/2016

IAM Maintenance Stores 34 In Negotiations
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The executive officers of Alaska Air Group, Inc. and executive officers of Alaska and Horizon who have
significant decision-making responsibilities, their positions and their respective ages are as follows:

Name Position Age

Air Group
or Subsidiary
Officer Since

Bradley Tilden . . . . . . . . President and Chief Executive Officer of Alaska Air
Group, Inc. and Alaska Airlines, Inc. and Chief Executive
Officer of Horizon Air Industries, Inc.

52 1994

Glenn Johnson . . . . . . . . Executive Vice President of Alaska Air Group, Inc. and
President of Horizon Air Industries, Inc.

54 1991

Keith Loveless . . . . . . . . Executive Vice President, General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary of Alaska Air Group, Inc. and
Alaska Airlines, Inc.

56 1996

Benito Minicucci . . . . . . Executive Vice President/Operations and Chief
Operating Officer of Alaska Airlines, Inc.

46 2004

Brandon Pedersen . . . . . Vice President/Finance and Chief Financial Officer of
Alaska Air Group, Inc. and Alaska Airlines, Inc.

46 2003

Mr. Tilden joined Alaska Airlines in 1991,
became Controller of Alaska Air Group and
Alaska Airlines in 1994, Chief Financial Officer in
February 2000, Executive Vice President/Finance
and Chief Financial Officer in January 2002,
Executive Vice President/Finance and Planning in
2007, and President of Alaska Airlines in
December 2008. He is a member of Air Group’s
Management Executive Committee and was
elected to the Air Group Board in 2010. He was
elected Chief Executive Officer of Alaska Air
Group, Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air Industries
in May 2012.

Mr. Johnson joined Alaska Airlines in 1982,
became Vice President/Controller and Treasurer
of Horizon Air Industries in 1991 and Vice
President/Customer Services in 2002. He
returned to Alaska Airlines in 2003 where he has
served in several roles, including Vice President/
Finance and Controller and Vice President/
Finance and Treasurer. He served as Senior Vice
President/Customer Service – Airports from
January 2006 through April 2007 and in April
2007, he was elected Executive Vice President/
Airports and Maintenance and Engineering. He
was elected Executive Vice President/Finance
and Chief Financial Officer of Alaska Air Group
and Alaska Airlines in December 2008. He was
elected President of Horizon Air Industries in
June 2010. He was elected Executive Vice

President Alaska Air Group in November 2012.
He is a member of Air Group’s Management
Executive Committee.

Mr. Loveless became Corporate Secretary and
Assistant General Counsel of Alaska Air Group
and Alaska Airlines in 1996. In 1999, he was
named Vice President/Legal and Corporate
Affairs, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
of Alaska Air Group and Alaska Airlines. He was
elected Executive Vice President Alaska Air
Group in November 2012. He is a member of Air
Group’s Management Executive Committee.

Mr. Minicucci joined Alaska Airlines in 2004 as
Staff Vice President of Maintenance and
Engineering and was promoted to Vice President
of Seattle Operations in June 2008. He was
elected Executive Vice President/Operations and
Chief Operating Officer of Alaska Airlines in
December 2008. He is a member of Air Group’s
Management Executive Committee.

Mr. Pedersen joined Alaska Airlines in 2003 as
Staff Vice President/Finance and Controller of
Alaska Air Group and Alaska Airlines and was
elected Vice President/Finance and Controller for
both entities in 2006. He was elected Vice
President/Finance and Chief Financial Officer of
Alaska Air Group and Alaska Airlines in June
2010. He is a member of Air Group’s
Management Executive Committee.
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REGULATION
GENERAL

The airline industry is highly regulated. The
Department of Transportation (DOT), the Federal
Aviation Administration (FAA) and the
Transportation Security Administration (TSA)
exercise significant regulatory authority over air
carriers.

• DOT: In order to provide passenger and
cargo air transportation in the U.S., a
domestic airline is required to hold a
certificate of public convenience and
necessity issued by the DOT. Subject to
certain individual airport capacity, noise and
other restrictions, this certificate permits an
air carrier to operate between any two points
in the U.S. Certificates do not expire, but
may be revoked for failure to comply with
federal aviation statutes, regulations, orders
or the terms of the certificates. While
airlines are permitted to establish their own
fares without governmental regulation, the
DOT has jurisdiction over the approval of
international codeshare agreements,
marketing alliance agreements between
major domestic carriers, international and
some domestic route authorities, Essential
Air Service market subsidies, carrier liability
for personal or property damage, and certain
airport rates and charges disputes.
International treaties may also contain
restrictions or requirements for flying
outside of the U.S. and impose different
carrier liability limits than those applicable
to domestic flights. The DOT has recently
been active in implementing a variety of
“passenger protection” regulations, covering
subjects such as advertising, passenger
communications, denied boarding
compensation and tarmac delay response.
Beginning January 2012, we began adhering
to the DOT’s full-fare advertising rule, which
requires quoted fares to include all
applicable government taxes and fees.
International fares and rates are subject to
the jurisdiction of the governments of the
foreign countries we serve. Beginning in July
2012, DOT rules stipulated that airlines
must charge passengers the same checked
baggage fee on all legs of a journey covered

by a single ticket, even if the passenger’s
journey involves flights on multiple carriers
with different checked baggage fees.

• FAA: The FAA, through Federal Aviation
Regulations (FARs), generally regulates all
aspects of airline operations, including
establishing personnel, maintenance and
flight operation standards. Domestic airlines
are required to hold a valid air carrier
operating certificate issued by the FAA.
Pursuant to these regulations we have
established, and the FAA has approved, our
operations specifications and a
maintenance program for each type of
aircraft we operate. The maintenance
program provides for the ongoing
maintenance of such aircraft, ranging from
frequent routine inspections to major
overhauls. From time to time the FAA issues
airworthiness directives (ADs) that must be
incorporated into our aircraft maintenance
program and operations. All airlines are
subject to enforcement actions that are
brought by the FAA from time to time for
alleged violations of FARs or ADs. At this
time, we are not aware of any enforcement
proceedings that could either materially
affect our financial position or impact our
authority to operate. New FAA rules
regarding pilot flight time, duty period and
rest came into effect in 2012. The rule
limits flight time to eight to nine hours and
duty period to nine to 14 hours. In addition,
the rule requires 10-hour minimum rest
periods prior to the duty period and at least
30 consecutive hours free from duty on a
weekly basis. The rule also places 28-day
and annual limits on actual flight time.

• TSA: Airlines serving the U.S. must operate
a TSA-approved Aircraft Operator Standard
Security Program (AOSSP), and comply with
TSA Security Directives (SDs) and
regulations. Airlines are subject to
enforcement actions that are brought by the
TSA from time to time for alleged violations
of the AOSSP, SDs or security regulations.
We are not aware of any enforcement
proceedings that could either materially
affect our financial position or impact our
authority to operate. Under TSA authority,
we are also required to collect a
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September 11 Security Fee of $2.50 per
enplanement from passengers and remit
that sum to the government to fund aviation
security measures. Carriers also pay the
TSA a security infrastructure fee to cover
passenger and property screening costs.
These security infrastructure fees amounted
to $13 million each year in 2012, 2011 and
2010.

The Department of Justice and DOT have
jurisdiction over airline antitrust matters. The
U.S. Postal Service has jurisdiction over certain
aspects of the transportation of mail and related
services. Labor relations in the air transportation
industry are regulated under the Railway Labor
Act. To the extent we continue to fly to foreign
countries and pursue alliances with international
carriers, we may be subject to certain regulations
of foreign agencies.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND OCCUPATIONAL
SAFETY MATTERS

We are subject to various laws and government
regulations concerning environmental matters
and employee safety and health in the U.S. and
other countries. U.S. federal laws that have a
particular effect on us include the Airport Noise
and Capacity Act of 1990, the Clean Air Act, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the
Clean Water Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act,
and the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act,
Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act,
and the Oil Pollution Control Act. We are also
subject to the oversight of the Occupational
Safety and Health Administration (OSHA)
concerning employee safety and health matters.
The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
OSHA, and other federal agencies have been
authorized to create and enforce regulations that
have an impact on our operations. In addition to
these federal activities, various states have been
delegated certain authorities under these federal
statutes. Many state and local governments
have adopted environmental and employee
safety and health laws and regulations. We
maintain our safety, health and environmental
programs in order to meet or exceed these
requirements.

We expect there will be legislation in the future
to reduce carbon and other greenhouse gas
emissions. Alaska and Horizon have transitioned
to more fuel-efficient aircraft fleets, thereby
greatly reducing our total emissions.

The Airport Noise and Capacity Act recognizes
the rights of airport operators with noise
problems to implement local noise abatement
programs so long as they do not interfere
unreasonably with interstate or foreign
commerce or the national air transportation
system. Authorities in several cities have
established aircraft noise reduction programs,
including the imposition of nighttime curfews. We
believe we have sufficient scheduling flexibility to
accommodate local noise restrictions.

Although we do not currently anticipate that
these regulatory matters, individually or
collectively, will have a material effect on our
financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows, new regulations or compliance issues that
we do not currently anticipate could have the
potential to harm our financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows in future periods.

INSURANCE

We carry Airline Hull, Spares and Comprehensive
Legal Liability Insurance in amounts and of the
type generally consistent with industry practice to
cover damage to aircraft, spare parts and spare
engines, as well as bodily injury and property
damage to passengers and third parties. Since
the September 11, 2001 attacks, this insurance
program excludes coverage for War and Allied
Perils, including hijacking, terrorism, malicious
acts, strikes, riots, civil commotion and other
identified perils. So, like other airlines, the
company has purchased war risk coverage for
such events through the U.S. government.

We believe that our emphasis on safety and our
state-of-the-art flight deck safety technology help
to control the cost of aviation insurance.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE
INFORMATION
Our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, including our annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those

reports are available on our website at
www.alaskaair.com, free of charge, as soon as
reasonably practicable after the electronic filing
of these reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The information
contained on our website is not a part of this
annual report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

If any of the following occurs, our business,
financial condition and results of operations
could suffer. In such case, the trading price of
our common stock could also decline. We
operate in a continually changing business
environment. In this environment, new risks may
emerge and already identified risks may vary
significantly in terms of impact and likelihood of
occurrence. Management cannot predict such
developments, nor can it assess the impact, if
any, on our business of such new risk factors or
of events described in any forward-looking
statements.

We have adopted an enterprise wide Risk
Analysis and Oversight Program designed to
identify the various risks faced by the
organization, assign responsibility for managing
those risks to individual executives as well as
align these risks with Board oversight. These
enterprise-level identified risks have been
aligned to the risk factors discussed below.

SAFETY, COMPLIANCE AND OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE

Our reputation and financial results could be
harmed in the event of an airline accident or
incident.

An accident or incident involving one of our
aircraft or an aircraft operated by one of our
codeshare partners or CPA carriers could involve
a significant loss of life and result in a loss of
confidence in our airlines by the flying public
and/or aviation authorities. We could experience
significant claims from injured passengers, by-
standers and surviving relatives, as well as costs
for the repair or replacement of a damaged
aircraft and its consequential temporary or
permanent loss from service. We maintain

liability insurance in amounts and of the type
generally consistent with industry practice, as do
our codeshare partners and CPA carriers.
However, the amount of such coverage may not
be adequate to fully cover all claims and we may
be forced to bear substantial economic losses
from an accident. Substantial claims resulting
from an accident in excess of our related
insurance coverage would harm our business
and financial results. Moreover, any aircraft
accident or incident, even if fully insured and
even if it does not involve one of our aircraft,
could cause a public perception that our airlines
or the equipment they fly are less safe or reliable
than other transportation alternatives, which
would harm our business.

Changes in government regulation imposing
additional requirements and restrictions on our
operations or on the airports at which we
operate could increase our operating costs and
result in service delays and disruptions.

Airlines are subject to extensive regulatory and
legal requirements, both domestically and
internationally, that involve significant
compliance costs. In the last several years,
Congress has passed laws, and the U.S. DOT,
the TSA and the FAA have issued regulations
that have required significant expenditures
relating to the maintenance and operation of
airlines and establishment of consumer
protections. Similarly, many aspects of an
airline’s operations are subject to increasingly
stringent federal, state and local laws protecting
the environment.

Because of significantly higher security and other
costs incurred by airports since September 11,
2001, many airports have increased their rates
and charges to air carriers. Additional laws,
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regulations, taxes, and airport rates and charges
have been proposed from time to time that could
significantly increase the cost of airline
operations or reduce the demand for air travel.
Although lawmakers may impose these
additional fees and view them as “pass-through”
costs, we believe that a higher total ticket price
will influence consumer purchase and travel
decisions and may result in an overall decline in
passenger traffic, which would harm our
business.

The airline industry continues to face potential
security concerns and related costs.

The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and
their aftermath negatively affected the airline
industry, including our company. Additional
terrorist attacks, the fear of such attacks or
other hostilities involving the U.S. could have a
further significant negative effect on the airline
industry, including us, and could:

• significantly reduce passenger traffic and
yields as a result of a potentially dramatic
drop in demand for air travel;

• significantly increase security and insurance
costs;

• make war risk or other insurance
unavailable or extremely expensive;

• increase fuel costs and the volatility of fuel
prices;

• increase costs from airport shutdowns, flight
cancellations and delays resulting from
security breaches and perceived safety
threats; and

• result in a grounding of commercial air
traffic by the FAA.

The occurrence of any of these events would
harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We rely on third-party vendors for certain
critical activities.

We have historically relied on outside vendors for
a variety of services and functions critical to our
business, including airframe and engine
maintenance, ground handling, fueling, computer

reservation system hosting, telecommunication
systems, and information technology
infrastructure and services. As part of our cost-
reduction efforts, our reliance on outside vendors
has increased and may continue to do so in the
future, especially since we rely on timely and
effective third-party performance in conjunction
with many of our technology-related initiatives. In
addition, in recent years, Alaska and Horizon
have subcontracted their heavy aircraft
maintenance, fleet service, facilities
maintenance, and ground handling services at
certain airports, including Seattle-Tacoma
International Airport, to outside vendors.

Even though we strive to formalize agreements
with these vendors that define expected service
levels, our use of outside vendors increases our
exposure to several risks. In the event that one
or more vendors go into bankruptcy, ceases
operation or fails to perform as promised,
replacement services may not be readily
available at competitive rates, or at all. If one of
our vendors fails to perform adequately, we may
experience increased costs, delays, maintenance
issues, safety issues or negative public
perception of our airline. Vendor bankruptcies,
unionization, regulatory compliance issues or
significant changes in the competitive
marketplace among suppliers could adversely
affect vendor services or force us to renegotiate
existing agreements on less favorable terms.
These events could result in disruptions in our
operations or increases in our cost structure.

Our operations are often affected by factors
beyond our control, including delays,
cancellations, and other conditions, which
could harm our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Like other airlines, our operations often are
affected by delays, cancellations and other
conditions caused by factors largely beyond our
control.

Other conditions that might impact our
operations include:

• air traffic congestion at airports or other air
traffic control problems;

• adverse weather conditions;
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• increased security measures or breaches in
security;

• international or domestic conflicts or
terrorist activity; and

• other changes in business conditions.

Due to our concentration of flights in the Pacific
Northwest and Alaska, we believe a large portion
of our operation is more susceptible to adverse
weather conditions than that of many of our
competitors. A general reduction in airline
passenger traffic as a result of any of the above-
mentioned factors could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

STRATEGY

The airline industry is highly competitive. If we
cannot successfully compete in the
marketplace, our business, financial condition
and operating results will be materially
adversely affected.

We face significant competition with respect to
routes, services, and fares. Some of our
competitors have lower costs than we do and
compete directly against us in our markets. We
continue to strive toward aggressive cost-
reduction goals that are an important part of our
business strategy of offering the best value to
passengers through competitive fares while
achieving acceptable profit margins and return
on capital. If we are unable to reduce our costs
over the long-term and achieve sustained
targeted return on invested capital, we will likely
not be able to grow our business in the future or
weather industry downturns and therefore our
financial results may suffer.

We depend on a few key markets to be
successful.

Our strategy is to focus on serving a few key
markets, including Seattle, Portland, Los
Angeles, Hawaii and Anchorage. A significant
portion of our flights occur to and from our
Seattle hub. In 2012, passengers to and from
Seattle accounted for 61% of our total
passengers.

We believe that concentrating our service
offerings in this way allows us to maximize our
investment in personnel, aircraft, and ground
facilities, as well as to gain greater advantage
from sales and marketing efforts in those
regions. As a result, we remain highly dependent
on our key markets. Our business could be
harmed by any circumstances causing a
reduction in demand for air transportation in our
key markets. An increase in competition in our
key markets could also cause us to reduce fares
or take other competitive measures that could
harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Economic uncertainty or another recession
would likely impact demand for our product and
could harm our financial condition and results
of operations.

The recent U.S. and global economic recession
resulted in a decline in demand for air travel.
While some economic indicators are showing
signs of growth, unemployment remains high in
some of our key markets. Given that the strength
of the U.S. and global economies have an impact
on the demand for air travel, a long-term
economic slump could result in a need to adjust
our capacity plans, which could harm our
business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are dependent on a limited number of
suppliers for aircraft and parts.

Alaska is dependent on Boeing as its sole
supplier for aircraft and many aircraft parts.
Horizon is similarly dependent on Bombardier.
Additionally, each carrier is dependent on sole
suppliers for aircraft engines. As a result, we are
more vulnerable to any problems associated with
the supply of those aircraft and parts, including
design defects, mechanical problems,
contractual performance by the manufacturers,
or adverse perception by the public that would
result in customer avoidance or in actions by the
FAA resulting in an inability to operate our
aircraft.
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We rely on partner airlines for codeshare and
frequent flyer marketing arrangements.

Alaska and Horizon are parties to marketing
agreements with a number of domestic and
international air carriers, or “partners,” including,
but not limited to, American Airlines and Delta Air
Lines. These agreements provide that certain
flight segments operated by us are held out as
partner “codeshare” flights and that certain
partner flights are held out for sale as Alaska
codeshare flights. In addition, the agreements
generally provide that members of Alaska’s
Mileage Plan program can earn miles on or
redeem miles for partner flights and vice versa.
We receive a significant amount of revenue from
flights sold under codeshare arrangements. In
addition, we believe that the frequent flyer
arrangements are an important part of our
Mileage Plan program. The loss of a significant
partner or certain partner flights through
bankruptcy, consolidation, or otherwise, could
have a negative effect on our revenues or the
attractiveness of our Mileage Plan, which we
believe is a source of competitive advantage.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

We rely heavily on automated systems to
operate our business, and a failure to invest in
new technology, or a disruption of our current
systems or their operators could harm our
business.

We depend on automated systems to operate
our business, including our airline reservation
system, our telecommunication systems, our
website, our maintenance systems, our check-in
kiosks, and other systems. Substantially all of
our tickets are issued to passengers as
electronic tickets and the majority of our
customers check in using our website or our
airport kiosks. We depend on our reservation
system to be able to issue, track and accept
these electronic tickets. In order for our
operations to work efficiently, we must continue
to invest in new technology to ensure that our
website, reservation system, and check-in
systems are able to accommodate a high volume
of traffic, maintain secure information, and

deliver important flight information. Substantial
or repeated website, reservations system or
telecommunication systems failures or service
disruptions could reduce the attractiveness of
our services and cause our customers to do
business with another airline. In addition, we rely
on other automated systems for crew
scheduling, flight dispatch, and other operational
needs. Disruptions, untimely recovery, or a
breach of these systems could result in the loss
of important data, an increase of our expenses,
an impact on our operational performance, or a
possible temporary cessation of our operations.

If we do not maintain the privacy and security
of our information, we could damage our
reputation and incur substantial legal and
regulatory costs.

We accept, store, and transmit information about
our customers, our employees, our business
partners and our business. In addition, we
frequently rely on third-party hosting sites and
data processors, including cloud providers. Our
sensitive information relies on secure
transmission over public and private networks. A
compromise of our systems, the security of our
infrastructure, or those of other business
partners that result in our information being
accessed or stolen by unauthorized persons
could adversely affect our operations and our
reputation.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND FINANCIAL
MARKETS

Our business, financial condition, and results of
operations are substantially exposed to the
volatility of jet fuel prices. Increases in jet fuel
costs would harm our business.

Fuel costs constitute a significant portion of our
total operating expenses, accounting for 35%,
34% and 27% of total operating expenses for the
years ended 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Future increases in the price of jet
fuel may harm our business, financial condition
and results of operations, unless we are able to
increase fares or add additional ancillary fees to
attempt to recover increasing fuel costs.
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The outcome of the resolution process, and any
subsequent challenge, through which new lease
terms at Sea-Tac will be set cannot be
predicted with certainty.

Our lease with the Port of Seattle for terminal
space at Seattle-Tacoma International Airport
expired on December 31, 2012. Negotiations for
a new lease have thus far been unsuccessful.
Absent a negotiated lease, federal law requires
the Port to set new rates by means of a
resolution. The Company and other Sea-Tac
carriers may accept the new resolution or ask
the DOT to set them aside as unreasonable
under federal law. The resolution process and
any subsequent challenge by us or other airlines
will not interrupt our tenancy at Sea-Tac.

Our continuing obligation to fund our traditional
defined-benefit pension plans could negatively
affect our ability to compete in the
marketplace.

Our defined-benefit pension plan assets are
subject to market risk. If market returns are poor
in the future or if interest rates used to discount
our future obligation decrease, any future
obligation to make additional cash contributions
in accordance with the Pension Protection Act of
2006 could increase and harm our liquidity. Poor
market returns or low interest rates could lead to
higher pension expense in our consolidated
statements of operations. The calculation of
pension expense is dependent on many
assumptions that are more fully described in
“Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 1 to
our consolidated financial statements.

Increases in insurance costs or reductions in
insurance coverage would harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Aviation insurers could increase their premiums
in the event of additional terrorist attacks,
hijackings, airline accidents or other events
adversely affecting the airline industry.
Furthermore, the full hull and liability war risk
insurance provided by the government is
currently mandated through December 31, 2013.
Although the government may again extend the
deadline for providing such coverage, we cannot
be certain that any extension will occur, or if it

does, for how long the extension will last. It is
expected that, should the government stop
providing such coverage to the airline industry,
the premiums charged by aviation insurers for
this coverage will be substantially higher than
the premiums currently charged by the
government and the coverage will be much more
limited, including smaller aggregate limits and
shorter cancellation periods. Significant
increases in insurance premiums would
adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

BRAND AND REPUTATION

As we evolve our brand to appeal to a changing
demographic and grow into new markets, we
will engage in strategic initiatives that may not
be favorably received by all Customers.

We continue to focus on strategic initiatives
designed to increase our brand appeal to a
diverse and evolving demographic of airline
travelers. These efforts could include significant
improvements to our in-airport and on-board
environments, increasing our direct customer
relationships through improvements to our
purchasing portals (digital and mobile), and
optimization of our customer loyalty programs.

If in pursuit of these efforts we may negatively
affect our reputation with some of our existing
customer base, which could result in an adverse
impact on our business and financial results.

LABOR RELATIONS AND LABOR STRATEGY

A significant increase in labor costs,
unsuccessful attempts to strengthen our
relationships with union employees, or loss of
key personnel could adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

Labor costs are a significant component of our
total expenses, accounting for approximately 42%,
41% and 43% of our non-fuel operating expenses
in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Each of
our represented employee groups has a separate
collective bargaining agreement, and could make
demands that would increase our operating
expenses and adversely affect our financial
performance if we agree to them.
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As of December 31, 2012, labor unions
represented approximately 83% of Alaska’s and
49% of Horizon’s employees. Although we have
been successful in maturing communications,
negotiating approaches, and other strategies to
enhance workforce engagement in the
Company’s long-term vision, future uncertainty
around open contracts could be a distraction,
affecting employee focus in our business and
diverting management’s attention from other
projects and issues.

We compete against the major U.S. airlines and
other businesses for labor in many highly skilled
positions. If we are unable to hire, train and
retain qualified employees at a reasonable cost,
sustain employee engagement in the Company’s
strategic vision, or if we are unsuccessful at
implementing succession plans for our key staff,
we may be unable to grow or sustain our
business. In such case, our operating results
and business prospects could be harmed.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

AIRCRAFT
The following table describes the aircraft we
operate and their average age at December 31,
2012:

Aircraft Type Seats Owned Leased Total

Average
Age in
Years

B737 Freighters &
Combis . . . . . . . 0/72 6 — 6 19.2

B737-400/700 . . 124/144 17 24 41 15.1
B737-800/900/

900ER . . . . . . .157/172/ 181 67 10 77 5.4

B737
Passenger
Aircraft . . . . . 84 34 118 8.8

Total
Mainline
Fleet . . . . . 90 34 124 9.3

Q400 . . . . . . . . . . 76 33 15 48 6.6

Total . . . . . . . . . 123 49 172 8.5

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
discusses future orders and options for
additional aircraft.

Many of our owned aircraft secure long-term debt
arrangements or collateralize our revolving credit
facility. See further discussion in “Liquidity and
Capital Resources.”

Alaska’s leased B737 aircraft have lease
expiration dates between 2013 and 2021.
Horizon’s leased Q400 aircraft have expiration
dates in 2018. Horizon also has two owned and
14 leased CRJ-700 aircraft that are subleased to
third-party carriers. The head leases on the 14
leased CRJ-700 aircraft have expiration dates
between 2018 and 2020. Alaska and Horizon
have the option to extend most of the leases for
additional periods, or the right to purchase the
aircraft at the end of the lease term, usually at
the then-fair-market value of the aircraft.

GROUND FACILITIES AND SERVICES
Alaska and Horizon lease ticket counters, gates,
cargo and baggage space, office space, and
other support areas at the majority of the
airports they serve. Alaska also owns terminal
buildings in various cities in the state of Alaska.

Alaska owns several buildings located at or near
Seattle-Tacoma International Airport (Sea-Tac)
near Seattle, WA. These include a multi-bay
hangar and shops complex (used primarily for
line maintenance), a flight operations and
training center, an air cargo facility, an
information technology office and datacenter,
and various other commercial office buildings,
including its Seattle corporate headquarters
complex. Alaska also leases a stores warehouse
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and additional office space in Kent, WA for its
call center functions. Alaska’s major facilities
outside of Seattle include a regional
headquarters building, an air cargo facility and a
hangar/office facility in Anchorage, AK, as well
as leased call center facilities in Phoenix, AZ and
Boise, ID. Alaska uses its own employees for
ground handling services at most of its airports
in the state of Alaska. At other airports

throughout its system, those services are
contracted to various third-party vendors.

Horizon owns its Seattle corporate headquarters
building. It leases an operations, training, and
aircraft maintenance facility in Portland and
Spokane, as well as line maintenance stations in
Boise, Bellingham, Eugene, San Jose, Medford,
Redmond, Seattle, and Spokane.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are a party to routine litigation matters
incidental to our business. Management believes
the ultimate disposition of these matters is not
likely to materially affect our financial position or
results of operations. This forward-looking

statement is based on management’s current
understanding of the relevant law and facts, and
it is subject to various contingencies, including
the potential costs and risks associated with
litigation and the actions of judges and juries.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY,
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2012, there were
70,376,543 shares of common stock of Alaska
Air Group, Inc. issued and outstanding and
2,921 shareholders of record. We have not paid
dividends on the common stock since 1992 and
have no plans to do so in the immediate future.
Our common stock is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (symbol: ALK). The following
table shows the trading range of Alaska Air
Group, Inc. common stock on the New York
Stock Exchange:

2012 2011

High Low High Low

First Quarter . . . . . . . . $39.77 $33.69 $32.50 $28.08
Second Quarter . . . . . . 36.62 31.29 35.04 29.50
Third Quarter . . . . . . . . 38.46 32.69 35.31 25.90
Fourth Quarter . . . . . . . 45.15 34.57 38.57 25.55

On February 15, 2012, the board of directors
declared a two-for-one split of the Company’s
common stock by means of a stock distribution.
The additional shares were distributed on
March 16, 2012, to the shareholders of record
on March 2, 2012. The stock split increased the
Company’s outstanding shares from
approximately 36 million shares to about
71 million shares. Our historical outstanding
shares were recast upon the distribution.

SALES OF NON-REGISTERED
SECURITIES
None

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED
PURCHASERS

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased

Average
Price
Paid
per

Share

Total
Number of

Shares
(or units)
Purchased

as Part
of

Publicly
Announced

Plans or
Programs

Maximum
remaining

dollar
value of
shares
that

can be
purchased

under
the plan

October 1,
2012 –
October 31,
2012 . . . . . . . 12,000 $38.03 12,000

November 1,
2012 –
November 30,
2012 . . . . . . . 110,510 40.78 110,510

December 1,
2012 –
December 31,
2012 . . . . . . . 80,000 43.44 80,000

Total . . . . . . 202,510 $41.67 202,510 $242

Purchased pursuant to a $250 million
repurchase plan authorized by the Board of
Directors in September 2012. The plan has no
expiration date, but is expected to be completed
in December 2014.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following graph compares our cumulative total stockholder return since December 31, 2007 with
the S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Airlines Index. The graph assumes that the value of the
investment in our common stock and each index (including reinvestment of dividends) was $100 on
December 31, 2007.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Alaska Air Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index,

and the Dow Jones US Airlines Index

Alaska Air Group, Inc. S&P 500 Dow Jones US Airlines

*$100 invested on 12/31/07 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright© 2013 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.
Copyright© 2013 Dow Jones & Co. All rights reserved.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS (audited)
Year Ended December 31 (in millions, except per share

amounts):
Operating Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,657 4,318 3,832 3,400 3,663
Operating Expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,125 3,869 3,361 3,133 3,835

Operating Income (Loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 532 449 471 267 (172)
Nonoperating expense, net of interest capitalized (a) . . . . . . (18) (55) (65) (64) (41)

Income (loss) before income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 514 394 406 203 (213)

Net Income (Loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 316 245 251 122 (136)

Average basic shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70.708 71.755 71.644 71.630 72.686
Average diluted shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 71.784 73.421 73.571 72.308 72.686
Basic earnings (loss) per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.47 3.41 3.50 1.70 (1.87)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.40 3.33 3.41 1.69 (1.87)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION (audited)
At End of Period (in millions):
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,505 5,167 5,017 4,996 4,836
Long-term debt, including current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,032 1,307 1,534 1,855 1,841
Shareholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,421 1,174 1,106 872 662
OPERATING STATISTICS (unaudited)
Consolidated: (b)
Revenue passengers (000) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,896 24,790 23,334 22,320 24,199
Revenue passenger miles (RPM) (000,000) “traffic” . . . . . . 27,007 25,032 22,841 20,811 21,390
Available seat miles (ASM) (000,000) “capacity” . . . . . . . . . 31,428 29,627 27,736 26,501 27,908
Load factor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85.9% 84.5% 82.4% 78.5% 76.6%
Yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14.92¢ 14.81¢ 14.30¢ 14.16¢ 15.27¢
Passenger revenues per ASM (PRASM) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12.82¢ 12.51¢ 11.78¢ 11.12¢ 11.70¢
Operating revenues per ASM (RASM) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14.82¢ 14.57¢ 13.82¢ 12.83¢ 13.12¢
Operating expenses per ASM, excluding fuel and noted

items (CASMex) (c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.48¢ 8.55¢ 8.82¢ 9.20¢ 8.47¢
Average number of full-time equivalent employees (FTE) . . . . 11,955 11,840 11,696 12,223 13,327
Mainline:
Revenue passengers (000) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,526 17,810 16,514 15,561 16,809
RPMs (000,000) “traffic” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,417 22,586 20,350 18,362 18,712
ASMs (000,000) “capacity” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,180 26,517 24,434 23,144 24,218
Load factor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 86.6% 85.2% 83.3% 79.3% 77.3%
Yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13.45¢ 13.26¢ 12.75¢ 12.60¢ 13.62¢
PRASM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11.65¢ 11.29¢ 10.62¢ 10.00¢ 10.52¢
CASMex (c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.56¢ 7.60¢ 7.85 ¢ 8.26¢ 7.49¢
Operating fleet at period-end . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124 117 114 115 110
Regional: (d)
Revenue passengers (000) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,371 6,980 6,820 6,759 7,390
RPMs (000,000) “traffic” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,590 2,446 2,491 2,449 2,678
ASMs (000,000) “capacity” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,247 3,110 3,302 3,357 3,690
Load factor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79.8% 78.6% 75.4% 73.0% 72.6%
Yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28.81¢ 29.13¢ 26.95¢ 25.88¢ 26.79¢
PRASM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22.98¢ 22.94¢ 20.33¢ 18.88¢ 19.44¢
Operating fleet at period-end (Horizon only) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 48 54 58 59

(a) Includes capitalized interest of $18 million, $12 million, $6 million, $8 million, and $23 million for 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009,
and 2008, respectively.

(b) Includes flights operated by SkyWest beginning in May 2011 and flights operated by PenAir under Capacity Purchase
Agreements (CPA).

(c) See reconciliation of this measure to the most directly related GAAP measure in the “Results of Operations” section.
(d) Data presented includes information related to regional CPAs, except for operating fleet.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW
The following Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations (MD&A) is intended to help the
reader understand the Company, our operations
and our present business environment. MD&A is
provided as a supplement to—and should be
read in conjunction with—our consolidated
financial statements and the accompanying
notes. All statements in the following discussion
that are not statements of historical information
or descriptions of current accounting policy are
forward-looking statements. Please consider our
forward-looking statements in light of the risks
referred to in this report’s introductory cautionary
note and the risks mentioned in Part I, “Item 1A.
Risk Factors.” This overview summarizes the
MD&A, which includes the following sections:

• Year in Review—highlights from 2012
outlining some of the major events that
happened during the year and how they
affected our financial performance.

• Results of Operations—an in-depth analysis
of the results of our operations for the three
years presented in our consolidated
financial statements. We believe this
analysis will help the reader better
understand our consolidated statements of
operations. Financial and statistical data is
also included here. This section includes
forward-looking statements regarding our
view of 2013.

• Liquidity and Capital Resources—an
analysis of cash flows, sources and uses of
cash, contractual obligations, commitments
and off-balance sheet arrangements, and an
overview of financial position.

• Critical Accounting Estimates—a discussion
of our accounting estimates that involve
significant judgment and uncertainties.

YEAR IN REVIEW

Our 2012 consolidated pretax income was $514
million compared to $394 million in 2011. The
$120 million improvement was primarily due to
the $339 million increase in revenues, partially
offset by the $161 million increase in aircraft
fuel expense and $95 million increase in other
operating expenses. Our improvement in
revenues was primarily due to a 7.9% increase in
traffic and a 0.7% increase in yield. The increase
in fuel cost was driven by the 2.2% increase in
raw cost per gallon on a 6.0% increase in
consumption.

See “Results of Operations” below for further
discussion of changes in revenues and operating
expenses and our reconciliation of Non-GAAP
measures to the most directly comparable GAAP
measure.

Accomplishments and Highlights

Accomplishments and highlights from 2012
include:

• Reported record adjusted earnings for 2012,
marking our ninth consecutive year in which
we reported an adjusted profit.

• Air Group employees earned $88 million in
incentive pay, or more than one-month’s pay
for most employees. Over the last four
years, employees have earned more than
$325 million in incentive pay, averaging 8%
of annual pay for most employees.

• Signed an aircraft purchase agreement with
The Boeing Company for 50 new 737
aircraft, including 37 of Boeing’s new 737
MAX aircraft with deliveries expected in
2015 through 2022.

• Improved employee productivity by 3.5
percent compared to the fourth quarter of
2011.

• Carried a record number passengers in
2012 and achieved a record load factor of
85.9 percent, up 1.4 points from the prior
year.
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• Completed renovation of Terminal 6 at Los
Angeles International Airport (LAX) in March,
which includes the Airport of the Future
design, new common use systems,
additional gates and convenient connections
with international flights.

• Repurchased 1,685,951 shares of common
stock for approximately $60 million. Since
2007, Air Group has used $320 million to
repurchase 18 million shares.

• Lowered adjusted debt-to-total capitalization
ratio by 8 points to 54 percent since
December 31, 2011 and by 27 points from
81 percent at the end of 2008.

• Held $1.3 billion in unrestricted cash and
marketable securities as of December 31,
2012.

• Achieved trailing twelve-month return on
invested capital of 13 percent, surpassing
the 10 percent goal for the third year in a
row.

• Contributed $110 million to the defined-
benefit pension plans during 2012, bringing
the total over four years to approximately
$540 million, despite having no required
contribution.

Awards and Recognitions

Awards and recognitions from 2012 include:

• For the fifth year in a row, Alaska Airlines
ranked “Highest in Customer Satisfaction
among Traditional Network Carriers” by J.D.
Power and Associates.

• Received “2012 Global Vision Award” by
Travel + Leisure magazine for Alaska
Airlines’ sustainability efforts.

• Alaska Airlines named “Best Regional Airline
in North America” at the 2012 World Airline
Awards.

• Alaska Airlines earned “Eco-Partnership of
the Year Award” by Air Transport World
magazine.

• Recognized Alaska Air Group as the 2011
Best Company in the Northwest by The
Seattle Times.

• Alaska Airlines received “2012 Fly Quiet
Bravo Award” by the Port of Seattle
Commission.

• Won the “Platinum” award for Alaska
Airlines’ excellence in baggage handling
from the International Air Transport
Association, the first carrier in North
America and only the second in the world to
earn that title.

New Markets

In 2012, we added non-stop routes to our
network as follows:

New Non-Stop Routes Between
Frequency
(Weekly) Start Date

San Jose to Palm Springs . . . . . Daily
(Seasonal) 2/17/2012

Seattle to Kansas City . . . . . . . . Daily 3/12/2012
Portland to Long Beach . . . . . . . Daily 3/12/2012
Oakland to Honolulu . . . . . . . . . Daily 4/10/2012
San Jose to Honolulu . . . . . . . . . Daily 4/10/2012
San Diego to Santa Rosa . . . . . Daily 6/4/2012
San Diego to Fresno . . . . . . . . . 2x Daily 6/4/2012
San Diego to Monterey . . . . . . . Daily 6/4/2012
Reno to San Jose . . . . . . . . . . . 2x Daily 6/4/2012
Portland to Bellingham . . . . . . . . Daily

(Seasonal) 6/4/2012
Portland to Bozeman . . . . . . . . . Daily

(Seasonal) 6/4/2012
Portland to Santa Barbara . . . . . Daily

(Seasonal) 6/4/2012
Seattle to Philadelphia . . . . . . . . Daily 6/11/2012
Seattle to Fort Lauderdale

(replaced Seattle to Miami) . . Daily 7/16/2012
Portland to Pasco . . . . . . . . . . . Daily 8/27/2012
Portland to Washington, D.C. . . Daily 8/28/2012
Seattle to San Antonio . . . . . . . . Daily 9/17/2012
San Diego to Orlando . . . . . . . . . 5x Weekly 10/11/2012
Portland to Lihue . . . . . . . . . . . . 4x Weekly

(Seasonal) 11/5/2012
Bellingham to Kahului . . . . . . . . 4x Weekly

(Seasonal) 11/8/2012
Anchorage to Kona . . . . . . . . . . 1x Weekly

(Seasonal) 11/10/2012

We will also add new cities and non-stop routes
in 2013 as follows:

New Non-Stop Routes
Between

Frequency
(Weekly) Start Date

Seattle to Salt Lake City . . . Twice Daily 4/4/2013
San Diego and Boston . . . . Daily 3/29/2013
San Diego and Lihue . . . . . . Daily (Seasonal) 6/7/2013

26



Alliances with Other Airlines

In October 2012, Delta Air Lines announced
expanded service to Asia through Seattle. Delta
will add a flight between Seattle and Shanghai
beginning in June 2013 and is proposing a flight
between Seattle and Tokyo-Haneda to begin in
March 2013. Through our existing codeshare
partnership, Delta is able to connect passengers
to more than 50 destinations on the Alaska
route network via Seattle. Increasing
international flow traffic will help support
Alaska’s continued capacity expansion in Seattle
and beyond.

In December 2012, we announced a new code-
sharing and frequent flier agreement with
Aeromexico. The new agreement will allow
Aeromexico and our customers the ability to
connect across 45 cities around Mexico and 11
countries in Central and South America. We also
announced enhanced frequent flier awards
benefits with Emirates, allowing members to
redeem awards for travel on each others’
programs in addition to earning miles on a
reciprocal basis as established when the
partnership began in March 2012.

In February 2013, we announced an expansion
of the existing code-share agreement with
American Airlines, allowing passengers from both
carriers greater access to their combined route
networks. New American code on our northern
California to Hawaii flights will continue to
support our growth in these markets. American
passengers will also find greater access to new
mid- and trans-continental flights on us, helping
build brand awareness and demand in many of
our newest destinations. Additionally, we will
code-share on 19 more American routes,
including 13 new destinations to which our
customers will be able to book travel through
alaskaair.com.

Update on Labor Negotiations

In July 2012, our ramp and stores agents,
represented by the International Association of
Machinists and Aerospace Workers (IAM), ratified
a six-year contract by a 91% margin before the
amendable date. The contract provides for an
initial wage increase of 2.5% followed by 1.5%
annual increases over the six-year term, and

contains important productivity improvements. It
also offers both the Company and our employees
the certainty that comes with a long-term deal.

In December 2012, we entered into a six-year
agreement with Horizon’s pilot union,
represented by the International Brotherhood of
Teamsters (IBT), for an extension of their
contract through December 2018. The deal is
mutually beneficial to both the company and our
pilots and calls for a signing bonus, wage step
increases and productivity gains over the term of
the contract. We also ratified a three-year
agreement with Horizon’s station personnel in
Vancouver and Victoria, represented by the
National Automobile, Aerospace, Transportation
and General Workers, in January 2013.

We are currently in negotiations with Alaska’s
and Horizon’s flight attendants, represented by
the Association of Flight Attendants (AFA), whose
contracts became amendable in April 2012 and
December 2011, respectively. In addition, we are
in early discussions with Alaska’s pilots,
represented by the Airline Pilots Association
(ALPA), whose contract is amendable in April
2013. We are also in negotiations with Horizon’s
maintenance store employees, represented by
IAM.

Stock Repurchase

In 2012, we repurchased 1,685,951 shares of
our common stock for $60 million under the
share repurchase plans authorized by our Board
of Directors. Since 2007, we have repurchased
18 million shares of common stock under such
programs for $320 million for an average price of
approximately $17 per share.

Outlook

Our primary focus every year is to run safe,
compliant and reliable operations at our airlines.
In addition to our primary objective, we will
remain focused on providing a hassle-free
experience for our customers. Specifically, we
plan to enhance mobile features and expand our
self-bag tagging capabilities. Additionally, as part
of our strategy of enhancing our brand, we are
considering ways to enhance the onboard
experience, such as seats, cabin layout, seat
power, and in-flight entertainment.
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Our biggest concerns going forward are
increased competition in our markets,
particularly low-cost competitors, and our
unsigned labor agreements. Our goal is to sign
labor agreements prior to the amendable date to
to avoid the negative impacts of prolonged
negotiations and provide our employees with the
long-term stability that helps promote higher
customer satisfaction. To combat low-cost
competitors, we took delivery of four B737-
900ER aircraft in 2012 and will take delivery of
an additional nine in 2013, which will provide
additional efficiencies in fuel consumption and
overall unit cost reductions.

Our advance bookings suggest our load factors
will be up 0.5 pts in February and flat in March
compared to the same periods in 2012 on an
expected 8.5% increase in capacity for the first
quarter of 2013.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2012 COMPARED WITH 2011

Our consolidated net income for 2012 was $316
million, or $4.40 per diluted share, compared to
net income of $245 million, or $3.33 per diluted
share, in 2011. Significant items impacting the
comparability between the periods are as
follows:

• Both periods include adjustments to reflect
the timing of net unrealized mark-to-market
gains or losses related to our fuel hedge
positions. For 2012, we recognized net
mark-to-market losses of $38 million ($23
million after tax, or $0.33 per share)
compared to losses of $30 million ($18
million after tax, or $0.26 per share) in
2011.

• In 2011, we incurred $39 million ($24
million after tax, of $0.33 per share) in
expense as part of Horizon’s fleet transition
to an all Q400 fleet.

ADJUSTED (NON-GAAP) RESULTS AND
PER-SHARE AMOUNTS
We believe disclosure of earnings excluding the
impact of these individual charges is useful
information to investors because:
• We believe it is the basis by which we are

evaluated by industry analysts;
• Our results excluding these items are most

often used in internal management and
board reporting and decision-making;

• Our results excluding these adjustments
serve as the basis for our various employee
incentive plans, thus the information allows
investors to better understand the changes
in variable incentive pay expense in our
consolidated statements of operations;

• It is useful to monitor performance without
these items as it improves a reader’s ability
to compare our results to those of other
airlines; and

• It is consistent with how we present
information in our quarterly earnings press
releases.

Although we are presenting these non-GAAP
amounts for the reasons above, investors and
other readers should not necessarily conclude
that these amounts are non-recurring, infrequent,
or unusual in nature.

Excluding the mark-to-market adjustments and
other special charges, our adjusted consolidated
net income for 2012 was $339 million, or $4.73
per diluted share, compared to an adjusted
consolidated net income of $287 million, or
$3.92 per share, in 2011.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011

(in millions, except per
share amounts) Dollars

Diluted
EPS Dollars

Diluted
EPS

Net income and diluted
EPS as reported . . . . . $316 $4.40 $245 $3.33

Fleet transition costs,
net of tax . . . . . . . . . . — — 24 0.33

Mark-to-market fuel
hedge adjustments,
net of tax . . . . . . . . . . 23 0.33 18 0.26

Non-GAAP adjusted
income and per share
amounts . . . . . . . . . . $339 $4.73 $287 $3.92
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OPERATING STATISTICS SUMMARY (unaudited)
Alaska Air Group, Inc.

Below are operating statistics we use to measure operating performance. We often refer to unit
revenues and adjusted unit costs, which is a non-GAAP measure.

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change 2010 Change

Consolidated Operating Statistics: (a)
Revenue passengers (000) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,896 24,790 4.5% 23,334 6.2%
RPMs (000,000) “traffic” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,007 25,032 7.9% 22,841 9.6%
ASMs (000,000) “capacity” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,428 29,627 6.1% 27,736 6.8%
Load factor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85.9% 84.5% 1.4pts 82.4% 2.1pts
Yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14.92¢ 14.81¢ 0.7% 14.30¢ 3.6%
PRASM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12.82¢ 12.51¢ 2.5% 11.78¢ 6.2%
CASM excluding fuel and fleet transition

costs (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.48¢ 8.55¢ (0.8)% 8.82¢ (3.1)%
Economic fuel cost per gallon (b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.37 $ 3.18 6.0% $ 2.37 34.2%
Fuel gallons (000,000) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 422 398 6.0% 377 5.6%
Average number of full-time equivalent

employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,955 11,840 1.0% 11,696 1.2%
Mainline Operating Statistics:
Revenue passengers (000) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,526 17,810 4.0% 16,514 7.8%
RPMs (000,000) “traffic” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,417 22,586 8.1% 20,350 11.0%
ASMs (000,000) “capacity” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,180 26,517 6.3% 24,434 8.5%
Load factor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 86.6% 85.2% 1.4pts 83.3% 1.9pts
Yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13.45¢ 13.26¢ 1.4% 12.75¢ 4.0%
PRASM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11.65¢ 11.29¢ 3.2% 10.62¢ 6.3%
CASM excluding fuel (b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.56¢ 7.60¢ (0.5)% 7.85¢ (3.2)%
Economic fuel cost per gallon (b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.36 $ 3.18 5.7% $ 2.37 34.2%
Fuel gallons (000,000) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 368 346 6.4% 320 8.1%
Average number of full-time equivalent

employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,178 8,916 2.9% 8,651 3.1%
Aircraft utilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10.7 10.5 1.9% 10.0 5.0%
Average aircraft stage length . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,161 1,114 4.2% 1,085 2.7%
Mainline operating fleet at period-end . . . . . . . . . . 124 117 7a/c 114 3a/c
Regional Operating Statistics: (c)
Revenue passengers (000) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,371 6,980 5.6% 6,820 2.3%
RPMs (000,000) “traffic” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,590 2,446 5.9% 2,491 (1.8)%
ASMs (000,000) “capacity” . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,247 3,110 4.4% 3,302 (5.8)%
Load factor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79.8% 78.6% 1.2pts 75.4% 3.2pts
Yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28.81¢ 29.13¢ (1.1)% 26.95¢ 8.1%
PRASM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22.98¢ 22.94¢ 0.2% 20.33¢ 12.8%

(a) Except for FTEs, data includes information related to regional CPA flying with Horizon, SkyWest and PenAir.
(b) See reconciliation of this measure to the most directly related GAAP measure in the “Results of Operations” section.
(c) Data presented includes information related to regional CPAs.
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OPERATING REVENUES

Total operating revenues increased $339 million,
or 8%, during 2012 compared to the same
period in 2011. The changes are summarized in
the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 % Change

Passenger
Mainline . . . . . . . . $3,284 $2,995 10
Regional . . . . . . . . 746 713 5

Total passenger
revenue . . . . . . . . . . $4,030 $3,708 9

Freight and mail . . . . . . . . . 111 109 2
Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . 516 501 3

Total operating revenues . . $4,657 $4,318 8

Passenger Revenue—Mainline

Mainline passenger revenue for 2012 increased
by 10% on a 6.3% increase in capacity and a
3.2% increase in PRASM compared to 2011. The
increase in capacity was driven by new routes
added in 2012, most of which were to and from
Hawaii. The increase in PRASM was driven by a
1.4% increase in ticket yield and a 1.4-point
increase in load factor compared to the prior
year. The increase in yield is due to strong
demand throughout the year, while the increase
in load factor is due to adding more traffic in our
high density markets.

Passenger Revenue—Regional

Regional passenger revenue increased by $33
million, or 5%, compared to 2011 on a 4.4%
increase in capacity and flat PRASM compared to
2011. PRASM was affected by a 1.1% decrease
in ticket yield, offset by a 1.2-point increase in
load factor compared to the prior year. The
decrease in yield is due to increased competition
in certain markets, while the increase in load
factor is due to better matching of supply with
demand.

Freight and Mail

Freight and mail revenue increased $2 million, or
2%, primarily due to higher freight volumes and
an increase in fuel and security surcharges,
which offset a decrease in mail volumes.

Other—Net
Other—net revenue increased $15 million, or
3%, from 2011. This is primarily due to an
increase in our Mileage Plan revenues of 7% and
buy-on-board sales of 20%. Buy-on-board
improved due to an increase in food sales of
24% and beverage sales of 14%. These
increases were partially offset by a decrease in
bag fees of 2% due to general shifts in customer
behavior and our Club 49 program that launched
in the fourth quarter of 2011, which waives the
checked bag fee for residents in the state of
Alaska who have joined the program.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Total operating expenses increased $256
million, or 7%, compared to 2011 mostly as a
result of higher fuel costs. We believe it is useful
to summarize operating expenses as follows,
which is consistent with the way expenses are
reported internally and evaluated by
management:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 % Change

Fuel expense . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,459 $1,298 12
Non-fuel expenses . . . . . . . 2,666 2,571 4

Total Operating
Expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,125 $3,869 7

Significant operating expense variances from
2011 are more fully described below.

Wages and Benefits
Wages and benefits increased during 2012 by
$47 million, or 5%, compared to 2011. The
primary components of wages and benefits are
shown in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 % Change

Wages . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 726 $703 3
Pension and defined-

contribution
retirement
benefits . . . . . . . . . . 103 88 17

Medical benefits . . . . . 109 108 1
Other benefits and

payroll taxes . . . . . . . 100 92 9

Total wages and
benefits . . . . . . . . . . $1,038 $991 5
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Wages increased 3% on a 1% increase in FTEs
as a result of increased flying and higher wage
rates throughout our different employee groups
which have wage step increase in their contracts.
The contracts with the different employee groups
contain important productivity improvements,
which resulted in a 3.5% increase in the number
of passengers handled per FTE.

Pension and other retirement-related benefits
increased 17% primarily due to a decrease in the
discount rate on the future benefit obligation
compared to the prior year. The impact of lower
rates resulted in an increase in our pension
expense.

Medical benefits increased 1% from the prior
year primarily due to an increase in employee
health-care claims, partially offset by a decline in
post-retirement medical expense.

Other benefits and payroll taxes increased 9%
from the prior year due to increased workers’
compensation expense of $4 million as a result
of higher loss rates in more recent claim years
and increased stock-based compensation of
$4 million.

We expect wages and benefits to be 6% to 7%
higher in 2013 compared to 2012 on a 3% to 4%
increase in FTEs, as well as inflation in medical
benefits of 10%. Pension and other retirement-
related benefits is expected to be flat compared
to 2012.

Variable Incentive Pay

Variable incentive pay expense increased from
$72 million in 2011 to $88 million in 2012. The
increase is due to actual results exceeding our
target results of financial and operational
performance more so than in the prior year.

If we meet targets established under our
Performance Based Pay and Operational
Performance Rewards programs, we expect
variable incentive pay will be approximately $60
million in 2013. If we exceed the targets,
variable incentive pay will be higher. If we do not
achieve targets, it will be lower.

Aircraft Fuel

Aircraft fuel expense includes both raw fuel
expense (as defined below) plus the effect of
mark-to-market adjustments to our fuel hedge
portfolio included in our consolidated statement
of operations as the value of that portfolio
increases and decreases. Our aircraft fuel
expense is very volatile, even between quarters,
because it includes these gains or losses in the
value of the underlying instrument as crude oil
prices and refining margins increase or
decrease. Raw fuel expense is defined as the
price that we generally pay at the airport, or the
“into-plane” price, including taxes and fees. Raw
fuel prices are impacted by world oil prices and
refining costs, which can vary by region in the
U.S. Raw fuel expense approximates cash paid
to suppliers and does not reflect the effect of our
fuel hedges.

Aircraft fuel expense increased $161 million, or
12% compared to 2011. The elements of the
change are illustrated in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011

(in millions, except for
per gallon amounts) Dollars

Cost/
Gal Dollars

Cost/
Gal

Raw or “into-plane” fuel
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,397 $3.31 $1,289 $ 3.24

(Gains) losses on
settled hedges . . . . . 24 0.06 (21) (0.06)

Consolidated economic
fuel expense . . . . . . $1,421 $3.37 $1,268 $ 3.18

Mark-to-market fuel
hedge
adjustments . . . . . . . 38 0.09 30 0.08

GAAP fuel expense . . . . $1,459 $3.46 $1,298 $ 3.26

Fuel gallons . . . . . . . . . 422 398

Fuel gallons consumed increased 6.0% in line
with the increase in departures and block hours.

The raw fuel price per gallon increased 2.2% as a
result of higher West Coast jet fuel prices. West
Coast jet fuel prices are impacted by both the
price of crude oil, as well as refining margins
associated with the conversion of crude oil to jet
fuel. The increase in raw fuel price per gallon
during 2012 was due to the increase in refining
margins of 10.3%, offset by the decrease in
crude oil of 1.3%, as compared to the prior year.
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We also evaluate economic fuel expense, which
we define as raw fuel expense adjusted for the
cash we receive from, or pay to, hedge
counterparties for hedges that settle during the
period, and for the premium expense that we
paid for those contracts. A key difference
between aircraft fuel expense and economic fuel
expense is the timing of gain or loss recognition
on our hedge portfolio. When we refer to
economic fuel expense, we include gains and
losses only when they are realized for those
contracts that were settled during the period
based on their original contract terms. We
believe this is the best measure of the effect
that fuel prices are currently having on our
business because it most closely approximates
the net cash outflow associated with purchasing
fuel for our operations. Accordingly, many
industry analysts evaluate our results using this
measure, and it is the basis for most internal
management reporting and incentive pay plans.

Losses recognized for hedges that settled during
the year was $24 million in 2012, compared to
gains of $21 million in 2011. These amounts
represent the cash received net of the premium
expense recognized for those hedges.

We currently expect our economic fuel price per
gallon to be approximately 3% higher in the first
quarter of 2013 than the first quarter of 2012
due to the increased premium costs related to
our fuel hedge program. As both oil prices and
refining margins are volatile, we are unable to
forecast the full-year cost with any certainty.

Aircraft Maintenance

Aircraft maintenance increased by $16 million, or
8%, compared to the prior year, primarily due to
a $13 million increase in unscheduled engine
removals for our Q400 aircraft and an $8 million
increase related to our 737-800 aircraft related
to heavier airframe checks, offset by a $12
million decrease due to lighter airframe checks
for our 737-400 aircraft.

We expect aircraft maintenance to be
approximately 10% higher in 2013 due to an
increase in lease return costs and scheduled
maintenance events for our B737 aircraft, offset
by lower maintenance costs for our Q400 aircraft.

Aircraft Rent

Aircraft rent was flat compared to the prior-year
period primarily due to lower rent expense for 13
fewer CRJ 700 aircraft of $3 million and three
B737-400 aircraft lease extensions of $2
million, offset by additional rent expense for
three B737-700 aircraft which were sold and
leased back of $3 million.

We expect aircraft rent to be flat in 2013 as we
intend to return six B737 aircraft in the fourth
quarter of 2013.

Landing Fees and Other Rentals

Landing fees and other rentals increased $5
million, or 2%, primarily due to higher facilities
rents of $5 million and increased landing fees of
$4 million due to increased departures of 1.8%.
These increases were partially offset by lower
rents at LAX of $8 million.

We expect landing fees and other rentals to be
slightly higher in 2013 due to an expected
increase in departures.

Contracted Services

Contracted services increased $15 million, or
8%, primarily due to an increase in passengers
of 4.5% and capacity purchase flying of $13
million related to SkyWest, which began in May
2011. Additionally, we experienced higher
passenger and ramp handling of $2 million as a
result of an increase in the number of flights to
airports where outside vendors are used.

We expect contracted services to be higher in
2013 to handle expected growth in the number
of passengers.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses decreased by $7 million, or 4%,
compared to 2011 as a result of lower fees
related to debit card purchases of $4 million and
flat global distribution system (GDS) fees, offset
by an increase in advertising and promotional
activities of $2 million.
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We expect selling expense will be higher in
2013, primarily due to increased advertising and
promotional activities and revenue related costs,
such as credit card commissions.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $17
million, or 7%, compared to the prior year. This is
primarily due to additional depreciation expense
for the annualization of B737 aircraft and Q400
aircraft delivered in 2011, as well as the
deliveries of B737 aircraft in 2012. In addition,
we incurred depreciation of $6 million since we
placed Terminal 6 at LAX into service in March
2012. These increases were offset by a
decrease in depreciation expense for the CRJ
700 aircraft removed from the fleet in 2011 and
other assets that became fully depreciated or
were removed from operation.

We expect depreciation and amortization to be
higher in 2013 in line with our nine aircraft
deliveries and the annualization of seven aircraft
deliveries in 2012.

Food and Beverage Service

Food and beverage costs increased $12 million,
or 18%, from the prior year due to an increased
number of passengers of 4.5%, increase in sales
of buy-on-board products of 20%, the higher cost
of some of our premium products served on
board, and increased costs associated with food
delivery.

We expect food and beverage costs to be higher
in 2013 due to an anticipated increase in sales
in line with an expected increase in the number
of passengers.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses increased $13 million,
or 6%, compared to 2011. The increase is
primarily driven by higher IT and professional
service costs of $8 million associated with our
key initiatives and infrastructure improvements,
and higher personnel non-wage costs such as
hotels, meals and per diems of $7 million.

We expect other operating expenses to be higher
in 2013 due to an expected increase in IT
spending of approximately $20 million and higher
professional service costs.

Fleet Transition and Restructuring Related
Expenses

Fleet transition costs decreased $39 million, as
we completed our transition to an all-Q400 fleet
at Horizon in 2011.

Operating Costs per Available Seat Mile

Our operating costs per ASM (CASM) are
summarized below:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 % Change

Consolidated:
Total operating expenses per

ASM (CASM) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13.12¢ 13.06¢ 0.5
Less the following components:

Aircraft fuel, including
hedging gains and
losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.64 4.38 5.9

Fleet transition costs . . . . — 0.13 NM

CASM, excluding fuel and
fleet transition costs . . . . . . 8.48¢ 8.55¢ (0.8)

Mainline:
Total mainline operating

expenses per ASM
(CASM) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12.09¢ 11.87¢ 1.9

Less the following components:
Aircraft fuel, including

hedging gains and
losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.53 4.27 6.1

CASM, excluding fuel . . . . . . . 7.56¢ 7.60¢ (0.5)

NM–Not Meaningful
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We have listed separately in the above table our
fuel costs per ASM and our unit costs, excluding
fuel and other noted items. These amounts are
included in CASM, but for internal purposes we
consistently use unit cost metrics that exclude
fuel and certain special items to measure our
cost-reduction progress. We believe that such
analysis may be important to investors and other
readers of these financial statements for the
following reasons:

• By eliminating fuel expense and certain
special items from our unit cost metrics, we
believe that we have better visibility into the
results of our non-fuel cost-reduction
initiatives. Our industry is highly competitive
and is characterized by high fixed costs, so
even a small reduction in non-fuel operating
costs can result in a significant
improvement in operating results. In
addition, we believe that all domestic
carriers are similarly impacted by changes in
jet fuel costs over the long run, so it is
important for management (and thus
investors) to understand the impact of (and
trends in) company-specific cost drivers
such as labor rates and productivity, airport
costs, maintenance costs, etc., which are
more controllable.

• CASM excluding fuel and certain special
items is one of the most important
measures used by management and by the
Air Group Board of Directors in assessing
quarterly and annual cost performance.

• CASM excluding fuel (and other items as
specified in our plan documents) is an
important metric for the employee incentive
plan that covers all employees.

• CASM excluding fuel and certain special
items is a measure commonly used by
industry analysts, and we believe it is the
basis by which they compare our airlines to
others in the industry. The measure is also
the subject of frequent questions from
investors.

• Disclosure of the individual impact of certain
noted items provides investors the ability to
measure and monitor performance both with
and without these special items. We believe
that disclosing the impact of certain items,
such as fleet transition costs, is important
because it provides information on
significant items that are not necessarily
indicative of future performance. Industry
analysts and investors consistently measure
our performance without these items for
better comparability between periods and
among other airlines.

• Although we disclose our passenger unit
revenues, we do not (nor are we able to)
evaluate unit revenues excluding the impact
that changes in fuel costs have had on
ticket prices. Fuel expense represents a
large percentage of our total operating
expenses. Fluctuations in fuel prices often
drive changes in unit revenues in the mid-to-
long term. Although we believe it is useful to
evaluate non-fuel unit costs for the reasons
noted above, we would caution readers of
these financial statements not to place
undue reliance on unit costs excluding fuel
as a measure or predictor of future
profitability because of the significant
impact of fuel costs on our business.

Our current expectations for capacity and operating costs per ASM are summarized below:

Forecast
Q1 2013

Change
Y-O-Y

Forecast Full
Year 2013

Change
Y-O-Y

Consolidated:
Capacity (ASMs in millions) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,950 - 8,000 ~8.5% 33,600 - 34,100 ~7.5%
Cost per ASM excluding fuel and special items (cents) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.79 - 8.84 flat 8.35 - 8.40 ~(1)%

Mainline:
Capacity (ASMs in millions) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,150 - 7,200 ~9% 30,150 - 30,650 ~8%
Cost per ASM excluding fuel and special items (cents) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.88 - 7.93 flat 7.50 - 7.55 ~(0.5)%
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CONSOLIDATED NONOPERATING INCOME
(EXPENSE)

Net nonoperating expense decreased $37 million
from 2011. This is due to lower interest expense
of $13 million on lower average outstanding debt
balances and additional capitalized interest due
to higher levels of aircraft purchase deposits and
capital expenditures. Additionally, we incurred
pre-payment penalties of $8 million and an
impairment charge of $6 million on an owned
aircraft that was leased to another carrier that
filed for bankruptcy protection in the prior year.
The decrease was partially offset by lower
interest income earned on our marketable
securities portfolio.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our effective income tax rate for 2012 was
38.5% compared to 37.9% for 2011. The
difference between the effective tax rates and
our statutory tax rate of approximately 37.5% is
due primarily to miscellaneous non-deductible
expenses.

Our effective tax rate can vary significantly
between quarters and for the full year, depending
on the magnitude of non-deductible expenses in
proportion to pretax results.

2011 COMPARED WITH 2010

Our consolidated net income for 2011 was $245
million, or $3.33 per diluted share, compared to
net income of $251 million, or $3.41 per diluted
share, in 2010. Significant items impacting the
comparability between the periods were as
follows:

• Both periods included adjustments to reflect
the timing of net unrealized mark-to-market
gains or losses related to our fuel hedge
positions. For 2011, we recognized net
mark-to-market losses of $30 million ($18
million after tax, or $0.26 per share)
compared to losses of $5 million ($4 million
after tax, or $0.05 per share) in 2010.

• 2011 included Horizon fleet transition costs
of $39 million ($24 million after tax, of
$0.33 per share) compared to $13 million
($8 million, or $0.11 per share) in 2010.

Excluding the mark-to-market adjustments and
other special charges, our adjusted consolidated
net income for 2011 was $287 million, or $3.92
per diluted share, compared to an adjusted
consolidated net income of $263 million, or
$3.57 per share, in 2010.

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010

(in millions, except
per share amounts) Dollars

Diluted
EPS Dollars

Diluted
EPS

Net income and
diluted EPS as
reported . . . . . . . $245 $3.33 $251 $3.41

Fleet transition
costs, net of
tax . . . . . . . . . . . 24 0.33 8 0.11

Mark-to-market fuel
hedge
adjustments, net
of tax . . . . . . . . . 18 0.26 4 0.05

Non-GAAP adjusted
income and per
share
amounts . . . . . . . $287 $3.92 $263 $3.57

OPERATING REVENUES

Total operating revenues increased $486 million,
or 13%, during 2011 compared to the same
period in 2010. The changes are summarized in
the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010
%

Change

Passenger
Mainline . . . . . . . . . $2,995 $2,595 15
Regional . . . . . . . . 713 671 6

Total passenger
revenue . . . . . . . . . . . $3,708 $3,266 14

Freight and mail . . . . . . . . . . 109 106 2
Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 501 460 9

Total operating revenues . . . $4,318 $3,832 13

Passenger Revenue—Mainline

Mainline passenger revenue for 2011 increased
by 15% on an 8.5% increase in capacity and a
6.2% increase in passenger revenue per
available seat mile (PRASM) compared to 2010.
The increase in capacity was driven by the
annualization of new routes added in 2010 and
new routes in 2011, most of which was Hawaii.
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The increase in PRASM was driven by a 4.0%
rise in ticket yield and a 1.9-point increase in
load factor compared to the prior year. The
increase in yield was due to an increase in prices
to help offset the 36% increase in raw fuel costs.

Passenger Revenue—Regional
Regional passenger revenue increased by $42
million, or 6%, compared to 2010 on a 12.8%
increase in PRASM compared to 2010, despite a
5.8% decline in capacity. The increase in PRASM
was driven by an 8.1% increase in ticket yield
and a 3.2-point increase in load factor compared
to the prior year. The decline in capacity and
increase in load factors was due to better
matching supply with demand in the regional
network.

Freight and Mail
Freight and mail revenue increased $3 million, or
2%, primarily due to freight fuel surcharge
increases of $5 million offset by lower mail
revenue on lower volume.

Other—Net
Other-net revenue increased $41 million, or 9%,
from 2010. The increase was primarily due to an
increase in our Mileage Plan revenues of $12
million with higher commissions driven by a
larger number of miles sold to our affinity card
partner and a contractual rate increase for those
sold miles. Additionally, food and beverages
sales increased $4 million due to increased
volumes.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Total operating expenses increased $508
million, or 15%, compared to 2010 mostly as a
result of significantly higher fuel costs. We
believe it is useful to summarize operating
expenses as follows, which is consistent with
the way expenses are reported internally and
evaluated by management:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010
%

Change

Fuel expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,298 $ 901 44
Non-fuel expenses . . . . . . . . . 2,571 2,460 5

Total Operating Expenses . . . $3,869 $3,361 15

Significant operating expense variances from
2010 are more fully described below.

Wages and Benefits
Wages and benefits increased during 2011 by
$30 million, or 3%, compared to 2010. The
primary components of wages and benefits are
shown in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010
%

Change

Wages . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $703 $674 4
Pension and defined-

contribution retirement
benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88 93 (5)

Medical benefits . . . . . . . . . . . 108 109 (1)
Other benefits and payroll

taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 92 85 8

Total wages and benefits . . . . $991 $961 3

Wages increased 4% on a 1.2% increase in FTEs
as a result of increased flying, higher wage rates,
and a signing bonus to Alaska’s clerical, office
and passenger service employees in connection
with a new contract ratified in January 2011.
Productivity as measured by the number of
passengers per FTE increased 5% compared to
2010.

Pension and other retirement-related benefits
decreased 5% primarily due to a reduction in our
defined-benefit pension cost driven by the
improved funded status at the end of 2010 as
compared to the previous year, partially offset by
a slight increase in defined-contribution expense.

Medical benefits decreased 1% from the prior
year primarily due to a decline in employee
healthcare claims, partially offset by an increase
in post-retirement medical expense.

Other benefits and payroll taxes increased 8%
from the prior year due to increases in our
Workers Compensation and Disability Plan as
well as increased payroll taxes in line with
increased wages.

Variable Incentive Pay
Variable incentive pay expense decreased from
$92 million in 2010 to $72 million in 2011. The
decrease was due to the fact that in 2010 our
financial and operational results exceeded
targets more so than in 2011.
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Aircraft Fuel
Aircraft fuel expense increased $397 million, or
44% compared to 2010. The elements of the
change are illustrated in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010

(in millions, except for
per gallon amounts) Dollars

Cost/
Gal Dollars

Cost/
Gal

Raw or “into-plane”
fuel cost . . . . . . . . . $1,289 $ 3.24 $899 $ 2.38

Gains on settled
hedges . . . . . . . . . . . (21) (0.06) (3) (0.01)

Consolidated
economic fuel
expense . . . . . . . . . . $1,268 $ 3.18 $896 $ 2.37

Mark-to-mark fuel
hedge
adjustments . . . . . . 30 0.08 5 0.01

GAAP fuel expense . . . $1,298 $ 3.26 $901 $ 2.38

Fuel gallons . . . . . . . . . 398 377

Fuel gallons consumed increased 5.6%, primarily
as a result of a 5% increase in block hours and a
slight increase in fuel burn per block hour as a
result of higher load factors.

The raw fuel price per gallon increased 36.1% as
a result of higher West Coast jet fuel prices. The
average prices of crude oil and refining margins
during 2011 were higher by approximately 19%
and 141% respectively, as compared to 2010.

Gains recognized for hedges that settled during
the year was $21 million in 2011, compared to
gains of $3 million in 2010.

Aircraft Maintenance
Aircraft maintenance decreased by $11 million,
or 5%, compared to the prior year primarily due
to lower costs associated with the return of
leased aircraft and lower costs due to the
phaseout of the CRJ fleet, offset by increased
airframe check costs and components.

Aircraft Rent
Aircraft rent decreased $23 million, or 16%,
compared to the prior-year period primarily due to
$14 million less rent related to 11 fewer CRJ
700 aircraft and $6 million less rent related to
five fewer B737 aircraft leased in 2011
compared to 2010.

Landing Fees and Other Rentals
Landing fees and other rentals increased $5
million, or 2%, primarily due to a $4 million
increase in facilities rents across our network
and a $2 million increase in our landing fee
expenses. Mainline landing fee expenses
increased due to a 9% increase in departures,
partially offset by a 10% decrease in our regional
departures.

Contracted Services
Contracted services increased $22 million, or
14%, primarily due to an increase in capacity
purchased flying of $13 million compared to the
prior year as the new agreement with SkyWest
began in May 2011. Additionally, we experienced
higher passenger handling of $3 million as a
result of an increase in the number of flights to
airports where vendors are used and an increase
in contract labor of $2 million.

Selling Expenses
Selling expenses increased by $21 million, or
14%, compared to 2010 as a result of higher
travel agent and ticket distribution costs of $11
million and credit card commissions of $6 million
due to increased revenues of 13%.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization increased $17
million, or 7%, compared to the prior year. This is
primarily due to additional depreciation expense
of $18 million for B737 aircraft, $7 million
increase in Q400 aircraft depreciation, offset by
a decrease of $4 million in CRJ 700 aircraft and
other assets that became fully depreciated or
were removed from operation.

Food and Beverage Service
Food and beverage costs increased $10 million,
or 17%, from the prior year due to an increased
number of passengers, increased sales of buy
on board products, a higher cost of some of our
fresh food items served on board, and increased
costs associated with food delivery.

Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses increased $34 million,
or 17%, compared to 2010. The increase is
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primarily driven by higher personnel non-wage
costs such as hotels, meals and per diems of $8
million and higher professional service costs of
$7 million as well as higher costs for
communications, property taxes, passenger
remunerations, and deicing.

Fleet Transition and Restructuring Related
Expenses
Fleet transition costs increased $26 million, as
we finalized our transition to an all-Q400 fleet.
The increase was directly due to net charges of
$28 million related to the removal of the CRJ-
700 aircraft and related inventory and a loss on
the final disposition of Q200 aircraft of
$11 million in 2011.

Operating Costs per Available Seat Mile
(CASM)
Our operating costs per ASM are summarized
below:

Year Ended
December 31,

2011 2010
%

Change

Consolidated:
Total operating expenses per

ASM (CASM) . . . . . . . . . . . . 13.06¢ 12.12¢ 7.8
Less the following

components:
Aircraft fuel, including

hedging gains and
losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.38 3.25 34.8

Fleet transition costs . . . . 0.13 0.05 NM

CASM, excluding fuel and
fleet transition costs . . . . . 8.55¢ 8.82¢ (3.1)

Mainline:
Total mainline operating

expenses per ASM
(CASM) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11.87¢ 10.96¢ 8.3

Less the following
components:

Aircraft fuel, including
hedging gains and
losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.27 3.11 37.3

CASM, excluding fuel . . . . . . 7.60¢ 7.85¢ (3.2)

NM–Not Meaningful

CONSOLIDATED NONOPERATING INCOME
(EXPENSE)

Net nonoperating expense was $55 million in
2011 compared to $65 million in 2010. The $10
million decrease is due to lower interest expense
due to payments on maturing debt and
prepayments of debt in 2011, higher capitalized
interest due to higher levels of capital
expenditures, offset by lower investment returns
in our marketable securities portfolio, and an
impairment charge of $6 million on an owned
aircraft that was leased to another carrier that
filed for bankruptcy protection, and other-than-
temporary-impairments on mortgage-backed
securities.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our effective income tax rate for 2011 was
37.9%, compared to 38.1% for 2010. The
difference between the effective tax rates for
both periods and our statutory tax rate of
approximately 37.8% is due primarily to
miscellaneous non-deductible expenses, such as
per diems.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity are:

• Our existing cash and marketable securities
balance of $1.3 billion, which represents
27% of trailing 12 months’ revenue, and our
expected cash from operations;

• Our 45 unencumbered aircraft as of
December 31, 2012 in our operating fleet
that could be financed, if necessary;

• Our combined $200 million bank line-of-
credit facilities, with currently none
outstanding;

In 2012, we took free and clear delivery of four
B737-900ER, three B737-800 aircraft, and two
Q400 aircraft. We paid off outstanding debt
associated with seven aircraft totaling $103
million and made scheduled debt payments
totaling $172 million. In addition, we continued
to return capital to our shareholders by
repurchasing $60 million of our common stock in
2012, which included stock repurchases under a
new $250 million program authorized by the
Board in September 2012. Finally, we made
voluntary contributions to our qualified defined-
benefit pension plans of $110 million in 2012,
although there were no funding requirements. We

will continue to focus on preserving a strong
liquidity position and evaluate our cash needs as
conditions change.

The overall strength of our balance sheet was
one of the contributing factors for Standard &
Poor’s recent decision to change our outlook
from “Stable” to “Positive” in 2012.

We believe that our current cash and marketable
securities balance combined with future cash
flows from operations and other sources of
liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operations
for the foreseeable future.

In our cash and marketable securities portfolio,
we invest only in securities that meet our overall
investment strategy of maintaining and securing
investment principal. Our investment portfolio is
managed by reputable firms that adhere to our
investment policy that sets forth investment
objectives, approved and prohibited investments,
and duration and credit quality guidelines. Our
policy and the portfolio managers are continually
reviewed to ensure that the investments are
aligned with our strategy. As of December 31,
2012, we had a $12 million unrealized gain on
our $1.3 billion cash and marketable securities
balance.

The table below presents the major indicators of financial condition and liquidity:

(in millions, except per share and debt-to-capital amounts)
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011 Change

Cash and marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,252 $ 1,141 $ 111
Cash and marketable securities as a percentage of trailing twelve months

revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27% 26% 1 pt
Long-term debt, net of current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 871 1,099 (228)
Shareholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,421 1,174 247
Long-term debt-to-capital assuming aircraft operating leases are capitalized at

seven times annualized rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54%:46% 62%:38% (8) pts

The following discussion summarizes the primary
drivers of the increase in our cash and
marketable securities balance and our
expectation of future cash requirements.

ANALYSIS OF OUR CASH FLOWS
Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities was $753
million in 2012, compared to $696 million in the

prior year. The $57 million increase was primarily
driven by $339 million in increased revenue,
offset by higher fuel of $161 million and higher
non-fuel operating costs to support increased
revenues and capacity. Also, cash received from
the sale of miles under our mileage plan program
increased approximately $30 million due a 5%
increase in miles sold with a 4% increase in rate.
In addition, we made voluntary contributions to
our qualified pension plan of $110 million versus
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$133 million in the prior year, and we paid cash
taxes of $78 million in the current year
compared to $8 million in 2011.

We typically generate positive cash flows from
operations, and expect to use a portion to invest
in capital expenditures.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $645
million during 2012, compared to $403 million in
2011. Our capital expenditures were $518
million, or $131 million higher than in 2011. This
is due to the delivery of four B737-900ER
aircraft, three B737-800 aircraft and two Q400
aircraft, compared to three B737-800 aircraft in
the prior year, as well as purchase deposits for
the nine B737-900ER aircraft to be delivered
next year and initial deposits related to our new
Boeing agreements.

In 2012, we entered into a new agreement and
modified existing agreements with Boeing to
acquire 50 737 aircraft, including 37 of Boeing’s
new 737 MAX aircraft. This order positions
Alaska to replace aging aircraft over the next
decade, including the phase out of nearly all of
its 737-400 aircraft by the end of 2017, and
continue to operate one of the most modern,
environmentally friendly, comfortable and fuel-
efficient fleets in the United States.

We now have firm commitments for 71 B737
aircraft through 2022 with options to acquire up
to 69 additional 737 NextGen (NG) aircraft and
MAX aircraft in 2015 through 2024. The options
for both NG and MAX aircraft will give Alaska the
flexibility, but not the obligation, to grow the fleet
assuming profitability and return on invested
capital targets can be met. The new agreements
will result in increased capital spending over the
next ten years depending on how many of our
options are exercised.

The table below reflects total expected capital expenditures and the additional expenditures if options
were exercised. These options will be exercised only if we believe return on invested capital targets can
be meet:

2012
Actuals 2013 2014 2015 2016

Aircraft and aircraft purchase deposits—firm . . . . . . . . . . . . . $455 $330 $285 $230 $180
Other flight equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 45 50 25 25
Other property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 85 85 75 75

Total property and equipment additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . $518 $460 $420 $330 $280

Aircraft and aircraft deposits related to Alaska options, if
exercised (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 35 $185 $480 $340

Aircraft and aircraft deposits related to Horizon options, if
exercised (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 75 $105 $ 50 $ —

(a) Alaska has options to acquire 69 B737 aircraft with deliveries in 2015 through 2024. Horizon has options to acquire 10
Q400 aircraft with deliveries in 2013 to 2015.

In addition, our capital expenditures related to
Terminal 6 at Los Angeles International Airports
(LAX) were lower by $53 million, as we placed
the assets constructed for others into service in
March. For financial reporting purposes, this
asset will remain on our balance sheet as we did
not qualify for sale accounting due to our
continuing involvement with the facility. Over the
last two years we have been reimbursed $182
million, which is classified as a financing activity
in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Cash Used by Financing Activities

Cash used by financing activities was $88 million
during 2012, compared to $281 million in the
prior year. During the current year, we had
scheduled debt payments of $172 million, debt
prepayments of $103 million, and stock
repurchases of $60 million, partially offset by
proceeds of $49 million related to three B737-
700 sale-leasebacks.
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In addition, we received reimbursement from Los
Angeles World Airport (LAWA) for our construction
of Terminal 6 at LAX of $178 million.

We plan to meet our capital and operating
commitments through internally generated funds
from operations and cash and marketable
securities on hand, along with additional debt
financing if necessary.

Bank Line-of-Credit Facility

The Company has two $100 million credit
facilities. Both facilities have variable interest
rates based on LIBOR plus a specified margin.

Borrowings on one of the $100 million facilities,
which expires in August 2015, are secured by
aircraft. Borrowings on the other $100 million
facility are secured by certain accounts
receivable, spare engines, spare parts and
ground service equipment. We modified the first
facility in 2012 by extending the term from March
2013 to August 2015 and the second facility in
2011 by extending the term from March 2014 to
March 2016, and reduced the commitment fee
for both facilities. The Company has no
immediate plans to borrow using either of these
facilities.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS
Aircraft Purchase Commitments

Overall, we have firm orders to purchase 71 aircraft. We have options to acquire 69 additional B737
aircraft and options to acquire 10 Q400 aircraft.

The following table summarizes aircraft purchase commitments by year:

Actual Fleet Count Expected Fleet Activity

Aircraft
Dec 31,
2011

Dec 31,
2012

2013
Changes

Dec 31,
2013

2014
Changes

Dec 31,
2014

B737 Freighters & Combis . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 6 — 6 (3) 3
B737 Passenger Aircraft . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111 118 3 121 — 121

Total Mainline Fleet . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 117 124 3 127 (3) 124
Q400 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 48 — 48 — 48

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 165 172 3 175 (3) 172

We expect to pay for the firm future aircraft
deliveries in 2013 with cash on hand. For future
firm orders and if we exercise our options for

additional deliveries, we may finance the aircraft
through internally generated cash, long-term
debt, or lease arrangements.

Future Fuel Hedge Positions
We use both call options for crude oil futures and swap agreements for jet fuel refining margins to
hedge against price volatility of future jet fuel consumption. We have refining margin swaps in place for
approximately 50% of our first quarter 2013 estimated jet fuel purchases at an average price of 89
cents per gallon. Our crude oil positions are as follows:

Approximate
% of

Expected
Fuel

Requirements

Weighted-Average
Crude Oil Price

per Barrel

Average
Premium
Cost per
Barrel

First Quarter 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50% $ 98 $12
Second Quarter 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50% $ 99 $12
Third Quarter 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50% $101 $11
Fourth Quarter 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50% $102 $10

Full Year 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50% $100 $11

First Quarter 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44% $102 $10
Second Quarter 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39% $102 $10
Third Quarter 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33% $101 $ 9
Fourth Quarter 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27% $103 $ 8

Full Year 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35% $102 $10

First Quarter 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22% $103 $ 8
Second Quarter 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17% $101 $ 7
Third Quarter 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11% $105 $ 7
Fourth Quarter 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6% $106 $ 7

Full Year 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14% $103 $ 7
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Contractual Obligations

The following table provides a summary of our principal payments under current and long-term debt
obligations, operating lease commitments, aircraft purchase commitments and other obligations as of
December 31, 2012.

(in millions) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Beyond
2017 Total

Current and long-term debt obligations . . . . $161 $117 $113 $111 $116 $ 414 $1,032
Operating lease commitments (a) . . . . . . . . 189 168 135 104 69 209 874
Aircraft purchase commitments . . . . . . . . . . 372 332 254 204 322 1,488 2,972
Interest obligations (b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50 42 37 31 26 44 230
Other obligations (c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49 44 27 18 19 8 165

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $821 $703 $566 $468 $552 $2,163 $5,273

(a) Operating lease commitments generally include aircraft operating leases, airport property and hangar leases, office space,
and other equipment leases.

(b) For variable-rate debt, future obligations are shown above using interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2012.
(c) Includes minimum obligations under our long-term power-by-the-hour maintenance agreements and obligations associated

with third-party CPAs with SkyWest and PenAir. Refer to the “Commitments” note in the consolidated financial statements for
further information.

Pension Obligations

The table above excludes contributions to our
various pension plans, which we estimate to be
$35 million to $50 million per year, although
there are no minimum required contributions.
The unfunded liability for our qualified defined-
benefit pension plans was $335 million at
December 31, 2012 compared to $306 million
at December 31, 2011. This results in an 82%
funded status on a projected benefit obligation
basis compared to 81% funded as of
December 31, 2011.

Credit Card Agreements

We have agreements with a number of credit
card companies to process the sale of tickets
and other services. Under these agreements,
there are material adverse change clauses that,
if triggered, could result in the credit card
companies holding back a reserve from our
credit card receivables. Under one such
agreement, we could be required to maintain a
reserve if our credit rating is downgraded to or
below a rating specified by the agreement or our
cash and marketable securities balance fell
below $500 million. Under another such
agreement, we could be required to maintain a
reserve if our cash and marketable securities

balance fell below $500 million. We are not
currently required to maintain any reserve under
these agreements, but if we were, our financial
position and liquidity could be materially harmed.

Deferred Income Taxes
For federal income tax purposes, the majority of
our assets are fully depreciated over a seven-
year life using an accelerated depreciation
method. For financial reporting purposes, the
majority of our assets are depreciated over 15 to
20 years to an estimated salvage value using
the straight-line basis. This difference has
created a significant deferred tax liability. At
some point in the future the depreciation basis
will reverse, potentially resulting in an increase in
income taxes paid.

While it is possible that we could have material
cash obligations for this deferred liability at
some point in the future, we cannot estimate the
timing of long-term cash flows with reasonable
accuracy. Taxable income and cash taxes
payable in the short term are impacted by many
items, including the amount of book income
generated, which can be volatile depending on
revenue and fuel prices, level of pension funding
(which is generally not known until late each
year), whether “bonus depreciation” provisions
are available, as well as other legislative
changes that are out of our control.
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In 2012, we made tax payments of $78 million.
In 2013, if we have similar financial performance
our cash taxes may be significantly more due to
utilization of federal net operating losses and
alternative minimum tax credits in 2012.
However, this is highly dependent on actual
taxable income and other factors that are
difficult to estimate at this time.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The discussion and analysis of our financial
position and results of operations in this MD&A
is based upon our consolidated financial
statements. The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect our financial position and
results of operations. See Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements for a
description of our significant accounting policies.

Critical accounting estimates are defined as
those that reflect significant management
judgment and uncertainties and that potentially
may result in materially different results under
varying assumptions and conditions.
Management has identified the following critical
accounting estimates and has discussed the
development, selection and disclosure of these
policies with our audit committee.

MILEAGE PLAN

Our Mileage Plan loyalty program awards miles to
member passengers who fly on our airlines and
many of our travel partners. Additionally, we sell
miles to third parties, such as our bank partner,
for cash. In either case, the outstanding miles
may be redeemed for travel on our airlines or any
of our travel partners. As long as the Mileage
Plan is in existence, we have an obligation to
provide this future travel.

For miles earned by passengers who fly on us or
our travel partners, we recognize a liability and a
corresponding selling expense representing the
incremental cost associated with the obligation
to provide travel in the future. For miles sold to
third parties, a portion of the sales proceeds are
recorded as deferred revenue and recognized
when the award transportation is provided. The

commission component of these sales proceeds
(defined as the proceeds we receive from the
sale of mileage credits minus the amount we
defer) is recorded as other-net revenue in the
period that miles are sold. This represents
services provided by the Company to its
business partners and relates primarily to the
use of the Company’s logo and trademarks along
with access to the Company’s Mileage Plan
members. Commission revenue recognized for
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010 was $143 million, $138 million and $124
million, respectively. The deferred revenue is
recognized as passenger revenue when awards
are issued and flown on one of our airlines, and
as other-net revenue for awards issued and flown
on partner airlines.

At December 31, 2012, we had approximately
131 billion miles outstanding, resulting in an
aggregate liability and deferred revenue balance
of $730 million. Both the liability and the
deferred revenue are determined based on
several assumptions that require significant
management judgment to estimate and
formulate. There are uncertainties inherent in
estimates; therefore, an incorrect assumption
could greatly affect the amount and/or timing of
revenue recognition or Mileage Plan expenses.
The most significant assumptions in accounting
for the Mileage Plan are described below.

1. The rate at which we defer sales proceeds
from sold miles:

We defer an amount that represents our
estimate of the selling price of award travel
by looking to the sales prices of comparable
paid travel. As our estimates of selling price
change, the amount we defer changes,
resulting in the recognition of a higher or
lower portion of the cash proceeds from the
sale of miles as commission revenue in any
given period. A 1% increase in the estimated
selling price of travel (and related deferral
rate) would decrease commission revenue
by approximately $3 million. This amount
would instead be recognized in a future
period when award travel takes place.
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2. The number of miles that will not be
redeemed for travel (breakage):

The liability for outstanding Mileage
Plan mileage credits includes all mileage
credits that are expected to be redeemed,
including mileage credits earned by
members whose mileage account balances
have not yet reached the minimum mileage
credit level to redeem an award. Our
estimates of the number of miles that will
not be redeemed (breakage) consider
historical activity in our members’ accounts
and other factors. A hypothetical 1% change
in our estimate of breakage (currently 12%
in the aggregate) has approximately an $8
million effect on the liability.

3. The number of miles used per award:

We estimate how many miles will be
used per award. For example, our members
may redeem credit for award travel to
various locations or choose between a
highly restricted award and an unrestricted
award. Our estimates are based on the
current requirements in our Mileage Plan
program and historical travel redemption
patterns.

4. The number of awards redeemed for travel
on our airlines versus other airlines:

The cost for us to carry an award
passenger is typically lower than the cost we
will pay to our travel partners. We estimate
the number of awards that will be redeemed
on our airlines versus on our travel partners
and accrue the estimated costs based on
historical redemption patterns. If the
number of awards redeemed on our travel
partner is higher or lower than estimated,
we may need to adjust our liability and
corresponding expense.

5. The costs that will be incurred to provide
award travel:

When a frequent flyer travels on his or
her award ticket on one of our airlines,
incremental costs such as food, fuel and
insurance are incurred to carry that
passenger. We estimate what these costs

will be (excluding any contribution to
overhead and profit) and accrue a liability. If
the passenger travels on another airline on
an award ticket, we often must pay the other
airline for carrying the passenger. The other
airline costs are based on negotiated
agreements and are often substantially
higher than the costs we would incur to carry
that passenger. We estimate how much we
will pay to other airlines for future travel
awards based on historical redemptions and
settlements with other carriers and accrue a
liability accordingly. The costs actually
incurred by us or paid to other airlines may
be higher or lower than the costs that were
estimated and accrued, and therefore we
may need to adjust our liability and
recognize a corresponding expense.

We regularly review significant Mileage Plan
assumptions and change our assumptions if
facts and circumstances indicate that a change
is necessary. Any such change in assumptions
could have a significant effect on our financial
position and results of operations.

PENSION PLANS

Accounting rules require recognition of the
overfunded or underfunded status of an entity’s
defined-benefit pension and other postretirement
plans as an asset or liability in the financial
statements and requires recognition of the funded
status in other comprehensive income. Pension
expense is recognized on an accrual basis over
employees’ approximate service periods and is
generally independent of funding decisions or
requirements. We recognized expense for our
qualified defined-benefit pension plans of $57
million, $42 million, and $50 million in 2012,
2011, and 2010, respectively. We expect the
2013 expense to be approximately $50 million.

The calculation of pension expense and the
corresponding liability requires the use of a
number of important assumptions, including the
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
and the assumed discount rate. Changes in
these assumptions can result in different
expense and liability amounts, and future actual
experience can differ from these assumptions.
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Pension expense increases as the expected rate
of return on pension plan assets decreases. As
of December 31, 2012, we estimate that the
pension plan assets will generate a long-term
rate of return of 7.25%, which is consistent with
the expected rate at December 31, 2011. This
rate was developed using historical data, the
current value of the underlying assets, as well as
long-term inflation assumptions. We regularly
review the actual asset allocation and
periodically rebalance investments as
appropriate. This expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets at December 31, 2012 is
based on an allocation of U.S. and non-U.S.
equities and U.S. fixed-income securities.
Decreasing the expected long-term rate of return
by 0.50% (from 7.25% to 6.75%) would increase
our estimated 2013 pension expense by
approximately $8 million.

Pension liability and future pension expense
increase as the discount rate is reduced. We
discounted future pension obligations using a
rate of 3.95% and 4.65% at December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively. The discount rate at
December 31, 2012 was determined using
current rates earned on high-quality long-term
bonds with maturities that correspond with the
estimated cash distributions from the pension
plans. Decreasing the discount rate by 0.5%
(from 3.95% to 3.45%) would increase our
projected benefit obligation at December 31,
2012 by approximately $142 million and
increase estimated 2013 pension expense by
approximately $11 million.

All of our defined-benefit pension plans are now
closed to new entrants. Additionally, benefits in
our non-union defined-benefit plans will be frozen
January 1, 2014.

Future changes in plan asset returns, assumed
discount rates and various other factors related
to the participants in our pension plans will
impact our future pension expense and
liabilities. We cannot predict what these factors
will be in the future.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS
As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately
$3.6 billion of property and equipment and
related assets, net of accumulated depreciation.
In accounting for these long-lived assets, we
make estimates about the expected useful lives
of the assets, changes in fleet plans, the
expected residual values of the assets, and the
potential for impairment based on the fair value
of the assets and the cash flows they generate.
Factors indicating potential impairment include,
but are not limited to, significant decreases in
the market value of the long-lived assets,
management decisions regarding the future use
of the assets, a significant change in the long-
lived assets condition, and operating cash flow
losses associated with the use of the long-lived
asset.

There is inherent risk in estimating the fair value
of our aircraft and related parts and their salvage
values at the time of impairment. Actual
proceeds upon disposition of the aircraft or
related parts could be materially less than
expected, resulting in additional loss. Our
estimate of salvage value at the time of disposal
could also change, requiring us to increase the
depreciation expense on the affected aircraft.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT
MARKET RISK

We have interest-rate risk on our variable-rate
debt obligations and our available-for-sale
marketable investment portfolio, and commodity-
price risk in jet fuel required to operate our
aircraft fleet. We purchase the majority of our jet
fuel at prevailing market prices and seek to
manage market risk through execution of our

hedging strategy and other means. We have
market-sensitive instruments in the form of fixed-
rate debt instruments, and financial derivative
instruments used to hedge our exposure to jet-
fuel price increases and interest-rate increases.
We do not purchase or hold any derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes.
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Aircraft Fuel
Currently, our fuel-hedging portfolio consists of
crude oil call options and jet fuel refining margin
swap contracts. Both call options and swaps
effectively cap our pricing for the crude oil and
refining margin components, limiting our
exposure to increasing fuel prices for about half
of our planned fuel consumption. With the call
option contracts, we still benefit from the decline
in crude oil prices, as there is no future cash
exposure above the premiums we pay to enter
into the contracts. The swap contracts do not
require an upfront premium, but do expose us to
future cash outlays in the event actual prices are
below the swap price during the hedge period.
We believe there is risk in not hedging against
the possibility of fuel price increases. We
estimate that a 10% increase or decrease in
crude oil prices as of December 31, 2012 would
increase or decrease the fair value of our crude
oil hedge portfolio by approximately $112 million
and $35 million, respectively.

Our portfolio value of fuel hedge contracts was
$64 million at December 31, 2012 compared to
a portfolio value of $107 million at
December 31, 2011. We do not have any
collateral held by counterparties to these
agreements as of December 31, 2012.

We continue to believe that our fuel hedge
program is an important part of our strategy to
reduce our exposure to volatile fuel prices. We
expect to continue to enter into these types of

contracts prospectively, although significant
changes in market conditions could affect our
decisions. For more discussion, see “Derivative
Instruments” note in our consolidated financial
statements.

Interest Rates

We have exposure to market risk associated with
changes in interest rates related primarily to our
debt obligations and short-term investment
portfolio. Our debt obligations include variable-
rate instruments, which have exposure to
changes in interest rates. This exposure is
somewhat mitigated through our variable-rate
investment portfolio. A hypothetical 10% change
in the average interest rates incurred on variable-
rate debt during 2012 would correspondingly
change our net earnings and cash flows
associated with these items by less than $1
million. In order to help mitigate the risk of
interest rate fluctuations, we have fixed the
interest rates on certain existing variable-rate
debt agreements. Our variable-rate debt is
approximately 18% of our total long-term debt at
December 31, 2012 compared to 23% at
December 31, 2011.

We also have investments in marketable
securities, which are exposed to market risk
associated with changes in interest rates. If
short-term interest rates were to average 1%
more than they did in 2012, interest income
would increase by approximately $12 million.
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ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

SELECTED QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(unaudited)

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

(in millions, except per share) 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Operating revenues . . . . . $1,039 $ 965 $1,213 $1,110 $1,272 $1,198 $1,132 $1,044
Operating income . . . . . . 72 134 116 58 270 143 74 114
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . 41 74 68 29 163 78 44 64

Basic earnings per
share (a) . . . . . . . . 0.57 1.03 0.95 0.40 2.30 1.08 0.62 0.90

Diluted earnings per
per share (a) . . . . . 0.56 1.01 0.93 0.39 2.27 1.06 0.61 0.88

(a) For earnings per share, the sum of the quarters may not equal the total for the full year due to rounding.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Alaska Air Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of Alaska Air Group, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and
2011, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive operations,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2012. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of
Alaska Air Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2012, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), Alaska Air
Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated
February 14, 2013 expressed an unqualified
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 14, 2013
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31 (in millions) 2012 2011

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 122 $ 102
Marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,130 1,039

Total cash and marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,252 1,141
Receivables—less allowance for doubtful accounts of $0 and $1 . . . . . . . . . . . 130 136
Inventories and supplies—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58 44
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148 134
Fuel hedge contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26 47
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 123 94

Total Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,737 1,596

Property and Equipment
Aircraft and other flight equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,248 4,042
Other property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 855 762
Deposits for future flight equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 369 234

5,472 5,038
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,863 1,665

Total Property and Equipment—Net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,609 3,373

Fuel Hedge Contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 70

Other Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 120 128

Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5,505 $5,167

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS—(continued)

As of December 31 (in millions except share amounts) 2012 2011

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65 $ 104
Accrued aircraft rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18 32
Accrued wages, vacation and payroll taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 184 164
Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 539 513
Air traffic liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 534 489
Current portion of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 161 208

Total Current Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,501 1,510

Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 871 1,099

Other Liabilities and Credits
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 446 363
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 443 410
Obligation for pension and postretirement medical benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 489 463
Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 334 148

1,712 1,384

Commitments and Contingencies

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $1 par value Authorized: 5,000,000 shares, none issued or

outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
Common stock, $1 par value Authorized: 100,000,000 shares, Issued:

2012—70,376,543 shares; 2011—75,733,044 shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70 76
Capital in excess of par value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 660 802
Treasury stock (common), at cost: 2012—0 shares; 2011—4,783,494

shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (125)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (436) (390)
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,127 811

1,421 1,174

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5,505 $5,167

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31 (in millions, except per share amounts) 2012 2011 2010

Operating Revenues
Passenger

Mainline . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,284 $ 2,995 $ 2,595
Regional . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 746 713 671

Total passenger revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,030 3,708 3,266
Freight and mail . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111 109 106
Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 516 501 460

Total Operating Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,657 4,318 3,832

Operating Expenses
Wages and benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,038 991 961
Variable incentive pay . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88 72 92
Aircraft fuel, including hedging gains and losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,459 1,298 901
Aircraft maintenance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 222 206 217
Aircraft rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116 116 139
Landing fees and other rentals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 243 238 233
Contracted services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200 185 163
Selling expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168 175 154
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 264 247 230
Food and beverage service . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79 67 57
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 248 235 201
Fleet transition and restructuring related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 39 13

Total Operating Expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,125 3,869 3,361

Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 532 449 471

Nonoperating Income (Expense)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 22 29
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (64) (87) (108)
Interest capitalized . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18 12 6
Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 (2) 8

(18) (55) (65)

Income before income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 514 394 406
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 198 149 155

Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 316 $ 245 $ 251

Basic Earnings Per Share: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4.47 $ 3.41 $ 3.50
Diluted Earnings Per Share: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4.40 $ 3.33 $ 3.41
Shares used for computation:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70.708 71.755 71.644
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 71.784 73.421 73.571

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31 (in millions) 2012 2011 2010

Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $316 $ 245 $251
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Related to marketable securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during the period . . . . . . . . . . . 9 (1) 7
Reclassification adjustment for gains included in net income . . . . . . . . . (7) (3) (8)
Income tax benefit (expense) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1) 1 —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 (3) (1)

Related to employee benefit plans:
Amortization of net actuarial items and prior service costs . . . . . . . . . . . (68) (175) (31)
Income tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25 65 12

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (43) (110) (19)

Related to interest rate derivative instruments:
Unrealized holding losses arising during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4) (20) (11)
Income tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 10 4

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4) (10) (7)

Other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (46) (123) (27)

Comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $270 $ 122 $224

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

(in millions)

Common
Stock

Outstanding
Common

Stock

Capital in
Excess
of Par
Value

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Retained
Earnings Total

Balances at December 31, 2009 . . . 71.182 $ 72 $ 731 $ (6) $(240) $ 315 $ 872

2010 net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 251 251
Other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . (27) (27)
Common stock repurchase . . . . . . . . (2.001) — — (45) (45)
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . — — 14 — 14
Treasury stock issued under stock

plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.333 — — 5 5
Stock issued for employee stock

purchase plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.031 — — — —
Stock issued under stock plans . . . . . 2.303 2 34 — 36

Balances at December 31, 2010 . . . 71.848 74 779 (46) (267) 566 1,106

2011 net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 245 245
Other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . (123) (123)
Common stock repurchase . . . . . . . . (2.618) — — (79) (79)
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . — — 12 — 12
Treasury stock issued under stock

plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.007 — — — —
Stock issued for employee stock

purchase plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.126 — 3 — 3
Stock issued under stock plans . . . . . 1.587 2 8 — 10

Balances at December 31, 2011 . . . 70.950 76 802 (125) (390) 811 1,174

2012 net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 316 316
Other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . (46) (46)
Common stock repurchase . . . . . . . . (1.686) (2) (58) — (60)
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . — — 15 — 15
Retirement of treasury stock . . . . . . . — (5) (120) 125 —
Stock issued for employee stock

purchase plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.157 — 4 — 4
Stock issued under stock plans . . . . . 0.956 1 17 — 18

Balances at December 31, 2012 . . . 70.377 $ 70 $ 660 $ — $(436) $1,127 $1,421

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31 (in millions) 2012 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 316 $ 245 $ 251
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities:
Fleet transition and restructuring related charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 39 13
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 264 247 230
Stock-based compensation and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 17 9

Changes in certain assets and liabilities:
Changes in fair values of open fuel hedge contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43 14 (14)
Changes in deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 94 145 145
Increase (decrease) in air traffic liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45 67 56
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33 7 (32)
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 70 29
Pension contribution . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (114) (141) (151)
Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58 (14) 17

Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 753 696 553

Cash flows from investing activities:
Property and equipment additions:

Aircraft and aircraft purchase deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (455) (318) (139)
Other flight equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (24) (35) (27)
Other property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (39) (34) (19)

Total property and equipment additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (518) (387) (185)
Assets constructed for others (Terminal 6 at LAX) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (56) (109) (29)
Purchases of marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,130) (884) (1,022)
Sales and maturities of marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,048 956 931
Proceeds from disposition of assets and changes in restricted deposits . . . . 11 21 10

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (645) (403) (295)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 107 —
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49 — —
Long-term debt payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (275) (334) (321)
Common stock repurchases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (60) (80) (45)
Proceeds and tax benefit from issuance of common stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 19 37
Terminal 6 at LAX reimbursement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 178 4 —
Other financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11) 3 (3)

Net cash used in financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (88) (281) (332)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 12 (74)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102 90 164

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 122 $ 102 $ 90

Supplemental disclosure:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest (net of amount capitalized) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 46 $ 74 $ 106
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78 8 —

Non-cash transactions:
Relocation credit and assets constructed related to Terminal 6 at

LAX . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 16 7

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Alaska Air Group, Inc.
December 31, 2012

NOTE 1. GENERAL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of Alaska Air Group, Inc. (Air Group
or the Company) and its subsidiaries, Alaska
Airlines, Inc. (Alaska) and Horizon Air Industries,
Inc. (Horizon), through which the Company
conducts substantially all of its operations. All

significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated. These
financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and
their preparation requires the use of
management’s estimates. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to conform the prior-year data to the current format. During
the second quarter of 2012, the Company changed the classification of ancillary revenues, such as
checked-bag fees, ticket change fees, and others, from “Passenger revenue” to “Other-net” revenue to
enhance comparability of passenger revenue among peers in the industry. The Company has
reclassified ancillary revenues in the current period and all prior periods, with the reclassification having
no impact on total revenue for any of the respective periods. The table below shows operating revenues
originally reported in the Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the effect of
the reclassification on the consolidated statement of operations (in millions):

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

As Reclassified Reported As Reclassified Reported

Operating Revenues
Passenger

Mainline . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,995 $3,176 $2,595 $2,763
Regional . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 713 775 671 726

Total passenger revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,708 3,951 3,266 3,489
Freight and mail . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 109 109 106 106
Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 501 258 460 237

Total Operating Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,318 $4,318 $3,832 $3,832

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three
months or less, such as money market funds,
commercial paper and certificates of deposit.
They are carried at cost, which approximates
market value. The Company reduces cash
balances when checks are disbursed. Due to the
time delay in checks clearing the banks, the
Company normally maintains a negative balance
in its cash disbursement accounts, which is
reported as a current liability. The amount of the
negative cash balance was $14 million and $26
million at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively, and is included in accounts
payable, with the change in the balance during

the year included in other financing activities in
the consolidated statements of cash flows.

The Company has restricted cash balances
primarily used to guarantee various letters of
credit, self-insurance programs, or other
contractual rights. Restricted cash consists of
highly liquid securities with original maturities of
three months or less. They are carried at cost,
which approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities

Investments with original maturities of greater
than three months and remaining maturities of
less than one year are classified as short-term
investments. Investments with maturities beyond
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one year may be classified as short-term based
on their highly liquid nature and because such
marketable securities represent the investment
of cash that is available for current operations.
All cash equivalents and short-term investments
are classified as available-for-sale and realized
gains and losses are recorded using the specific
identification method. Changes in market value,
excluding other-than-temporary impairments, are
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive
loss (AOCL).

Investments are considered to be impaired when
a decline in fair value is judged to be other-than-
temporary. The Company uses a systematic
methodology that considers available
quantitative and qualitative evidence in
evaluating potential impairment. If the cost of an
investment exceeds its fair value, management
evaluates, among other factors, general market
conditions, credit quality of debt instrument
issuers, the duration and extent to which the fair
value is less than cost, our intent and ability to
hold, or plans to sell, the investment. Once a
decline in fair value is determined to be other-
than-temporary, an impairment charge is
recorded to Other-net in the consolidated
statements of operations and a new cost basis
in the investment is established.

Receivables

Receivables are due on demand and consist
primarily of airline traffic (including credit card)
receivables, Mileage Plan partners, amounts due
from other airlines related to interline
agreements, government tax authorities, and
other miscellaneous amounts due to the
Company, and are net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. Management determines the
allowance for doubtful accounts based on known
troubled accounts and historical experience
applied to an aging of accounts.

Inventories and Supplies—net

Expendable aircraft parts, materials and supplies
are stated at average cost and are included in
inventories and supplies—net. An obsolescence
allowance for expendable parts is accrued based
on estimated lives of the corresponding fleet
type and salvage values. Surplus inventories are
carried at their net realizable value. The
allowance for all non-surplus expendable
inventories was $26 million and $23 million at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Inventory and supplies—net also includes fuel
inventory of $23 million and $20 million at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Repairable and rotable aircraft parts inventories
are included in flight equipment.

Property, Equipment and Depreciation
Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, which are as follows:

Aircraft and related flight equipment:
Boeing 737 aircraft . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 years
Bombardier Q400 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 years
Buildings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25-30 years

Minor building and land improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 years
Capitalized leases and leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Shorter of lease term or

estimated useful life
Computer hardware and software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3-5 years
Other furniture and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5-10 years

“Related flight equipment” includes rotable and
repairable spare inventories, which are
depreciated over the associated fleet life unless
otherwise noted.

Interest is capitalized on flight equipment
purchase deposits as a cost of the related

asset, and is depreciated over the estimated
useful life of the asset. The capitalized interest
is based on the Company’s weighted-average
borrowing rate.
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Maintenance and repairs, other than engine
maintenance on B737-400, -700 and -900
engines, are expensed when incurred. Major
modifications that extend the life or improve the
usefulness of aircraft are capitalized and
depreciated over their estimated period of use.
Maintenance on B737-400, -700 and -900
engines is covered under power-by-the-hour
agreements with third parties, whereby the
Company pays a determinable amount, and
transfers risk, to a third party. The Company
expenses the contract amounts based on engine
usage.

The Company evaluates long-lived assets to be
held and used for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
total carrying amount of an asset or asset group
may not be recoverable. The Company groups
assets for purposes of such reviews at the
lowest level for which identifiable cash flows of
the asset group are largely independent of the
cash flows of other groups of assets and
liabilities. An impairment loss is considered
when estimated future undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset or
asset group and its eventual disposition are less
than its carrying amount. If the asset or asset
group is not considered recoverable, a write-
down equal to the excess of the carrying amount
over the fair value will be recorded.

Internally Used Software Costs

The Company capitalizes costs to develop
internal-use software that are incurred in the
application development stage. Amortization
commences when the software is ready for its
intended use and the amortization period is the
estimated useful life of the software, generally
three to five years. Capitalized costs primarily
include contract labor and payroll costs of the
individuals dedicated to the development of
internal-use software.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue results primarily from the sale
of Mileage Plan miles to third-parties. This
revenue is recognized when award transportation
is provided or over the term of the applicable
agreement.

Operating Leases

The Company leases aircraft, airport and
terminal facilities, office space, and other
equipment under operating leases. Some of
these lease agreements contain rent escalation
clauses or rent holidays. For scheduled rent
escalation clauses during the lease terms or for
rental payments commencing at a date other
than the date of initial occupancy, the Company
records minimum rental expenses on a straight-
line basis over the terms of the leases in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Leased Aircraft Return Costs

Cash payments associated with returning leased
aircraft are accrued when it is probable that a
cash payment will be made and that amount is
reasonably estimable. Any accrual is based on
the time remaining on the lease, planned aircraft
usage and the provisions included in the lease
agreement, although the actual amount due to
any lessor upon return will not be known with
certainty until lease termination.

As leased aircraft are returned, any payments
are charged against the established accrual. The
accrual is part of other current and long-term
liabilities, and was $2 million and $2 million as
of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Passenger revenue is recognized when the
passenger travels. Tickets sold but not yet used
are reported as air traffic liability until travel or
date of expiration. Air traffic liability includes
approximately $26 million and $22 million
related to travel credits for future travel, as of
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively. These credits are recognized into
revenue either when the passenger travels or the
date of expiration, which is twelve months from
issuance. Commissions to travel agents and
related fees are expensed when the related
revenue is recognized. Passenger traffic
commissions and related fees not yet recognized
are included as a prepaid expense. Taxes
collected from passengers, including
transportation excise taxes, airport and security
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fees and other fees, are recorded on a net basis
within passenger revenue in the consolidated
statements of operations. Due to complex
pricing structures, refund and exchange policies,
and interline agreements with other airlines,
certain amounts are recognized as revenue using
estimates regarding both the timing of the
revenue recognition and the amount of revenue
to be recognized. These estimates are based on
the Company’s historical data.

Freight and mail revenues are recognized when
service is provided.

Other—net revenues are primarily related to the
Mileage Plan and they are recognized as
described in the “Mileage Plan” paragraph
below. Other—net also includes certain ancillary
or non-ticket revenues, such as checked-bag
fees, reservations fees, ticket change fees, on-
board food and beverage sales, and to a much
lesser extent commissions from car and hotel
vendors, and from the sales of travel
insurance. These items are recognized as
revenue when the related services are
provided. Boardroom (airport lounge)
memberships are recognized as revenue over the
membership period.

Mileage Plan

Alaska operates a frequent flyer program
(“Mileage Plan”) that provides travel awards to
members based on accumulated mileage. For
miles earned by flying on Alaska or Horizon and
through airline partners, the estimated cost of
providing award travel is recognized as a selling
expense and accrued as a liability as miles are
earned and accumulated.

Alaska also sells miles to non-airline partners,
such as hotels, car rental agencies, and a major
bank that offers Alaska Airlines affinity credit
cards. The Company defers the portion of the
sales proceeds that represents the estimated
selling price of the award transportation and
recognizes that amount as revenue when the
award transportation is provided. The deferred
proceeds are recognized as passenger revenue
for awards redeemed and flown on Alaska or
Horizon, and as other-net revenue for awards

redeemed and flown on other airlines (less the
cost paid to the other airlines based on
contractual agreements). The portion of the
sales proceeds not deferred is recognized as
commission income in the period that the
mileage credits are sold and included in other
revenue—net in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Alaska’s Mileage Plan deferred revenue and
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as
of December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011

Current Liabilities:
Other accrued liabilities . . . . $285 $271

Other Liabilities and Credits:
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . 428 392
Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . 17 17
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $730 $680

The amounts recorded in other accrued liabilities
relate primarily to deferred revenue expected to
be realized within one year, including $39 million
and $39 million at December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively, associated with Mileage Plan
awards issued but not yet flown.

Alaska’s Mileage Plan revenue included in the
consolidated statements of operations for the
years ended December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Passenger revenues . . . . . $183 $201 $190
Other-net revenues . . . . . . 209 195 183

Total Mileage
Plan revenues . . . . . $392 $396 $373

Other—net revenues includes commission
revenue of $143 million, $138 million, and $124
million in 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses include credit card fees, global
distribution systems charges, the estimated cost
of Mileage Plan travel awards earned through air
travel, advertising, promotional costs,
commissions, and incentives. Advertising
production costs are expensed the first time the
advertising takes place. Advertising expense was
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$16 million, $16 million, and $16 million during
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and
2010, respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company’s operations are significantly
impacted by changes in aircraft fuel prices and
interest rates. In an effort to manage our
exposure to these risks, the Company
periodically enters into fuel and interest rate
derivative instruments. These derivative
instruments are recognized at fair value on the
balance sheet and changes in the fair value is
recognized in AOCL or in the consolidated
statements of operations, depending on the
nature of the instrument.

The Company does not hold or issue derivative
fuel hedge contracts for trading purposes and
does not apply hedge accounting. For cash flow
hedges related to our interest rate swaps, the
effective portion of the derivative represents the
change in fair value of the hedge that offsets the
change in fair value of the hedged item. To the
extent the change in the fair value of the hedge
does not perfectly offset the change in the fair
value of the hedged item, the ineffective portion
of the hedge is immediately recognized in
interest expense.

Fair Value Measurements

Accounting standards define fair value as the
exchange price that would be received for an
asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price)
in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the
measurement date. The standards also establish
a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity to
maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. There are three levels of
inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1
prices such as quoted prices for similar assets
or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are

not active, or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data
for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported
by little or no market activity and that are
significant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.

The Company has elected not to use the Fair
Value Option for non-financial instruments, and
accordingly those assets and liabilities are
carried at amortized cost. For financial
instruments, those assets and liabilities are
carried at fair value and are determined based
on the market approach or income approach
depending upon the level of inputs used.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability
approach for accounting and reporting income
taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and
for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in the period that includes the
enactment date. A valuation allowance would be
established, if necessary, for the amount of any
tax benefits that, based on available evidence,
are not expected to be realized. The Company
accounts for unrecognized tax benefits in
accordance with the accounting standards.

Stock-Based Compensation

Accounting standards require companies to
recognize as expense the fair value of stock
options and other equity-based compensation
issued to employees as of the grant date. These
standards apply to all stock awards that the
Company grants to employees as well as the
Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan
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(ESPP), which features a look-back provision and
allows employees to purchase stock at a 15%
discount. All stock-based compensation expense
is recorded in wages and benefits in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income
by the average common shares outstanding plus

additional common shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the exercise of in-the-
money stock options and restricted stock units,
using the treasury-stock method. In 2012, 2011,
and 2010, antidilutive stock options excluded
from the calculation of EPS were not material.

NOTE 2. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Components for cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities (in millions):

December 31, 2012 Cost Basis
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 28 $— $— $ 28
Cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 94 — — 94

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 122 — — 122

U.S. government and agency securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 271 1 — 272
Foreign government bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50 1 — 51
Asset-back securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61 1 — 62
Mortgage-back securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 137 1 (1) 137
Corporate notes and bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 577 8 — 585
Municipal securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23 — — 23

Marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,119 12 (1) 1,130

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,241 $ 12 $ (1) $1,252

December 31, 2011 Cost Basis
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 62 $— $— $ 62
Cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40 — — 40

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102 — — 102

U.S. government and agency securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 293 3 — 296
Foreign government bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 1 — 25
Asset-back securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58 — — 58
Mortgage-back securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124 1 — 125
Corporate notes and bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 519 7 (3) 523
Municipal securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 — — 12

Marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,030 12 (3) 1,039

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,132 $ 12 $ (3) $1,141

Unrealized losses from fixed-income securities
are primarily attributable to changes in interest
rates. Management does not believe any
remaining unrealized losses represent other-

than-temporary impairments based on our
evaluation of available evidence as of
December 31, 2012.

61

Š
Fo

rm
1
0
-K



Activity for marketable securities for the years
ended December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Proceeds from sales and
maturities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,048 $956 $931

Gross realized gains . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 8 10
Gross realized losses . . . . . . . . . . . (2) (3) (2)
Other-than-temporary impairments

on investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (2) —

Debt investment maturities as of December 31,
2012 (in millions):

December 31, 2012 Cost Basis Fair Value

Due in one year or less . . . . . . . . . . $ 211 $ 212
Due after one year through five

years . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 898 908
Due after five years through 10

years . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 10
Due after 10 years . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,119 $1,130

NOTE 3. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Fuel Hedge Contracts

The Company’s operations are inherently
dependent upon the price and availability of
aircraft fuel. To manage economic risks
associated with fluctuations in aircraft fuel
prices, the Company periodically enters into call
options for crude oil and swap agreements for jet
fuel refining margins.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had
fuel hedge contracts outstanding covering
454 million gallons of crude oil that will be
settled from January 2013 to December 2015.
Refer to the contractual obligations and
commitments section of Item 7 for further
information.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company has interest rate swap agreements
with a third party designed to hedge the volatility
of the underlying variable interest rate in the
Company’s aircraft lease agreements for six
Boeing 737-800 aircraft. The agreements
stipulate that the Company pay a fixed interest
rate over the term of the contract and receive a
floating interest rate. All significant terms of the
swap agreement match the terms of the lease
agreements, including interest-rate index, rate
reset dates, termination dates and underlying
notional values. The agreements expire from
February 2020 through March 2021 to coincide
with the lease termination dates.

Fair Values of Derivative Instruments

Fair values of derivative instruments on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011

Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Hedges
Fuel hedge contracts

Fuel hedge contracts, current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 26 $ 47
Fuel hedge contracts, noncurrent assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 70
Fuel hedge contracts, current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1) (10)

Derivative Instruments Designated as Hedges
Interest rate swaps

Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6) (5)
Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (27) (24)
Losses in accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (33) (29)

The net cash received (paid) for new positions
and settlements was $(19) million, $16 million,

and $(16) million during 2012, 2011, and 2010,
respectively.
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Pretax effect of derivative instruments on earnings (fuel hedges) and AOCL (interest rate swaps) at
December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Hedges
Fuel hedge contracts

Losses recognized in aircraft fuel expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(62) $ (9) $ (2)
Derivative Instruments Designated as Hedges

Interest rate swaps
Losses recognized in aircraft rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6) (6) (6)

Losses recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI) . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10) (26) (17)

The amounts shown as recognized in aircraft rent
for cash flow hedges (interest rate swaps)
represent the realized losses transferred out of
AOCL to aircraft rent. The amounts shown as
recognized in OCI are prior to the losses
recognized in aircraft rent during the period. The
Company expects $6 million to be reclassified
from OCI to aircraft rent within the next twelve
months.

Credit Risk and Collateral

The Company is exposed to credit losses in the
event of non-performance by counterparties to
these derivative instruments. To mitigate
exposure, the Company periodically reviews the
risk of counterparty nonperformance by
monitoring the absolute exposure levels and

credit ratings. The Company maintains security
agreements with a number of its counterparties
which may require the Company to post collateral
if the fair value of the selected derivative
instruments fall below specified mark-to-market
thresholds. The posted collateral does not offset
the fair value of the derivative instruments and is
included in “Prepaid expenses and other current
assets” on the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company posted collateral of $15 million,
$1 million and nil as of December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, respectively. The collateral was
provided to one counterparty associated with the
net liability position of the interest rate swap
agreements offset by the net asset position of
the fuel hedge contracts under a master netting
arrangement.

NOTE 4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments on a Recurring Basis
Fair values of financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheet (in millions):

December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Total

Assets
Marketable securities

U.S. government securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $272 $ — $272
Foreign government bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 51 51
Asset-back securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 62 62
Mortgage-back securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 137 137
Corporate notes and bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 585 585
Municipal securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 23 23

Derivative instruments
Fuel hedge contracts

Call options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 65 65

Liabilities
Derivative instruments

Fuel hedge contracts
Swap agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1) (1)

Interest rate swap agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (33) (33)
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December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Total

Assets
Marketable securities

U.S. government securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $296 $ — $296
Foreign government bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 25 25
Asset-back securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 58 58
Mortgage-back securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 125 125
Corporate notes and bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 523 523
Municipal securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 12 12

Derivative instruments
Fuel hedge contracts

Call options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 117 117

Liabilities
Derivative instruments

Fuel hedge contracts
Swap agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (10) (10)

Interest rate swap agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ (29) $ (29)

The Company uses the market and income
approach to determine the fair value of
marketable securities. U.S. government
securities are Level 1 as the fair value is based
on quoted prices in active markets. Foreign
governments bonds, asset-back securities,
mortgage-back securities, corporate notes and
bonds, and municipal securities are Level 2 as
the fair value is based on industry standard
valuation models that are calculated based on
observable inputs such as quoted interest rates,
yield curves, credit ratings of the security and
other observable market information.

The Company uses the market approach and the
income approach to determine the fair value of
derivative instruments. Fuel hedge contracts that
are not traded on a public exchange are Level 2
as the fair value is primarily based on inputs
which are readily available in active markets or
can be derived from information available in
active markets. The fair value for call options is
determined utilizing an option pricing model
based on inputs that are readily available in
active markets, or can be derived from
information available in active markets. In
addition, the fair value considers the exposure to
credit losses in the event of non-performance by
counterparties. The fair value of jet fuel refining
margins is determined based on inputs readily
available in public markets and provided by
brokers who regularly trade these contracts.
Interest rate swap agreements are Level 2 as
the fair value of these contracts is determined

based on the difference between the fixed
interest rate in the agreements and the
observable LIBOR-based interest forward rates at
period end, multiplied by the total notional value.

The Company has no other financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring
basis at December 31, 2012.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The Company used the following methods and
assumptions to determine the fair value of
financial instruments that are not recognized at
fair value as described below.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Carried at amortized
costs which approximate fair value.

Debt: The carrying amounts of the Company’s
variable-rate debt approximate fair values. For
fixed-rate debt, the Company uses the income
approach to determine the estimated fair value,
by using discounted cash flow using the
Company’s current borrowing rate.

Fixed-rate debt that is not carried at fair value on
the consolidated balance sheet and the
estimated fair value of long-term fixed-rate debt
as of December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011

Carrying Amount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $844 $1,003
Fair value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 915 1,076
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NOTE 5. ASSETS CONSTRUCTED FOR OTHERS (TERMINAL 6 AT LAX)
In March 2012, the Company placed into service
assets constructed for others (Terminal 6 at
LAX), including a new baggage system, additional
gates, new common use systems, expansion of
security screening checkpoints, and a new ticket
lobby, all of which were constructed for the City
of Los Angeles and Los Angeles World Airports
(LAWA). Additionally, the Company placed into
service proprietary renovations in the ticketing
lobby and at the new gates included in Terminal
6. During the fourth quarter of 2012, the
Company was reimbursed for substantially all of
the non-proprietary renovations.

For accounting and financial reporting purposes,
the Company is considered to be the owners of
the assets constructed for others and did not
qualify for sale and leaseback accounting when
the non-proprietary assets were transferred to
the City of Los Angeles due to the Company’s
continuing involvement with the project. As a
result, all of the costs incurred to fund the
project are included in “Other property and
equipment” and all amounts that have been and
will be reimbursed will be in “Other liabilities” on

the balance sheet. These assets and liabilities
were as follows as of December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011

Proprietary assets of T6 at LAX . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17 $ 9
Assets constructed for others (T6 at LAX) . . . . 199 143

Other property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . 216 152

Reimbursement for assets constructed . . . . . 187 12
Deferred interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 6

Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $201 $ 18

The assets will be depreciated over the life of
the lease based on the straight-line method,
while the liability will amortize on the effective
interest method based on the lease rental
payments. Because the Company will only
operate a small portion of the gates in the new
terminal, the asset and liability will depreciate
and amortize to an estimated fair value at the
end of the lease term, at which time we may
terminate the lease of the assets and
derecognize our obligation or we may extend our
lease term.

Future minimum payments related to the
Terminal 6 lease are included in facility leases
described in the “Commitments and
Contingencies” note.

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt obligations were as follows at
December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011

Fixed-rate notes payable due through
2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 844 $1,003

Variable-rate notes payable due through
2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 188 304

Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,032 1,307
Less current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 161 208

$ 871 $1,099

Weighted-average fixed-interest rate . . . 5.8% 5.8%
Weighted-average variable-interest

rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.0% 1.9%

All of the Company’s borrowings were secured by
aircraft.

During 2012, the Company made scheduled debt
payments of $172 million. The Company also
prepaid the full debt balance on seven

outstanding aircraft debt agreements totaling
$103 million. In 2011, the Company borrowed
approximately $107 million for six of the Q400
aircraft delivered in 2011. As of December 31,
2012, none of the Company’s borrowings were
restricted by covenants.

At December 31, 2012, long-term debt principal
payments for the next five years and thereafter
are as follows (in millions):

Total

2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 161
2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 117
2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 113
2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 414

Total principal payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,032
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Bank Line of Credit

The Company has two $100 million credit
facilities. Both facilities have variable interest
rates based on LIBOR plus a specified margin.
Borrowings on one of the $100 million facilities
are secured by aircraft. Borrowings on the other
$100 million facility are secured by certain
accounts receivable, spare engines, spare parts
and ground service equipment. The Company
modified the first facility in 2012 by extending

the term from March 2013 to August 2015 and
the second facility in 2011 by extending the term
from March 2014 to March 2016, and reduced
the commitment fee for both facilities. The
Company has no immediate plans to borrow
using either of these facilities. These facilities
have a requirement to maintain a minimum
unrestricted cash and marketable securities
balance of $500 million. The Company was in
compliance with this covenant at December 31,
2012.

NOTE 7. INCOME TAXES

Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and such amounts for tax
purposes. Primarily due to differences in
depreciation rates for federal income tax
purposes and for financial reporting purposes,
the Company has generated a net deferred tax
liability.

Deferred tax (assets) and liabilities comprise the
following at December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011

Excess of tax over book
depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 842 $ 795

Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 17

Gross deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . 861 812

Mileage Plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (265) (242)
AMT and other tax credits . . . . . . . . (1) (53)
Inventory obsolescence . . . . . . . . . (15) (13)
Deferred gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13) (14)
Employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . (230) (218)
Loss carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (13)
Fuel hedge contracts . . . . . . . . . . . (18) (3)
Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (21) (27)

Gross deferred tax assets . . . . . . . (563) (583)

Net deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . 298 229

Current deferred tax asset . . . . . . . (148) (134)
Noncurrent deferred tax liability . . . 446 363

Net deferred tax liability . . . . . . . . . $ 298 $ 229

As a result of certain realization requirements of
ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation,
deferred assets and liabilities did not include
certain deferred tax assets at December 31,
2011, that arose directly from the tax deductions
related to equity compensation in excess of
compensation recognized for financial reporting.
Those deferred tax assets included loss
carryforwards of $10 million as of December 31,
2011. The Company used ASC 740 ordering for
purposes of determining when excess tax
benefits have been realized. During 2012, the
Company recognized all of the previously
unrecognized deferred tax assets related to the
excess tax benefits of stock compensation,
which decreased “Deferred income taxes” and
increased “Capital in excess of par.”

The Company has concluded that it is more likely
than not that its deferred tax assets will be
realizable and thus no valuation allowance has
been recorded as of December 31, 2012. This
conclusion is based on the expected future
reversals of existing taxable temporary
differences, anticipated future taxable income,
and the potential for future tax planning
strategies to generate taxable income, if needed.
The Company will continue to reassess the need
for a valuation allowance during each future
reporting period.
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Components of Income Tax Expense

The components of income tax expense were as
follows (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Current tax expense
(benefit):

Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 83 — $ 7
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 4 3

Total current . . . . . . . . . . . . . 94 4 10

Deferred tax expense:
Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . 94 135 132
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 10 13

Total deferred . . . . . . . . . . . . 104 145 145

Total tax expense related to
income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $198 $149 $155

Income Tax Rate Reconciliation

Income tax expense reconciles to the amount
computed by applying the U.S. federal rate of
35% to income before income tax and accounting
change as follows (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Income before income
tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 514 $ 394 $ 406

Expected tax expense . . 180 138 142
Nondeductible

expenses . . . . . . . . . . 3 1 2
State income taxes . . . . 14 10 11
Other—net . . . . . . . . . . . 1 — —

Actual tax expense . . . . . $ 198 $ 149 $ 155

Effective tax rate . . . . . . 38.5% 37.9% 38.1%

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company has identified its federal tax return
and its state tax returns in Alaska, Oregon, and
California as “major” tax jurisdictions. A
summary of the Company’s jurisdictions and the
periods that are subject to examination are as
follows:

Jurisdiction Period

Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2009 to 2011
Alaska . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2009 to 2011
California . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2008 to 2011
Oregon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2002 to 2011

The 2002 to 2007 Oregon tax returns are
subject to examination only to the extent of net
operating loss carryforwards from those years
that were utilized in 2010 and later years.

At December 31, 2012, the total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits is recorded as a
liability, all of which would impact the effective
tax rate. Unrecognized tax benefits on uncertain
tax positions were not material as of
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. No
interest or penalties related to these tax
positions were accrued as of December 31,
2012.

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Four defined-benefit and five defined-contribution
retirement plans cover various employee groups
of Alaska and Horizon. The defined-benefit plans
provide benefits based on an employee’s term of
service and average compensation for a
specified period of time before retirement. The
qualified defined-benefit pension plans are
closed to new entrants.

Accounting standards require recognition of the
overfunded or underfunded status of an entity’s
defined-benefit pension and other postretirement
plan as an asset or liability in the financial

statements and requires recognition of the
funded status in AOCL.

Qualified Defined-Benefit Pension Plans

The Company’s pension plans are funded as
required by the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (ERISA).

The defined-benefit plan assets consist primarily
of marketable equity and fixed-income securities.
The Company uses a December 31
measurement date for these plans.
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Weighted average assumptions used to
determine benefit obligations as of
December 31:

Discount rates of 3.95% and 4.65% were used
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. For 2012, the rate of compensation
increase used varied from 3.05% to 4.02%,
depending on the related work group. For 2011,
the rate of compensation increases was 2.94%
to 4.17%.

Weighted average assumptions used to
determine net periodic benefit cost for the
years ended December 31:

Discount rates of 4.65%, 5.55%, and 5.85%
were used for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. Expected
return on plan assets used was 7.25%, 7.75%
and 7.75% for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. The rate of
compensation increase used varied from 2.94%
to 4.17% for the year ended December 31,
2012, 2.99% to 4.35% for the year ended
December 31, 2011, and 3.21% to 4.53% for
the year ended 2010, depending on the plan and
the related work group.

In determining the discount rate used, the
Company’s policy is to use the rates at the end
of the year on high-quality long-term bonds with
maturities that closely match the expected timing
of future cash distributions from the plan. In
determining the expected return on plan assets,
the Company assesses the current level of
expected returns on risk-free investments
(primarily government bonds), the historical level
of the risk premium associated with the other
asset classes in which the portfolio is invested
and the expectations for future returns of each
asset class. The expected return for each asset
class is then weighted based on the target asset
allocation to develop the expected long-term rate
of return on assets assumption for the portfolio.

Plan assets are invested in common commingled
trust funds invested in equity and fixed income
securities. The asset allocation of the funds in

the qualified defined-benefit plans, by asset
category, is as follows as of December 31:

2012 2011

Asset category:
Money market fund . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5% 1%
Domestic equity securities . . . . . . . 43% 45%
Non-U.S. equity securities . . . . . . . . 20% 20%
Fixed income securities . . . . . . . . . 32% 34%

Plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100%

The Company’s investment policy focuses on
achieving maximum returns at a reasonable risk
for pension assets over a full market cycle. The
Company uses a fund manager and invests in
various asset classes to diversify risk. Target
allocations for the primary asset classes are
approximately:

Domestic equities: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37% - 52%
Non-U.S. equities: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15% - 25%
Fixed income: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30% - 42%

Pension assets are rebalanced periodically to
maintain these target asset allocations. An
individual equity investment will not exceed 10%
of the entire equity portfolio. Fixed-income
securities carry a minimum “A” rating by Moody’s
and/or Standard and Poor’s and the average life
of the bond portfolio may not exceed ten years.
The Company does not currently intend to invest
plan assets in the Company’s common stock.

As of December 31, 2012, other than the money
market fund, all assets were invested in common
commingled trust funds. The Company uses the
net asset values of these funds to determine fair
value as allowed using the practical expediency
method outlined in the accounting standards. Plan
asset by fund category and fair value hierarchy
level as of December 31 (dollars in millions):

2012 2011 Level

Fund type:
Money market fund . . . . . . $ 75 $ 12 1
U.S. equity market fund . . . 654 579 2
Non-U.S. equity fund . . . . . 304 256 2
Credit bond index fund . . . 102 — 2
U.S. debt index fund . . . . . — 75 2
Government/credit bond

index fund . . . . . . . . . . . 403 366 2

Plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,538 $1,288
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Nonqualified Defined-Benefit Pension Plan

Alaska also maintains an unfunded,
noncontributory defined-benefit plan for certain
elected officers. This plan uses a December 31
measurement date.

Weighted average assumptions used to
determine benefit obligations as of
December 31:

Discount rates of 3.95% and 4.65% were used as
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
The rate of compensation increase used was
5.00% as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Weighted average assumptions used to
determine net periodic benefit cost for the
years ended December 31:

Discount rates of 4.65%, 5.55%, and 5.85%
were used for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. The rate of
compensation increase used was 7.00% per year
during the first four years of employment and
5.00% thereafter for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The rate of compensation
increase used was 5.00% for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Combined Disclosures for Defined-Benefit Pension Plans

The following table sets forth the status of the plans as of December 31 (in millions):

Qualified Nonqualified

2012 2011 2012 2011

Projected benefit obligation (PBO)
Beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,594 $1,343 $ 43 $ 41
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 35 1 1
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73 73 2 2
Plan amendments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (21) — 1
Actuarial (gain) loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 214 206 (2) 3
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (46) (42) (2) (5)

End of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,873 $1,594 $ 42 $ 43

Plan assets at fair value
Beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,288 $1,143 $— $—
Actual return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 186 54 — —
Employer contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 110 133 2 5
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (46) (42) (2) (5)

End of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,538 $1,288 $— $—

Funded status (unfunded) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (335) $ (306) $(42) $(43)

Percent funded . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82% 81% — —

The accumulated benefit obligation for the
combined qualified defined-benefit pension plans
was $1,733 million and $1,483 million at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The

accumulated benefit obligation for the
nonqualified defined-benefit plan was $41 million
and $42 million at December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets were
as follows (in millions):

2012 2011

Qualified Nonqualified Qualified Nonqualified

Accrued benefit liability-current . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 2 $ — $ 2
Accrued benefit liability-long term . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 335 40 306 41

Total liability recognized . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $335 $42 $306 $43

AMOUNTS NOT YET REFLECTED IN NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST AND INCLUDED IN AOCL:

2012 2011

Qualified Nonqualified Qualified Nonqualified

Prior service credit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (15) $— $ (15) $—
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 695 9 613 12

Amount recognized in AOCL (pretax) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $680 $ 9 $598 $ 12

The expected amortization of prior service credit
and net loss from AOCL in 2013 is $1 million
and $43 million, respectively, for the qualified
defined-benefit pension plans. For the

nonqualified defined-benefit pension plans, the
expected combined amortization of prior service
cost and net loss from AOCL in 2013 is
$1 million.

Net pension expense for the defined-benefit plans included the following components for the years
ended December 31 (in millions):

Qualified Nonqualified

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 38 $ 35 $ 32 $ 1 $ 1 $ 1
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73 73 68 2 2 2
Expected return on assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (93) (88) (71) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1) (1) (1) — — —
Recognized actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40 23 22 1 1 —

Net pension expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 57 $ 42 $ 50 $ 4 $ 4 $ 3

Historically, the Company’s practice has been to
contribute to the qualified defined-benefit
pension plans in an amount equal to the greater
of 1) the minimum required by law, 2) the
Pension Protection Act (PPA) target liability, or 3)
the service cost as actuarially calculated. There
are no current funding requirements for the
Company’s plans in 2013. However, the funding
in 2013 is estimated to be $35 million to $50
million. The Company expects to contribute
approximately $2 million to the nonqualified
defined-benefit pension plans during 2013.

Future benefits expected to be paid over the next
ten years under the defined-benefit pension
plans from the assets of those plans as of
December 31, 2012 (in millions):

Qualified Nonqualified

2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $60 $ 2
2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 75 3
2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78 3
2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79 5
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 95 3
2018—2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 532 23
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Postretirement Medical Benefits

The Company allows retirees to continue their medical, dental, and vision benefits by paying all or a
portion of the active employee plan premium until eligible for Medicare, currently age 65. This results in a
subsidy to retirees, because the premiums received by the Company are less than the actual cost of the
retirees’ claims. The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBO) for this subsidy is unfunded.
This liability was determined using an assumed discount rate of 3.95% and 4.65% at December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively. The Company does not believe the U.S. Health Care Reform: The Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act and The Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act will have a
significant impact on the Company’s cost for postretirement medical benefits.

(in millions) 2012 2011

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
Beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 120 $ 133
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 6
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 7
Actuarial gain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11) (23)
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2) (3)

End of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 117 $ 120

Plan assets at fair value
Beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ —
Employer contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 3
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2) (3)

End of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ —

Funded status (unfunded) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(117) $(120)

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the
amounts recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets (in millions):

2012 2011

Accrued benefit liability-current . . . . . . . . $ 4 $ 4
Accrued benefit liability-long term . . . . . . 113 116

Total liability recognized . . . . . . . . . . . . . $117 $120

AMOUNTS NOT YET REFLECTED IN NET
PERIODIC BENEFIT COST AND INCLUDED
IN AOCL:

(in millions) 2012 2011

Prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2 $ 2
Net gain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15) (4)

Amount recognized in AOCL (pretax) . . $(13) $(2)

The Company uses a December 31
measurement date to assess obligations
associated with the subsidy of retiree medical
costs. Net periodic benefit cost for the
postretirement medical plans included the

following components for the years ended
December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5 $ 6 $ 5
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 7 7
Amortization of prior service

cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 —
Recognized actuarial (gain) loss . . (1) 1 —

Net periodic benefit cost . . . . . . . . $10 $15 $ 12

This is an unfunded plan. The Company expects
to contribute approximately $4 million to the
postretirement medical benefits plan in 2013,
which is equal to the expected benefit payments.

Future benefits expected to be paid over the next
ten years under the postretirement medical
benefits plan as of December 31, 2012 (in
millions):

2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4
2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7
2018– 2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43
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The assumed health care cost trend rates to
determine the expected 2013 benefits cost are
8.3%, 8.3%, 5.0% and 4.0% for medical,
prescription drugs, dental and vision costs,
respectively. The assumed trend rate declines
steadily through 2028 where the ultimate
assumed trend rates are 4.7% for medical,
prescription drugs and dental, and 4.0% for
vision.

A 1% higher or lower trend rate in health care
costs has the following effect on the Company’s
postretirement medical plans for the years ended
December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Change in service and interest cost
1% higher trend rate . . . . . . . . . $ 2 $ 2 $ 2
1% lower trend rate . . . . . . . . . . (1) (2) (2)

Change in year-end postretirement
benefit obligation

1% higher trend rate . . . . . . . . . $ 14 $ 14 $ 16
1% lower trend rate . . . . . . . . . . (12) (13) (14)

Defined-Contribution Plans

The defined-contribution plans are deferred
compensation plans under section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. All of these plans require
Company contributions. Total expense for the
defined-contribution plans was $43 million, $42
million, and $40 million in 2012, 2011, and
2010, respectively.

The Company also has a noncontributory,
unfunded defined-contribution plan for certain
elected officers of the Company who are
ineligible for the nonqualified defined-benefit
pension plan. Amounts recorded as liabilities
under the plan are not material to the
consolidated balance sheet at December 31,
2012 and 2011.

Pilot Long-term Disability Benefits

Alaska maintains a long-term disability plan for
its pilots. The long-term disability plan does not
have a service requirement. Therefore, the
liability is calculated based on estimated future
benefit payments associated with pilots that
were assumed to be disabled on a long-term
basis as of December 31, 2012 and does not
include any assumptions for future disability. The
liability includes the discounted expected future
benefit payments and medical costs. The total
liability was $11 million and $8 million, which
was recorded net of a prefunded trust account of
$1 million and $1 million, and included in long-
term other liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Employee Incentive-Pay Plans

Alaska and Horizon have employee incentive
plans that pay employees based on certain
financial and operational metrics. The aggregate
expense under these plans in 2012, 2011 and
2010 was $88 million, $72 million, and $92
million, respectively. The plans are summarized
below:

• Performance-Based Pay (PBP) is a program
that rewards all employees. The program is
based on four separate metrics related to
Air Group profitability, safety, achievement
of unit-cost goals, and employee
engagement as measured by customer
satisfaction.

• The Operational Performance Rewards
Program entitles all Air Group employees to
quarterly payouts of up to $300 per person
if certain operational and customer service
objectives are met.
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NOTE 9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Future minimum fixed payments for commitments as of December 31, 2012 (in millions):

Aircraft
Leases

Facility
Leases

Aircraft
Commitments

Capacity
Purchase

Agreements
Engine

Maintenance

2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $142 $ 47 $ 372 $17 $ 32
2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 126 42 332 18 26
2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 104 31 254 18 9
2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82 22 204 18 —
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51 18 322 19 —
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80 129 1,488 8 —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $585 $289 $2,972 $98 $ 67

Lease Commitments

At December 31, 2012, the Company had lease
contracts for 63 aircraft, which have remaining
noncancelable lease terms ranging from 2013 to
2021. Of these aircraft, 14 are non-operating
(i.e. not in the Company’s fleet) and subleased
to third-party carriers. In 2012, the Company
entered into an agreement to sell and leaseback
three B737-700 aircraft. The lease terms were
less than two years and qualify as operating
leases. The sale of the aircraft resulted in a gain
of $3 million, which was deferred and is being
amortized over the life of the leases to aircraft
rent expense on the consolidated statement of
operations. The majority of airport and terminal
facilities are also leased. Rent expense was
$275 million, $275 million, and $295 million, in
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Aircraft Commitments

In 2012, the Company entered into a new
agreement and modified existing agreements
with Boeing to acquire 50 new B737 aircraft. As
of December 31, 2012, the Company is
committed to purchasing 71 B737 aircraft,
including 34 B737-900ER aircraft and 37 B737
MAX aircraft, with deliveries in 2013 through
2022. In addition, the Company has options to
purchase an additional 69 B737 aircraft and ten
Q400 aircraft.

Capacity Purchase Agreements (CPAs)

At December 31, 2012, Alaska had CPAs with
three carriers, including the Company’s wholly-

owned subsidiary, Horizon. Beginning January 1,
2011, Horizon sold 100% of its capacity under a
CPA with Alaska. On May 14, 2011, SkyWest
Airlines, Inc. began flying certain routes under a
CPA with Alaska. In addition, Alaska has a CPA
with PenAir to fly certain routes in the state of
Alaska. Under these agreements, Alaska pays
the carriers an amount which is based on a
determination of their cost of operating those
flights and other factors intended to approximate
market rates for those services. Future payments
(excluding Horizon) are based on minimum levels
of flying by the third-party carriers, which could
differ materially due to variable payments based
on actual levels of flying and certain costs
associated with operating flights such as fuel.

Engine Maintenance

The Company had power-by-the-hour
maintenance agreements for all B737-400,
B737-700 and B737-900 engines at
December 31, 2012. These agreements transfer
risk to third-party service providers and fix the
amount the Company pays per flight hour in
exchange for maintenance and repairs under a
predefined maintenance program. Future
payments are based on minimum flight hours.
Accordingly, payments could differ materially
based on actual flight hours.

Contingencies

The Company is a party to routine litigation
matters incidental to its business and with
respect to which no material liability is expected.
Management believes the ultimate disposition of
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these matters is not likely to materially affect the
Company’s financial position or results of
operations. This forward-looking statement is
based on management’s current understanding

of the relevant law and facts, and it is subject to
various contingencies, including the potential
costs and risks associated with litigation and the
actions of arbitrators, judges and juries.

NOTE 10. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock Split

On February 15, 2012, the Board of Directors
declared a two-for-one split of the Company’s
common stock by means of a stock distribution.
The additional shares were distributed on
March 16, 2012, to the shareholders of record
on March 2, 2012. The stock split increased the
Company’s outstanding shares from
approximately 36 million shares as of
December 31, 2011 to about 71 million shares.
Historical outstanding shares and per share
amounts were recast upon the distribution.

Common Stock Repurchase

In September 2012, the Board of Directors
authorized a $250 million share repurchase

program, which does not have an expiration
date, but is expected to be completed by
December 2014. In February 2012, the Board of
Directors authorized a $50 million share
repurchase program, which was completed in
September 2012. In June 2011, the Board of
Directors authorized a $50 million share
repurchase program, which was completed in
January 2012. In June 2010, the Board of
Directors authorized a $50 million share
repurchase program, which was completed in
April 2011. In June 2009, the Board of Directors
authorized a $50 million share repurchase
program, which was completed in May 2010.

Share repurchase activity as of December 31 (in millions, except shares):

2012 2011 2010

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

$250 million Repurchase Program . . . . . . . . . 202,510 $ 8 — $— — $—
2012 Repurchase Program . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,437,101 50 — — — —
2011 Repurchase Program . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,340 2 1,595,000 48 — —
2010 Repurchase Program . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 1,023,600 31 710,000 19
2009 Repurchase Program . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 1,291,496 26

1,685,951 $ 60 2,618,600 $ 79 2,001,496 $ 45

Retirement of Treasury Shares

In 2012, the Company retired 4,829,834 common shares that had been held in treasury. This action
did not impact the total number of common shares outstanding.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (AOCL)

AOCL consisted of the following at December 31 (in millions, net of tax):

2012 2011

Unrealized gain on marketable securities considered available-for-sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (7) $ (6)
Related to employee benefit plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 423 380
Related to interest rate derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 16

$436 $390
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NOTE 11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The table below summarizes the components of
total stock-based compensation for the years
ended December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2 $ 3 $ 4
Stock awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 8 9
Deferred stock awards . . . . . . . . 1 — —
Employee stock purchase

plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 1

Stock-based compensation . . . . $15 $ 12 $ 14

Tax benefit related to stock-
based compensation . . . . . . . $ 5 $ 4 $ 5

Unrecognized stock-based compensation for non-
vested options and awards and the weighted-
average period the expense will be recognized for
the year ended December 31, 2012 (in millions):

Amount

Weighted-
Average
Period

Stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2 0.7
Stock awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 0.4

Unrecognized stock-based
compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . $7 0.5

The Company has various equity incentive plans
under which it may grant stock awards to
directors, officers and employees. The Company
also has an employee stock purchase plan
(ESPP).

The Company is authorized to issue 18 million
shares of common stock under these plans and
as of December 31, 2012, of which 9,410,755
shares remain available for future grants of
either options or stock awards.

Stock Options

Stock options to purchase common stock are
granted at the fair market value of the stock on
the date of grant. The stock options granted
have terms of up to ten years.

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in the years ended
December 31:

2012 2011 2010

Expected volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55% 56% 55%
Expected term . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 years 6 years 6 years
Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.08% 2.26% 2.78%
Expected dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — —
Weighted-average grant date fair value per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $17.23 $16.40 $ 9.03
Estimated fair value of options granted (millions) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2 $ 2 $ 2

The expected market price volatility is based on the historical volatility. The expected term is based on
the estimated period of time until exercise based on historical experience. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The dividend yield is zero as
the Company does not pay dividends and has no plans to do so in the immediate future. The expected
forfeiture rates are based on historical experience.
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The tables below summarize stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2012:

Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
Per Share

Weighted-
Average

Contractual
Life (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (in
millions)

Outstanding, December 31, 2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,301,596 $17.02 6.5 $27
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 120,750 38.13
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (471,806) 14.43
Forfeited or expired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,816) 20.43

Outstanding, December 31, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 941,724 $20.99 6.2 $21

Exercisable, December 31, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 447,288 $17.61 5.0 $11
Vested or expected to vest, December 31, 2012 . . . . . . . 939,448 $20.99 6.2 $21

2012 2011 2010

Intrinsic value of option exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $11 $20 $23
Cash received from stock option exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 17 37
Tax benefit related to stock option exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 8 9
Fair value of options vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 3 4

Stock Awards

Restricted stock units (RSUs) are awarded to
eligible employees and entitle the grantee to
receive shares of common stock at the end of
the vest period. The fair value of the RSUs is
based on the stock price on the date of grant.
The RSUs “cliff vest” after three years, or the
period from the date of grant to the employee’s

retirement eligibility, and expense is recognized
accordingly. Performance Share Unit (PSUs) are
awarded to certain executives to receive shares
of common stock if specific performance goals
and market conditions are achieved. There are
several tranches of PSUs which vest when
performance goals and market conditions are
met.

The following table summarizes information about outstanding stock awards:

Number of
Units

Weighted-
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value

Weighted-
Average

Contractual
Life (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (in
millions)

Non-vested, December 31, 2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,123,002 $19.30 0.7 $42
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 343,763 30.65
Vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (689,906) 15.32
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (22,566) 14.86

Non-vested, December 31, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 754,293 $28.06 0.6 $33

Deferred Stock Awards

Deferred Stock Units (DSUs) are awarded to
members of its Board of Directors as part of
their retainers. The underlying common shares
are issued upon retirement from the Board, but
require no future service period. As a result, the
entire intrinsic value of the awards is expensed
on the date of grant.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP)

The ESPP allows employees to purchase common
stock at 85% of the stock price on the first day of
the offering period or the specified purchase date,
whichever is lower. Employees may contribute up
to 10% of their base earnings during the offering
period to purchase stock. Employees purchased
157,373, 125,564, and 31,098 shares in 2012,
2011, and 2010 under the ESPP.
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NOTE 12. FLEET TRANSITION AND RESTRUCTURING RELATED EXPENSES

The table below summarizes fleet transition and restructuring related expenses for the years ended
December 31 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Horizon Fleet Transition—CRJ-700 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $— $ 28 $ 10
Horizon Fleet Transition—Q200 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 11 —
Horizon Restructuring . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 3

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $— $ 39 $ 13

Horizon Fleet Transition

In 2011, Horizon completed its transition to an
all-Q400 fleet, which included the sublease of
CRJ-700 aircraft to a third-party carrier and
removal of all residual CRJ-700 inventory.
Additionally, Horizon removed all Q200 aircraft
from operation in 2009 through either lease
termination or sublease. In 2011, the Company
terminated the underlying subleases and sold
the remaining Q200 aircraft.

Horizon Restructuring

During 2010, the Company announced its
decision to outsource the remaining heavy
maintenance functions for Horizon aircraft. As a
result of this decision, Horizon eliminated
approximately 100 positions in the maintenance
division resulting in a charge for separation pay.

NOTE 13. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Air Group has two operating airlines—Alaska
Airlines and Horizon Air. Each is a regulated
airline with separate management teams.
Effective January 1, 2011, Horizon’s business
model changed such that 100% of its capacity is
sold to Alaska under a capacity purchase
agreement (CPA). Prior to 2011, Horizon
operated a hybrid model where it sold a portion
of its capacity to Alaska and had its own
passenger revenues. Additionally, Alaska signed
a signed a capacity agreement with SkyWest in
May 2011, and continued its CPA with PenAir. To
manage the two operating airlines and the
revenues and expenses associated with the
CPAs, management views the business in three
operating segments.

Alaska Mainline—The Boeing 737 part of
Alaska’s business.

Alaska Regional—Alaska’s shorter distance
network. In this segment, Alaska Regional
records actual on board passenger revenue,
less costs such as fuel, distribution costs,

and payments made to Horizon, SkyWest
and PenAir under CPAs. Additionally, Alaska
Regional includes a small allocation of
corporate overhead such as IT, finance and
other administrative costs incurred by
Alaska and on behalf of Horizon.

Horizon—Horizon operates regional aircraft.
All of Horizon’s capacity is sold to Alaska
under a CPA. Expenses included those
typically borne by regional airlines such as
crew costs, ownership costs, and
maintenance costs.

Additionally, the following table reports “Air
Group adjusted”, which is not a measure
determined in accordance with GAAP. The
Company’s chief operating decision-makers and
others in management use this measure to
evaluate operational performance and determine
resources allocations. Adjustments are further
explained below in reconciling to consolidated
GAAP results.
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Operating segment information is as follows (in millions):

Alaska

Year ended December 31, 2012 Mainline Regional Horizon Consolidating
Air Group

Adjusted (a)
Special
Charges Consolidated

Operating revenues
Passenger

Mainline . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,284 $ — $ — $ — $3,284 $— $3,284
Regional . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 746 — — 746 — 746

Total passenger revenues . . . 3,284 746 — — 4,030 — 4,030
CPA revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 369 (369) — — —
Freight and mail . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 107 4 — — 111 — 111
Other-net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 448 61 7 — 516 — 516

Total operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . 3,839 811 376 (369) 4,657 — 4,657

Operating expenses
Operating expenses, excluding fuel . . . 2,131 566 338 (369) 2,666 — 2,666
Economic fuel (c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,238 183 — — 1,421 38 1,459

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . 3,369 749 338 (369) 4,087 38 4,125

Nonoperating income (expense)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 — — — 19 — 19
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (47) — (16) (1) (64) — (64)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 — 2 1 27 — 27

(4) — (14) — (18) — (18)

Income (loss) before income tax . . . . $ 466 $ 62 $ 24 $ — $ 552 $(38) $ 514

Alaska

Year ended December 31, 2011 Mainline Regional Horizon Consolidating
Air Group

Adjusted (a)
Special
Charges Consolidated

Operating revenues
Passenger

Mainline . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,995 $ — $ — $ — $2,995 $— $2,995
Regional . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 713 — — 713 — 713

Total passenger revenues . . . 2,995 713 — — 3,708 — 3,708
CPA revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 369 (369) — — —
Freight and mail . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 105 4 — — 109 — 109
Other-net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 431 62 8 — 501 — 501

Total operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . 3,531 779 377 (369) 4,318 — 4,318

Operating expenses
Operating expenses, excluding

fuel (b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,015 544 340 (367) 2,532 39 2,571
Economic fuel (c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,101 167 — — 1,268 30 1,298

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . 3,116 711 340 (367) 3,800 69 3,869

Nonoperating income (expense)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 — — (2) 22 — 22
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (72) — (17) 2 (87) — (87)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 — 2 10 — 10

(40) — (15) — (55) — (55)

Income (loss) before income tax . . . . $ 375 $ 68 $ 22 $ (2) $ 463 $(69) $ 394
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Alaska

Year ended December 31, 2010 Mainline Regional Horizon Consolidating
Air Group

Adjusted (a)
Special
Charges Consolidated

Operating revenues
Passenger

Mainline . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,595 $ — $ — $ — $2,595 $— $2,595
Regional . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 308 363 — 671 — 671

Total passenger revenues . . 2,595 308 363 — 3,266 — 3,266
CPA revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 274 (274) — — —
Freight and mail . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102 2 2 — 106 — 106
Other-net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 397 23 40 — 460 — 460

Total operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . 3,094 333 679 (274) 3,832 — 3,832

Operating expenses
Operating expenses, excluding

fuel (b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,917 299 502 (271) 2,447 13 2,460
Economic fuel (c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 757 — 139 — 896 5 901

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . 2,674 299 641 (271) 3,343 18 3,361

Nonoperating income (expense)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35 — 4 (10) 29 — 29
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (97) — (20) 9 (108) — (108)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13 — — 1 14 — 14

(49) — (16) — (65) — (65)

Income (loss) before income tax . . . . $ 371 $ 34 $ 22 $ (3) $ 424 $(18) $ 406

(a) The adjusted column represents the financial information that is reviewed by management to assess performance of
operations and determine capital allocations and does not include certain charges.

(b) Refer to the Fleet Transition and Restructuring Related Expenses note for a summary of special charges for each respective
period.

(c) Represents adjustments to reflect the timing of gain or loss recognition resulting from mark-to-market fuel-hedge accounting.

2012 2011 2010

Depreciation:
Alaska (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 217 203 $189
Horizon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47 43 41
Parent company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 1 —

Consolidated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 264 $ 247 $230

Capital expenditures:
Alaska (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 477 $ 250 $166
Horizon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41 137 19

Consolidated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 518 $ 387 $185

Total assets at end of period:
Alaska (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,177 $ 4,775
Horizon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 823 847
Parent company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,832 1,584
Elimination of inter-company accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,327) (2,039)

Consolidated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,505 $ 5,167

(a) There are no depreciation expenses, capital expenditures or assets associated with purchased capacity flying at Alaska
Regional.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
The Company’s management, with the
participation of the Principal Executive Officer
and Principal Financial Officer, conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) as of the end of
the period covered by this report. Based on that
evaluation, the Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of the end of the period
covered by this report.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
There have been no changes in the Company’s
internal controls over financial reporting during
the fourth quarter of 2012 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING
Our management is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the

supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting based
on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO Framework). Based on
our evaluation, our management concluded that
our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2012.

We intend to regularly review and evaluate the
design and effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting on an ongoing basis and to
improve these controls and procedures over time
and to correct any deficiencies that we may
discover in the future. While we believe the
present design of our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial
reporting are effective, future events affecting
our business may cause us to modify our
controls and procedures.

The Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm has issued an attestation report
regarding its assessment of the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2012.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Alaska Air Group, Inc.:

We have audited Alaska Air Group, Inc.’s internal
control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Alaska Air Group, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
(included in Item 9A). Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately

and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal
control over financial reporting may not prevent
or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Alaska Air Group, Inc. maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Alaska Air Group,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2012, and our report dated
February 14, 2013 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 14, 2013
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On October 10, 2012, Alaska Airlines, Inc. (Alaska) amended and supplemented its aircraft purchase
agreement with The Boeing Company with respect to 737-900ER aircraft. The supplemental agreement
includes firm orders for thirteen 737-900ER aircraft to be delivered between 2015 and 2022. A copy of
the agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.7 and incorporated herein by reference.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

See “Executive Officers of the Registrant” under Item 1, “Our Business,” in Part I of this Form 10-K for
information on the executive officers of Air Group and its subsidiaries. Except as provided herein, the
remainder of the information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the definitive
Proxy Statement for Air Group’s 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012
(hereinafter referred to as our “2013 Proxy Statement”).

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2013 Proxy
Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT, AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Plan category

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,

warrants and rights
(a)

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(b)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected in

column (a))
(c)

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,775,145 (1) $ 20.99 (2) 9,410,755 (3)

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders . . . . . . . — Not applicable —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,775,145 20.99 9,410,755

(1) Of these shares, 652,180 subject to options then outstanding under the 2008 Plan, and 833,421 were subject to
outstanding restricted, performance and deferred stock unit awards granted under the 2008 Plan. In addition, 283,944 were
subject to options then outstanding under the 2004 Plan, and 5,600 shares were subject to options then outstanding under
the 1999 Plan. Outstanding performance awards are reflected in the table assuming that the target level of performance will
be achieved. No new award of grants may be made under the 2004 Plan or the 1999 Plan.

(2) This number does not reflect the 833,421 shares that were subject to outstanding stock unit awards granted under the 2008
Plan.

(3) Of the aggregate number of shares that remained available for future issuance, 5,692,750 shares were available under the
2008 Plan and 3,718,005 shares were available under the ESPP. Subject to certain express limits of the 2008 Plan, shares
available for award purposes under the 2008 Plan generally may be used for any type of award authorized under that plan
including options, stock appreciation rights, and other forms of awards granted or denominated in shares of our common
stock including, without limitation, stock bonuses, restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance shares. Full-value
shares issued under the 2008 Plan are counted against the share limit as 1.7 shares for every one share issued. This table
does not give effect to that rule.

83

Š
Fo

rm
1
0
-K



Other information required by this item is set forth under the heading “Beneficial Ownership of
Securities” in our 2013 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS,
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2013 Proxy
Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2013 Proxy
Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS

The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Exhibits: See Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

ALASKA AIR GROUP, INC.

By: /S/ BRADLEY D. TILDEN Date: February 14, 2013
Bradley D. Tilden

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on February 14, 2013 on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
indicated.

/S/ BRADLEY D. TILDEN

Bradley D. Tilden
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/S/ BRANDON S. PEDERSEN

Brandon S. Pedersen
Vice President/Finance and Chief Financial
Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/S/ WILLIAM S. AYER

William S. Ayer
Chairman

/S/ PATRICIA M. BEDIENT

Patricia M. Bedient
Director

/S/ MARION C. BLAKEY

Marion C. Blakey
Director

/S/ PHYLLIS J. CAMPBELL

Phyllis J. Campbell
Director

/S/ JESSIE J. KNIGHT, JR.
Jessie J. Knight, Jr.

Director

/S/ R. MARC LANGLAND

R. Marc Langland
Director

/S/ DENNIS F. MADSEN

Dennis F. Madsen
Director

/S/ BYRON I. MALLOTT

Byron I. Mallott
Director

/S/ J. KENNETH THOMPSON

J. Kenneth Thompson
Director

/S/ ERIC K. YEAMAN

Eric K. Yeaman
Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Certain of the following exhibits have heretofore been filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and are incorporated by reference from the documents below. Certain others are filed
herewith. The exhibits are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit
Description Form

Date of
First
Filing

Exhibit
Number

File
Number

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Registrant

10-Q August 8,
2006

3(i)

3.2 Bylaws of Registrant, as amended April 30,
2010

8-K May 3,
2010

10.2# Credit Agreement, dated March 31, 2010,
among Alaska Airlines, Inc., as borrower, Wells
Fargo Capital Finance, LLC as agent, U.S. Bank
National Association as documentation agent,
and other lenders

10-Q August 11,
2010

10.1

10.3# Credit Agreement, dated March 31, 2010,
among Alaska Airlines, Inc., as borrower,
Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent, Bank of
America, N.A., as syndication agent, and other
lenders

10-Q May 5,
2010

10.2

10.4# Aircraft General Terms Agreement, dated June
15, 2005, between the Boeing Company and
Alaska Airlines, Inc.

10-Q August 5,
2005

10.1

10.5# Purchase Agreement No. 2497, dated June 15,
2005, between the Boeing Company and
Alaska Airlines, Inc.

10-Q August 5,
2005

10.2

10.6# Supplemental Agreement No. 23 to Purchase
Agreement No. 2497 between The Boeing
Company and Alaska Airlines, Inc.

10-Q/A August 2,
2011

10.1

10.7†# Supplemental Agreement No. 29 to Purchase
Agreement No. 2497 between The Boeing
Company and Alaska Airlines, Inc.

10-K February 14,
2013

10.1

10.8†# Purchase Agreement No. 3866 between The
Boeing Company and Alaska Airlines, Inc.

10-K February 14,
2013

10.2

10.9# Supplement to Master Purchase Agreement,
dated October 18, 2005, between Horizon Air
Industries, Inc. and Bombardier Inc.

10-Q November 9,
2005

10.1

10.10* Alaska Air Group Performance Based Pay Plan
(formerly “Management Incentive Plan”), as
amended and restated December 2, 2009

8-K February 1,
2010

10.1

10.11* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan

8-K May 22,
2008

10.1
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10.12* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Form of Nonqualified Stock
Option Agreement

8-K May 22,
2008

10.2

10.13* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Form of Stock Unit Award
Agreement

8-K May 22,
2008

10.3

10.14* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Form of Director Deferred Stock
Unit Award Agreement

8-K May 22,
2008

10.4

10.15* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement—Incentive Award

8-K February 2,
2009

10.1

10.16* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award
Agreement—Incentive Award

8-K February 2,
2009

10.2

10.17* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award Agreement

8-K February 5,
2010

10.1

10.18* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2008 Performance
Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement

8-K February 5,
2010

10.2

10.19* Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, as
amended

10-Q August 4,
2011

10.1

10.20* 2008 Performance Incentive Plan, Form of
Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, as
amended

10-Q August 4,
2011

10.3

10.21* 2008 Performance Incentive Plan, Form of
Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement, as
amended

10-Q August 4,
2011

10.4

10.22* 2008 Performance Incentive Plan, Form of
Stock Unit Award Agreement, as amended

10-Q August 4,
2011

10.5

10.23* 2008 Performance Incentive Plan, Form of
Stock Unit Award Agreement Incentive Award,
as amended

10-Q August 4,
2011

10.6

10.24* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan and original form of stock option
and restricted stock unit agreements

10-K February 25,
2005

10.2

10.25* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement

10-K February 20,
2008

10.8.1

10.26* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award Agreement

10-K February 20,
2008

10.8.2

10.27* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan Performance Stock Unit Award
Agreement

8-K February 14,
2008

10.3
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10.28* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1999 Long-Term
Incentive Equity Plan

S-8 September 22,
1999

99.1 333-87563

10.29* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1997 Non Officer
Long-Term Incentive Equity Plan

S-8 November 10,
1997

99.2 333-39889

10.30* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1996 Long-Term
Incentive Equity Plan

S-8 August 5,
1996

99.1 333-09547

10.31* Alaska Air Group, Inc. Non Employee
Director Stock Plan

S-8 August 15,
1997

99.1 333-33727

10.32* Alaska Airlines, Inc. and Alaska Air Group,
Inc. Supplementary Retirement Plan for
Elected Officers, as amended
November 7, 1994

10-K February 10,
1998

10.2

10.33* Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1995 Elected
Officers Supplementary Retirement Plan,
as amended by First Amendment to the
Alaska Air Group, Inc. 1995 Elected
Officers Supplementary Retirement Plan
and Second Amendment to the Alaska Air
Group, Inc. 1995 Elected Officers
Supplementary Retirement Plan

S-1 September 23,
2003

10.1 333-107177

10.34* 1995 Elected Officers Supplementary
Retirement Plan, as amended

10-Q August 4,
2011

10.2

10.35* Form of Alaska Air Group, Inc. Change of
Control Agreement for named executive
officers, as amended and restated
November 28, 2007

10-K February 20,
2008

10.2

10.36* Alaska Air Group, Inc. Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Plan, as
amended and restated on December 1,
2005

10-K February 20,
2008

10.2

21† Subsidiaries of Registrant

23.1† Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP)

31.1† Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

31.2† Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

32.1† Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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32.2† Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS† XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH† XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document

101.CAL† XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Linkbase Document

101.DEF† XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Document

101.LAB† XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document

101.PRE† XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document

† Filed herewith
* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
# Pursuant to 17 CFR 240.24b-2, confidential information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and

Exchange Commission pursuant to a Confidential Treatment Application filed with the Commission.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Bradley D. Tilden, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Alaska Air Group, Inc. for the period ended
December 31, 2012;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

e) The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors:

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

February 14, 2013 By: /s/ BRADLEY D. TILDEN
Bradley D. Tilden

President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Brandon S. Pedersen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Alaska Air Group, Inc. for the period ended
December 31, 2012;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors:

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

February 14, 2013 By: /s/ BRANDON S. PEDERSEN
Brandon S. Pedersen
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Alaska Air Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), I, Bradley D. Tilden, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

By: /s/ BRADLEY D. TILDEN
Bradley D. Tilden

President and Chief Executive Officer

February 14, 2013



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Alaska Air Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), I, Brandon S. Pedersen, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

By: /s/ BRANDON S. PEDERSEN
Brandon S. Pedersen
Chief Financial Officer

February 14, 2013
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Corporate Profile

Alaska Air Group, Inc. is the
holding company for Alaska Airlines
and Horizon Air, Seattle-based
carriers that collectively serve 95
destinations in the United States,
Canada and Mexico. Alaska Air
Group was organized as a Delaware
corporation in 1985.

Alaska Airlines, Inc., an Alaska
corporation founded in 1932, is
noted for its award-winning
customer service, industry-leading
on-time performance, technological
innovation and environmental
stewardship. Alaska provides
scheduled air service for about
18.5 million passengers annually to
64 destinations. The carrier serves
destinations in Alaska, Arizona,
California, Florida, Idaho, Missouri,
Montana, Nevada, Oregon, Texas,
and Washington, as well as Atlanta,
Boston, Chicago, Denver,
Minneapolis/St. Paul, Newark,
Philadelphia, St. Louis, Washington,
D.C., Salt Lake City, and four major
Hawaiian islands. Alaska also
provides service to British Columbia
and Alberta, Canada, and to eight
destinations in Mexico. Its hubs are
Anchorage, Seattle, Portland and Los
Angeles.

Horizon Air Industries, Inc., a
Washington corporation organized in
1981, is noted for its outstanding
operational performance. Horizon
Air is a regional carrier and performs
all of its flying for Alaska Airlines
under a capacity purchase
arrangement. Horizon serves nearly
seven million passengers annually.
Its hubs are Seattle and Portland.

Investor Information

Corporate Headquarters
19300 International Blvd.
Seattle, Washington 98188
Telephone: (206) 392-5040
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 68947
Seattle, Washington 98168-0947

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company N.A.
P.O. Box 43078
Providence, RI 02940-3078
Telephone: 1-877-282-1168
Internet: http://www.computershare.com/investor

Independent Auditors
KPMG LLP
Seattle, Washington

Annual Meeting
2 p.m., Tuesday, May 21, 2013
Bell Harbor International Conference Center
2211 Alaskan Way, Pier 66, Seattle, Washington

Listing of Securities
New York Stock Exchange
Common Stock (Symbol: ALK)
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